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STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE
DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES
NEW HAMPSHIRE HOSPITAL

36 CLINTON STREET, CONCORD, NH 03301
603-271-5300 1-800-852-3345 Ext. 5300
Fax: 603-271-5395 TDD Access: 1-800-735-2964

Ellen LaPointe www.dhhs.nh.gov
Interim Chiefl
Executive Officer

February 18, 2022

His Excellency, Governor Christopher T. Sununu
and the Honorable Council

State House

Concord, New Hampshire 03301

REQUESTED ACTION

Authorize the Department of Health and Human Services, New Hampshire Hospital, to
enter into a contract with Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital (VC#177160), Lebanon, NH, in the
amount of $442,505 for the provision of Neuropsychology Services at New Hampshire Hospital
(NHH) and the planned New Hampshire Forensic Hospital (NHFH), with the option to renew for
up to six (6) additional years, effective upon Governor and Council approval through June 30,
2023. 36% General Funds. 64% Other Funds (Provider Fees).

This request represents one (1) of three (3) corresponding requests with Mary Hitchcock
Memorial Hospital for the following services: 1) Neuropsychology Services; 2) Psychiatric and
Medical Services; and 3) Clinical and Administrative Services. This request is contingent upon
Governor and Council approval of all three (3) requests.

Funds are available in the following accounts for State Fiscal Years 2022 and 2023, with
the authority to adjust budget line items within the price limitation and encumbrances between
state fiscal years through the Budget Office, if needed and justified.

05-95-94-940010-87500000 HEALTH AND SOCIAL SERVICES, HEALTH AND HUMAN SVCS
DEPT OF, HHS: NEW HAMPSHIRE HOSPITAL, NEW HAMPSHIRE HOSPITAL, ACUTE
PSYCHIATRIC SERVICES

State Class / . ' o
' Fiscal Year  pm——— Class Title Job Number Total Amount
2022 102-500731 Contracté for Prgm Svc | 794058000 $108,192
2023 102-500731 Contracts for Prgm Svc 94058000 $334,313
Total _3‘4‘2,505
EXPLANATION

The Department currently has an agreement with the Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital,
which was competitively bid in 2016, to provide physician, clinical, and administrative services in
seven (7) service areas: New Hampshire Hospital; Glencliff Home; Medicaid; Children, Youth,
and Families; Behavioral Health; Elderly and Adult Services; and Developmental Services. The
existing agreement includes an option to renew services through June 30, 2025. However, House
Bill 2, of the 2021 Regular Legislative Session, appropriated $30 million to the Department for the
purpose of constructing a 24-bed forensic psychiatric hospital.

The Department of Health and Human Services’ Mission is [o join communities and families
in providing opportunities for citizens to achieve health and independence.
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Consequently, the Department needed to reassess the existing contracted services to
incorporate the new clinical needs arising from the planned New Hampshire Forensic Hospital
and released competitive bids for 1) Psychiatric and Medical Services and 2) Neuropsychology
Services. The Sole Source request listed below is to continue the other five (5) service areas that
would have been continued under the existing agreement. The Contractor is uniquely experienced
and qualified to provide the complex array of clinical and administrative services to the
Department in these five (5) service areas, which enable the Department to meet a wide range of
specialized health and clinical needs of New Hampshire residents.

The following table outlines the Department's reprocurement strategy, which includes
three (3) distinct actions. The Department will terminate the current agreement upon approval of
contracts specified in the table. As noted below, the neuropsychology, psychiatric, and medical
services components of the existing contract have been bid out to incorporate the new forensic
psychiatric hospital needs rather than incorporating them into an existing agreement.

Reprocurement Strategy
Description of Procurement DHHS Areas Served
Service Area
Neuropsychology RFP issued November 2021 NHH
Forensic Hospital*
Psychiatric and | RFP issued July 2021 NHH
Medical Services Glencliff
Forensic Hospital*
Clinical and | New Sole Source | Medicaid
Administrative Children, Youth, and Families
Services
Behavioral Health
Elderly and Adult Services
Developmental Services
* The Department anticipates the Forensic Hospital will open in State Fiscal Year 2024.

Approximately 4500 individuals will be served during State Fiscal Years 2022 and 2023.

The purpose of this request is for the Contractor to deliver neuropsychology services to
NHH and the planned NHFH by providing highly qualified personnel to meet staffing needs, and
working with the Department to continue developing and refining an integrated mental heaith care
system by applying principles of managed care for clinical treatment.

The Department will monitor services by reviewing patient neuropsychology progress and
summary reports, and monthly staff reports provided by the Contractor.

The Department selected the Contractor through a competitive bid process using a
Request for Proposals (RFP) that was posted on the Department’s website from November 24,
2021 through December 22, 2021. The Department received one (1) response that was reviewed
and scored by a team of qualified individuals. The Scoring Sheet is attached.

As referenced in Exhibit A, Revisions to Standard Agreement Provisions of the attached
agreement, the parties have the option to extend the agreement for up to six (6) additional years,
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contingent upon satisfactory delivery of services, available funding, agreement of the parties, and
Governor and Council approval.

Should the Governor and Council not authorize this request, the State’s ability to provide
essential neuropsychology services to adults at NHH and the planned NHFH will be severely
limited, putting those individuals at serious risk.

Area served: Statewide
Respectfully submitted,
R o fn

Lori A. Shibinette
Commissioner



New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Division of Finance and Procurement
Bureau of Contracts and Procurement

Scoring Sheet

Project ID# RFP-2022-NHH-02-NEURO

Project Title Neuropsychology Services

Maximum
Points
Available |[Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital
Technical :
Experience (Q1) 30 30
Clinical Practice (Q2) 40 35
Performance Monitoring (Q3) 20 12
Recruiting (Q4) 40 40
Leave Policies (Q5) 30 30
Retention (Q6) 40 35
0
0
0
0
0
0
Subtotal - Technical 200 182
Cost
Program Staff List (Appendix B) 50 33
0
Subtotal - Cost 50 33




TOTAL POINTS| 250

215

Reviewer Name

1 Joseph Caristi

2 Laura 'Beth’ Nagy

3 Ellen Lapointe

4 Cynthia Babonis

Title

Chief Financial Officer

Director of Therapeutic Services

Chief Operating Officer

Director of Social Work
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FORM NUMBER P-37 (version 12/11/2019)

Subject: Neuropsychology Services (RFP-2022-NHH-02-NEURO-01)

Notice: This agreement and all of its attachments shall become public upon submission to Governor and
Executive Council for approval. Any information that is private, confidential or proprietary must
be clearly identified to the agency and agreed to in writing prior to signing the contract.

AGREEMENT
The State of New Hampshire and the Contractor hereby mutually agree as follows:

GENERAL PROVISIONS

1. IDENTIFICATION.
1.1 State Agency Name 1.2 State Agency Address

New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services 129 Pleasant Street
Concord, NH 03301-3857

1.3 Contractor Name 1.4 Contractor Address
Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital One Medical Center Drive
Lebanon, NH 03756
1.5 Contractor Phone 1.6 Account Number 1.7 Completion Date 1.8 Price Limitation
Number
05-95-94-940010- June 30, 2023 $442,505
(603) 650-7549 87500000
1.9 Contracting Officer for State Agency 1.10 State Agency Telephone Number
Nathan D. White, Director (603) 271-9631
1.11 Contractor Signature 1.12 Name and Title of Contractor Signatory

DocuSigned by:

Ehward ). Muuns, M) P*$72/2022 Edward J. Merrens, MD chief Clinical offficer
1.13  State Agency Signature 1.14 Name and Title of State Agency Signatory
DocuSigned by:
AL Datg: R
Joserle T (anih §/2/2022 Joseph T. caristi chief Financial offficer,

1.15 Approval by the N.H. Department of Administration, Division of Personnel (if applicable)

By: Director, On:

1.16 Approval by the Attorney General (Form, Substance and Execution) (if applicable)

DocuSigned by:
By:EM Labhmodova On: 3/2/2022

EDES21C625C34AC.

1.17 Approval by the Governor and Executive Council (if applicable)

G&C Item number: G&C Meeting Date:

DS
Page 1 of 4 | €)M
Contractor Initials

Date 3/2/2022
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2. SERVICES TO BE PERFORMED. The State of New
Hampshire, acting through the agency identified in block 1.1
(“State™), engages contractor identified in block 1.3
(“Contractor”) to perform, and the Contractor shall perform, the
work or sale of goods, or both, identified and more particularly
described in the attached EXHIBIT B which is incorporated
herein by reference (*“Services”).

3. EFFECTIVE DATE/COMPLETION OF SERVICES.
3.1 Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the
contrary, and subject to the approval of the Governor and
Executive Council of the State of New Hampshire, if applicable,
this Agreement, and all obligations of the parties hereunder, shall
become effective on the date the Governor and Executive
Council approve this Agreement as indicated in block 1.17,
unless no such approval is required, in which case the Agreement
shall become effective on the date the Agreement is signed by
the State Agency as shown in block 1.13 (“Effective Date”).

3.2 If the Contractor commences the Services prior to the
Effective Date, all Services performed by the Contractor prior to
the Effective Date shall be performed at the sole risk of the
Contractor, and in the event that this Agreement does not become
effective, the State shall have no liability to the Contractor,
including without limitation, any obligation to pay the
Contractor for any costs incurred or Services performed.
Contractor must complete all Services by the Completion Date
specified in block 1.7.

4. CONDITIONAL NATURE OF AGREEMENT.
Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the
contrary, all obligations of the State hereunder, including,
without limitation, the continuance of payments hereunder, are
contingent upon the availability and continued appropriation of
funds affected by any state or federal legislative or executive
action that reduces, eliminates or otherwise modifies the
appropriation or availability of funding for this Agreement and
the Scope for Services provided in EXHIBIT B, in whole or in
part. In no event shall the State be liable for any payments
hereunder in excess of such available appropriated funds. In the
event of a reduction or termination of appropriated funds, the
State shall have the right to withhold payment until such funds
become available, if ever, and shall have the right to reduce or
terminate the Services under this Agreement immediately upon
giving the Contractor notice of such reduction or termination.
The State shall not be required to transfer funds from any other
account or source to the Account identified in block 1.6 in the
event funds in that Account are reduced or unavailable.

5. CONTRACT PRICE/PRICE LIMITATION/
PAYMENT.

5.1 The contract price, method of payment, and terms of payment
are identified and more particularly described in EXHIBIT C
which is incorporated herein by reference.

5.2 The payment by the State of the contract price shall be the
only and the complete reimbursement to the Contractor for all
expenses, of whatever nature incurred by the Contractor in the
performance hereof, and shall be the only and the complete
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compensation to the Contractor for the Services. The State shall
have no liability to the Contractor other than the contract price.
5.3 The State reserves the right to offset from any amounts
otherwise payable to the Contractor under this Agreement those
liquidated amounts required or permitted by N.H. RSA 80:7
through RSA 80:7-c or any other provision of law.

5.4 Notwithstanding any provision in this Agreement to the
contrary, and notwithstanding unexpected circumstances, in no
event shall the total of all payments authorized, or actually made
hereunder, exceed the Price Limitation set forth in block 1.8.

6. COMPLIANCE BY CONTRACTOR WITH LAWS
AND REGULATIONS/ EQUAL EMPLOYMENT
OPPORTUNITY.

6.1 In connection with the performance of the Services, the
Contractor shall comply with all applicable statutes, laws,
regulations, and orders of federal, state, county or municipal
authorities which impose any obligation or duty upon the
Contractor, including, but not limited to, civil rights and equal
employment opportunity laws. In addition, if this Agreement is
funded in any part by monies of the United States, the Contractor
shall comply with all federal executive orders, rules, regulations
and statutes, and with any rules, regulations and guidelines as the
State or the United States issue to implement these regulations.
The Contractor shall also comply with all applicable intellectual
property laws.

6.2 During the term of this Agreement, the Contractor shall not
discriminate against employees or applicants for employment
because of race, color, religion, creed, age, sex, handicap, sexual
orientation, or national origin and will take affirmative action to
prevent such discrimination.

6.3. The Contractor agrees to permit the State or United States
access to any of the Contractor’s books, records and accounts for
the purpose of ascertaining compliance with all rules, regulations
and orders, and the covenants, terms and conditions of this
Agreement,

7. PERSONNEL.

7.1 The Contractor shall at its own expense provide all personnel
necessary to perform the Services. The Contractor warrants that
all personnel engaged in the Services shall be qualified to
perform the Services, and shall be properly licensed and
otherwise authorized to do so under all applicable laws.

7.2 Unless otherwise authorized in writing, during the term of
this Agreement, and for a period of six (6) months after the
Completion Date in block 1.7, the Contractor shall not hire, and
shall not permit any subcontractor or other person, firm or
corporation with whom it is engaged in a combined effort to
perform the Services to hire, any person who is a State employee
or official, who is materially involved in the procurement,
administration or performance of this Agreement.  This
provision shall survive termination of this Agreement.

7.3 The Contracting Officer specified in block 1.9, or his or her
successor, shall be the State’s representative. In the event of any
dispute concerning the interpretation of this Agreement, the
Contracting Officer’s decision shall be final for the State.

DS
Contractor Initials

Date 3/2/2022
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8. EVENT OF DEFAULT/REMEDIES.

8.1 Any one or more of the following acts or omissions of the
Contractor shall constitute an event of default hereunder (“Event
of Default™):

8.1.1 failure to perform the Services satisfactorily or on
schedule;

8.1.2 failure to submit any report required hereunder; and/or
8.1.3 failure to perform any other covenant, term or condition of
this Agreement.

8.2 Upon the occurrence of any Event of Default, the State may
take any one, or more, or all, of the following actions:

8.2.1 give the Contractor a written notice specifying the Event of
Default and requiring it to be remedied within, in the absence of
a greater or lesser specification of time, thirty (30) days from the
date of the notice; and if the Event of Default is not timely cured,
terminate this Agreement, effective two (2) days after giving the
Contractor notice of termination;

8.2.2 give the Contractor a written notice specifying the Event of
Default and suspending all payments to be made under this
Agreement and ordering that the portion of the contract price
which would otherwise accrue to the Contractor during the
period from the date of such notice until such time as the State
determines that the Contractor has cured the Event of Default
shall never be paid to the Contractor;

8.2.3 give the Contractor a written notice specifying the Event of
Default and set off against any other obligations the State may
owe to the Contractor any damages the State suffers by reason of
any Event of Default; and/or

8.2.4 give the Contractor a written notice specifying the Event of
Default, treat the Agreement as breached, terminate the
Agreement and pursue any of its remedies at law or in equity, or
both.

8.3. No failure by the State to enforce any provisions hereof after
any Event of Default shall be deemed a waiver of its rights with
regard to that Event of Default, or any subsequent Event of
Default. No express failure to enforce any Event of Default shall
be deemed a waiver of the right of the State to enforce each and
all of the provisions hereof upon any further or other Event of
Default on the part of the Contractor.

9. TERMINATION.

9.1 Notwithstanding paragraph 8, the State may, at its sole
discretion, terminate the Agreement for any reason, in whole or
in part, by thirty (30) days written notice to the Contractor that
the State is exercising its option to terminate the Agreement.

9.2 In the event of an early termination of this Agreement for
any reason other than the completion of the Services, the
Contractor shall, at the State’s discretion, deliver to the
Contracting Officer, not later than fifteen (15) days after the date
of termination, a report (“Termination Report”) describing in
detail all Services performed, and the contract price earned, to
and including the date of termination. The form, subject matter,
content, and number of copies of the Termination Report shall
be identical to those of any Final Report described in the attached
EXHIBIT B. In addition, at the State’s discretion, the Contractor
shall, within 15 days of notice of early termination, develop and

submit to the State a Transition Plan for services under the
Agreement.

10. DATA/ACCESS/CONFIDENTIALITY/
PRESERVATION.

10.1 As used in this Agreement, the word “data” shall mean all
information and things developed or obtained during the
performance of, or acquired or developed by reason of, this
Agreement, including, but not limited to, all studies, reports,
files, formulae, surveys, maps, charts, sound recordings, video
recordings, pictorial reproductions, drawings, analyses, graphic
representations, computer programs, computer printouts, notes,
letters, memoranda, papers, and documents, all whether
finished or unfinished.

10.2 All data and any property which has been received from
the State or purchased with funds provided for that purpose
under this Agreement, shall be the property of the State, and
shall be returned to the State upon demand or upon termination
of this Agreement for any reason.

10.3 Confidentiality of data shall be governed by N.H. RSA
chapter 91-A or other existing law. Disclosure of data requires
prior written approval of the State.

11. CONTRACTOR’S RELATION TO THE STATE. In the
performance of this Agreement the Contractor is in all respects
an independent contractor, and is neither an agent nor an
employee of the State. Neither the Contractor nor any of its
officers, employees, agents or members shall have authority to
bind the State or receive any benefits, workers’ compensation or
other emoluments provided by the State to its employees.

12. ASSIGNMENT/DELEGATION/SUBCONTRACTS.
12.1 The Contractor shall not assign, or otherwise transfer any
interest in this Agreement without the prior written notice, which
shall be provided to the State at least fifteen (15) days prior to
the assignment, and a written consent of the State. For purposes
of this paragraph, a Change of Control shall constitute
assignment. “Change of Control” means (a) merger,
consolidation, or a transaction or series of related transactions in
which a third party, together with its affiliates, becomes the
direct or indirect owner of fifty percent (50%) or more of the
voting shares or similar equity interests, or combined voting
power of the Contractor, or (b) the sale of all or substantially all
of the assets of the Contractor.

12.2 None of the Services shall be subcontracted by the
Contractor without prior written notice and consent of the State.
The State is entitled to copies of all subcontracts and assignment
agreements and shall not be bound by any provisions contained
in a subcontract or an assignment agreement to which it is not a

party.

13. INDEMNIFICATION. Unless otherwise exempted by law,
the Contractor shall indemnify and hold harmless the State, its
officers and employees, from and against any and all claims,
liabilities and costs for any personal injury or property damages,
patent or copyright infringement, or other claims asserted against
the State, its officers or employees, which arise out of (or which

may be claimed to arise out of) the acts or omisgierpof the
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Contractor, or subcontractors, including but not limited to the
negligence, reckless or intentional conduct. The State shall not
be liable for any costs incurred by the Contractor arising under
this paragraph 13. Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing herein
contained shall be deemed to constitute a waiver of the sovereign
immunity of the State, which immunity is hereby reserved to the
State. This covenant in paragraph 13 shall survive the
termination of this Agreement.

14. INSURANCE.

14.1 The Contractor shall, at its sole expense, obtain and
continuously maintain in force, and shall require any
subcontractor or assignee to obtain and maintain in force, the
following insurance:

14.1.1 commercial general liability insurance against all claims
of bodily injury, death or property damage, in amounts of not
less than $1,000,000 per occurrence and $2.000,000 aggregate
or excess; and

14.1.2 special cause of loss coverage form covering all property
subject to subparagraph 10.2 herein, in an amount not less than
80% of the whole replacement value of the property.

14.2 The policies described in subparagraph 14.1 herein shall be
on policy forms and endorsements approved for use in the State
of New Hampshire by the N.H. Department of Insurance, and
issued by insurers licensed in the State of New Hampshire.

14.3 The Contractor shall furnish to the Contracting Officer
identified in block 1.9, or his or her successor, a certificate(s) of
insurance for all insurance required under this Agreement.
Contractor shall also furnish to the Contracting Officer identified
in block 1.9, or his or her successor, certificate(s) of insurance
for all renewal(s) of insurance required under this Agreement no
later than ten (10) days prior to the expiration date of each
insurance policy. The certificate(s) of insurance and any
renewals thereof shall be attached and are incorporated herein by
reference.

15. WORKERS’ COMPENSATION.

15.1 By signing this agreement, the Contractor agrees, certifies
and warrants that the Contractor is in compliance with or exempt
from, the requirements of N.H. RSA chapter 281-A (“Workers’
Compensation”).

15.2 To the extent the Contractor is subject to the requirements
of N.H. RSA chapter 281-A, Contractor shall maintain, and
require any subcontractor or assignee to secure and maintain,
payment of Workers” Compensation in connection with
activities which the person proposes to undertake pursuant to this
Agreement. The Contractor shall furnish the Contracting Officer
identified in block 1.9, or his or her successor, proof of Workers’
Compensation in the manner described in N.H. RSA chapter
281-A and any applicable renewal(s) thereof, which shall be
attached and are incorporated herein by reference. The State
shall not be responsible for payment of any Workers’
Compensation premiums or for any other claim or benefit for
Contractor, or any subcontractor or employee of Contractor,

16. NOTICE. Any notice by a party hereto to the other party
shall be deemed to have been duly delivered or given at the time
of mailing by certified mail, postage prepaid, in a United States
Post Office addressed to the parties at the addresses given in
blocks 1.2 and 1.4, herein.

17. AMENDMENT. This Agreement may be amended, waived
or discharged only by an instrument in writing signed by the
parties hereto and only after approval of such amendment,
waiver or discharge by the Governor and Executive Council of
the State of New Hampshire unless no such approval is required
under the circumstances pursuant to State law, rule or policy.

18. CHOICE OF LAW AND FORUM. This Agreement shall
be governed, interpreted and construed in accordance with the
laws of the State of New Hampshire, and is binding upon and
inures to the benefit of the parties and their respective successors
and assigns. The wording used in this Agreement is the wording
chosen by the parties to express their mutual intent, and no rule
of construction shall be applied against or in favor of any party.
Any actions arising out of this Agreement shall be brought and
maintained in New Hampshire Superior Court which shall have
exclusive jurisdiction thereof.

19. CONFLICTING TERMS. In the event of a conflict
between the terms of this P-37 form (as modified in EXHIBIT
A) and/or attachments and amendment thereof, the terms of the
P-37 (as modified in EXHIBIT A) shall control.

20. THIRD PARTIES. The parties hereto do not intend to
benefit any third parties and this Agreement shall not be
construed to confer any such benefit.

21. HEADINGS. The headings throughout the Agreement are
for reference purposes only, and the words contained therein
shall in no way be held to explain, modify, amplify or aid in the
interpretation, construction or meaning of the provisions of this
Agreement.

22. SPECIAL PROVISIONS. Additional or modifying
provisions set forth in the attached EXHIBIT A are incorporated
herein by reference.

23. SEVERABILITY. In the event any of the provisions of this
Agreement are held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be
contrary to any state or federal law, the remaining provisions of
this Agreement will remain in full force and effect.

24. ENTIRE AGREEMENT. This Agreement, which may be
executed in a number of counterparts, each of which shall be
deemed an original, constitutes the entire agreement and
understanding between the parties, and supersedes all prior
agreements and understandings with respect to the subject matter

which might arise under applicable State of New Hampshire hereof.
Workers” Compensation laws in connection with the
performance of the Services under this Agreement.
Ds
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Neuropsychology Services

EXHIBIT A

1.

RFP-

A-1.0

Revisions to Standard Agreement Provisions

Revisions to Form P-37, General Provisions

1.1. Paragraph 3, Effective Date/Completion of Services, is amended by adding
subparagraph 3.3 as follows:

3.3. The parties may extend the Agreement for up to six (6) additional years
from the Completion Date, contingent upon satisfactory delivery of
services, available funding, agreement of the parties, and approval of the
Governor and Executive Council.

1.2. Paragraph 7, Personnel, is amended by modifying subparagraphs 7.1 and 7.2

to read:

7 o O The Contractor shall at its own expense provide all personnel
necessary to perform the Services. The Contractor certifies that all
personnel engaged in the Services shall be qualified to perform the
Services, and shall be properly licensed and otherwise authorized to
do so under all applicable laws.

F e 8 Unless otherwise authorized in writing, during the term of this

Agreement, and for a period of six (6) months after the Completion
Date in block 1.7, the Contractor’'s personnel involved in this project,
shall not hire, andshall not permit any subcontractor or other person,
firm or corporation with whom it is engaged in a combined effort to
perform the Services to hire, any person who is a State employeeor
official, who is materially involved in the procurement, administration
or performance of this Agreement. This provision shall survive
termination of this Agreement.

1.3. Paragraph 9, Termination, is amended by modifying subparagraph 9.2 to read:

9.2 In the event of an early termination of this Agreement for any reason
other than the completion of the Services, the Contractor shall, at the
State’s discretion, deliver to the Contracting Officer, not later than thirty
(30) days after the dateof termination, a report (“Termination Report”)
describing in detail all Services performed, and the contract price
earned, to and including the date of termination. The form, subject
matter, content, and number of copies of the Termination Report shall
be identical to those of any Final Report described in the attached
Exhibit B. In addition, at the State’s discretion, the Contractor shall,
within thirty (30) days of notice of early termination, develop and
submit to the State a Transition Plan for services under the
Agreement.

1.4. Paragraph 12, Assignment/Delegation/Subcontracts, is amended by adding
subparagraph 12.3 as follows:

:Ds
2022-NHH-02-NEURO-01 Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital Contractor Initials

2/2022
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Neuropsychology Services
EXHIBIT A

12.3. Subcontractors are subject to the same contractual conditions as the
Contractor and the Contractor is responsible to ensure subcontractor
compliance with those conditions. The Contractor shall have written
agreements with all subcontractors, specifying the work to be performed
and how corrective action shall be managed if the subcontractor's
performance is inadequate. The Contractor shall manage the
subcontractor’'s performance on an ongoing basis and take corrective
action as necessary. The Contractor shall annually provide the State with
a list of all subcontractors provided for under this Agreement and notify
the State of any inadequate subcontractor performance.

1.5. Paragraph 14, Insurance, is amended by modifying subsection 14.1.2. to delete
the text in its entirety and replace it to read:

14.1.2. Professional liability insurance in the amount of $1,000,000 per
occurrence and $3,000,000 per annual aggregate.

1.6. Paragraph 14, Insurance, is amended by modifying subparagraph 14.2 to read:

14.2.  The policies described in subparagraph 14.1 herein shall beon policy
forms and endorsements approved for use in the State of New
Hampshire by the N.H. Department of Insurance, and issued by
insurers licensed in the State of New Hampshire or registered to
conduct business in the State of New Hampshire.

1.7. Paragraph 17, Amendment, is amended by adding subparagraph 17.1, to read:

17.1 In the event the State wishes to change the location(s) in which the
services are performed by the Contractor hereunder, in whole or in
part, the State shall provide Contractor with reasonable advance
written notice of the same. Thereafter, the parties shall meet in good
faith in order to mutually agree upon possible adjustments to the
terms and conditions, if required, which shall be documented in the
form of an amendment to this Agreement in accordance with
paragraph 17.

:os
RFP-2022-NHH-02-NEURO-01 Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital Contractor Initials
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Neuropsychology Services

EXHIBIT B

Scope of Services

1. Statement of Work

1.1

1.2

1.3

1.4.
1.8.

1.6

The Contractor shall provide neuropsychology services at New Hampshire
Hospital (NHH) and the planned New Hampshire Forensic Hospital (NHFH).

For the purposes of this agreement, all references to days shall mean calendar
days.

For the purposes of this agreement, all references to business hours shall
mean Monday through Friday from 8 AM to 4 PM, excluding state and federal
holidays.

No services in this agreement can be subcontracted by the Contractor.

The Department supports training and educational programs for unlicensed
staff and/or educational trainees, but does not intend to incur any expenses as
the result of unlicensed staff and/or educational trainees learning in State
facilities. The Contractor shall provide all supervision of unlicensed
staff/educational trainees, including coverage during the primary supervisor’s
leave time.

Neuropsychology Services

1.6.1. The Contractor shall provide 1.5 full-time equivalent (FTE)
neuropsychologists who are physically present at NHH Monday
through Friday during normal business hours, unless otherwise
approved by the Department. The Contractor shall ensure each
neuropsychologist:

1.6.1.1. Has attained a Doctor of Philosophy (PhD) degree in
Psychology or a Doctor of Psychology (PsyD) degree;

1.6.1.2. Has a minimum of two (2) years of post-fellowship experience
in:

1.6.1.2.1. Neurocognitive screening;

1.6.1.2.2. Comprehensive neuropsychological assessment
protocols; and

1.6.1.2.3. Comprehensive  neuropsychological report
writing; and

1.6.1.3. Has experience in the integration of cognitive test results with
data from structural and functional brain imaging; and

1.6.1.4. Has, at all times, an active Psychologist license issued by the
NH Board of Psychologists.

1.6.2. Atthe request of the Contractor, the Department’s Chief Executive
Officer of the Inpatient Mental Health System may, at their di fon,
£
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1.6.3.

1.6.4.

1.6.5.

1.6.6.

1.6.7.

1.6.8.

waive the requirement regarding two (2) years of post-fellowship
experience, referenced in Subparagraph 1.6.1.2. above.

The Contractor shall ensure the neuropsychologists meet with various
inpatient psychiatric and/or forensic patients, primarily adults, to
conduct neuropsychological assessments and testing.

The Contractor shall ensure neuropsychologists analyze results of
neuropsychology assessments and complete neuropsychology
reports in the format requested by the Department within six (6)
business days of completing patient testing, which includes but is not
limited to:

1.6.4.1. Reviewing all past psychiatric,c medical records,
neuropsychological testing and behavioral incidents; and

1.6.4.2. Providing recommendations for treatment.

The Contractor shall ensure neuropsychologists participate in a team-
based care model, which includes but is not limited to:

1.6.5.1. Actively contributing to patient treatment plans and
discussions.

1.6.5.2. Developing and maintaining positive relationships with
Department staff, patients, families, advocates, community
providers and other interest groups vital to the functioning of
the Department's system of care, including for the purpose of
transition planning by adhering to the Department’s policies
and standards.

The Contractor shall ensure neuropsychologists have the capacity to
act as internal consultants to other providers, as identified by the
Department, relative to neuropsychology and its potential applications
and uses in the context patient populations.

The Contractor shall ensure neuropsychologists have the ability to
appear and testify in all court and administrative hearings, as required
by the Department.

The Contractor shall deliver neuropsychology services to NHH and the
planned NHFH by:

1.6.8.1. Providing highly qualified personnel; and

1.6.8.2. Working with the New Hampshire Department of Health and
Human Services (“Department”) to continue developing and
refining an integrated mental health care system by applying
principles of managed care for clinical treatment.
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1.6.9.

1.6.10.

18.711.

18.72.

1.6.13.

1.6.14.

The Contractor shall recruit and retain qualified individuals
(“Contractor Personnel”) to fulfill the requirements described herein
within six (6) months of the contract effective date. The Contractor
shall ensure:

1.6.9.1. All Contractor Personnel are employees of the Contractor.

1.6.9.2. No Contractor Personnel are considered employees of the
State of New Hampshire.

The Contractor agrees that one (1) FTE is equal to one (1) full-time
employee who works forty (40) hours per week.

The Contractor shall ensure all Contractor Personnel meet and adhere

to:

1.6.11.1. The codes of ethical conduct applicable to their license
category;

1.6.11.2. Behavioral policies of the Department;

1.6.11.3. Department Information security and privacy policies and
use agreements, which have been provided to the
Contractor; and

1.6.11.4. All other human resource-related expectations of the
Department, NHH, and NHFH, as well as New Hampshire
Department of Information Technology (DolT) security
policies.

The Contractor shall ensure all staffing positions provided are
continuously filled or in active recruitment. The Contractor shall:

1.6.12.1. Provide the appropriate Department designee with monthly
updates on the recruitment process for all unfilled positions.

The Contractor shall be solely responsible for providing, at no
additional cost to the Department, qualified, credentialed, sufficient
staff coverage to fill any gap in coverage during any anticipated leave
time, including sick leave, vacation, or continuing medical education
leave lasting more than three (3) consecutive days unless otherwise
agreed upon on a case-by-case basis by the NHH CEO, and for
providing appropriate transition between staff covering for those on
leave. Qualified sufficient staff coverage means personnel who meet
or exceed the qualifications of the vacating staff member who have
current credentials to work at NHH.

The Contractor shall track and report staffing levels by FTE units on a
monthly basis to the Department. The Contractor shall not be required
to provide hourly timecards for clinical staff.

DS
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1.6.15. The Contractor shall ensure the care needs of patients are fully

addressed by modifying the number of hours per week worked by FTE
and/or Part-Time FTE staff, as requested by the Department. The
Contractor shall ensure Part-Time FTE staff work the appropriate
number of hours in accordance with FTE allocation.

Additional Requirements

1.7.1.

1.1 &

Yl o

1.7.4.

In the event of a healthcare system emergency, including but not
limited to a local epidemic, pandemic, facility closures, or mass-
quarantine in which additional staffing or resources are required due
to a surge of individuals requiring services, the Contractor may also be
required to adjust the total number of staff, both full-time and part-time,
to fully address the care needs of patients.

All personnel provided by the Contractor shall be subject to approval
by the Department. The Department will inform the Contractor of any
applicable Department designee for this purpose per position.

The Department, at its sole discretion, may rescind, either permanently
or temporarily, its approval of any Contractor Personnel providing any
services for any of the following reasons:

1.7.3.1. Suspension, revocation or other loss of a required license,
certification or other contractual requirement to perform such
services under the contract;

1.7.3.2. Provision of unsatisfactory service based on malfeasance,
misfeasance, insubordination or failure to satisfactorily
provide required services,

1.7.3.3. Arrest or conviction of any felony, misdemeanor, or drug or
alcohol related offense;

1.7.3.4. Abolition of the role due to a change in organizational
structure, lack of sufficient funds or like reasons; or

1.7.3.5. Any other reason that includes, but is not limited to:
misconduct; violation of Department policy; violation of state
or federal laws and regulations pertaining to the applicable
Department service area; or a determination made by the
Department that the individual presents a risk to the health
and safety of any staff member or any individual served by the
Department.

In the event of such rescission, the Department will, to the extent
possible, provide the Contractor with reasonable advanced notice and
the applicable reason. The Contractor shall ensure the applicable staff
member(s) are prohibited from providing services for the period of {ime
that the Department exercises this right. No additional paym nésjm
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be paid by the State of New Hampshire for any staff removed from
duty by the Department for any reason. The Contractor:

1.7.4.1. Shall, unless the Contractor Personnel was removed from
providing services under Section 1.7.3.4., provide
replacement personnel who meet all of the applicable
requirements under the contract, including but not limited to
being subject to Department approval;

1.7.4.2. Shall furnish within ten (10) business days replacement staff
who meet all of the requirements for the applicable position
under the resulting contract(s) if the duration of a temporarily
rescinded approval is greater than seven (7) calendar days.
The Contractor shall be informed by the Department the
anticipated duration for which approval will remain rescinded.
The Contractor shall be responsible for providing, at no
additional cost to the Department, transition services to the
Department to avoid service interruption;

1.7.4.3. May initiate, at the sole discretion of the Contractor, any
internal personnel actions against its own employees. Nothing
herein prohibits the Contractor from seeking information from
the Department regarding the Department’s decision, unless
such information is otherwise restricted from disclosure by the
Department based on internal Department policies or rules,
State of New Hampshire personnel policies, rules, collective
bargaining agreements, or other state or federal laws.

1.7.5. The Contractor shall ensure that, prior to providing the applicable
services for the applicable Department service area or facility, all
required licenses, certifications, privileges, or other specified minimum
qualifications are met for all staff, and where applicable, are
maintained throughout the provision of services for the full term of the
contract. The Contractor shall provide the applicable Department
designee with a copy of all such documents. The Contractor shall not
hold the Department financially liable for any fees or costs for any
licenses, certifications or renewal of same, nor for any fees or costs
incurred for providing copies of said licenses or certifications.

1.7.6. In addition to any approvals required by the Contractor for employees,
the Contractor shall ensure staff provide timely, prior notification to the
applicable Department designee for any anticipated leave time, unless
otherwise stated herein for a specific position or service area. The
Contractor shall ensure that all staff provided have a standard amount
of vacation and sick time, subject to the normal and customary
employee benefits and policies of the Contractor. However, the

Contractor shall ensure staff abide by the State holiday sched(ile:.”
€M
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1.7.7. The Contractor shall ensure annual performance reviews are
completed for all Contractor Personnel. The Contractor shall
incorporate feedback from the applicable Department designee for
such reviews. The Contractor shall ensure that goal development and
performance monitoring is responsive to the evolving needs of the
Department over the course of the contract period.

1.7.8. The Contractor shall be responsible for managing all employee
relations and performance management issues for the staff provided,
in accordance with the Contractor's policies and applicable NHH,
NHFH, and/or State of New Hampshire policies.

1.7.9. Prior to commencing work, the Contractor shall ensure all personnel
provided undergo the following criminal background, registry,
screening and medical examinations:

1.7.9.1. Criminal Background (including New Hampshire criminal
background);

1.7.9.2. Bureau of Elderly and Adult Services State Registry;

1.7.9.3. Division for Children, Youth and Families Central Registry;
and

1.7.9.4. Physical capacity examination.

1.7.10. The Contractor shall ensure Contractor Personnel assigned to perform
services under the Agreement comply with all Department
requirements, policies, and procedures relative to infection prevention,
mitigation, and control to mitigate the risks of disease transmission
prior to the commencement of services.

1.7.11. The Contractor shall ensure that the criminal background, registry,
screening and medical examinations above are kept current as
required and in accordance with the Department's confidentiality
policy; the Department receives copies of all required documentation
prior to the commencement of services; and the Department is not be
responsible for any costs incurred in obtaining the documentation.

1.7.12. The Contractor shall not utilize any personnel, including
Subcontractors, to fulfill the obligations of the contract, who have been
convicted of any crime of dishonesty, including but not limited to
criminal fraud, or otherwise convicted of any felony or misdemeanor
offense for which incarceration for up to one (1) year is an authorized
penalty. The Contractor shall initiate a criminal background check re-
investigation of all personnel provided every five (5) years. The
Contractor shall ensure the five (5) year period is based on the date of
the last criminal background check conducted by the Contractor or

their agents. a8
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1.8.

1.9.

State-Owned Devices, Systems and Network Usage

1.8.1. Contractor personnel must use a state-issued device, including, not
limited to computers, tablets, or mobile telephones, in fulfilling the
requirements of the contract. The Contractor shall ensure all
Contractor Personnel:

1.8.1.1. Use the information that they have permission to access
solely for the provision of services hereunder, or conducting
official State business. All other use or access is strictly
forbidden including, but not limited, to personal or other
private and non-State use, and that at no time shall, except as
necessary to provide services hereunder, Contractor
workforce or agents access or attempt to access information
without having the express authority of the Department to do
SO;

1.8.1.2. Not access or attempt to access information in a manner
inconsistent with the approved policies, procedures, and/or
agreement relating to system entry/access;

1.8.1.3. Not copy, share, distribute, sub-license, modify, reverse
engineer, rent, or sell software licensed, developed, or being
evaluated by the State. At all times the Contractor must use
utmost care to protect and keep such software strictly
confidential in accordance with the license or any other
agreement executed by the State. Only equipment or
software owned, licensed, or being evaluated by the State of
New Hampshire can be used by the Contractor. Non-
standard software shall not be installed on any equipment
unless authorized by the Department's Information Security
Office;

1.8.1.4. Agree that email and other electronic communication
messages created, sent, and received on a State-issued
email system are the property of the State of New Hampshire
and to be used for business purposes only. Email is defined
as “internal email systems” or “State-funded email systems.”
The Contractor understands and agrees that use of email
shall follow Department and State of New Hampshire
standard policies; and

1.8.1.5. Use the internet and/or Intranet for access to and distribution
of information in direct support of the business of the State of
New Hampshire according to policy of the Department. At no
time should the internet be used for personal use.

Key Performance Indicators be
[ AL
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1.9.1. The Contractor shall ensure neuropsychologists comply with the
following Key Performance Indicators:

1.9.1.1. Neuropsychology Reports

1.9.1.1.1. Completed, as noted in an Individual Progress
Note in the patient's medical record, and hard
copy of the report submitted for filing with the
Medical Records Technician, within six (6)
business days of completing patient testing.

1.9.1.1.2. Contents within assessment summary reports are
compliant with all Centers for Medicare and
Medicaid Services (CMS) and Department
documentation requirements.

1.9.1.2. Standardized Process

1.9.1.2.1. Compliance with all existing and future
standardized work processes with the goal of
reducing variation in care.

1.9.1.3. Annual Reviews

1.9.1.3.1. Annual reviews are documented on all staff
provided by the Contractor. The Contractor shall
ensure performance evaluations are in
compliance with professional standards for
evaluations per CMS and The Joint Commission
guidelines.

1.9.1.4. NHH and NHFH Policies

1.9.1.4.1. Adherence to NHH and NHFH policies including,
but not limited to policies on Medical Records
Documentation and Progress Notes.

2. Exhibits Incorporated

2.1. The Contractor shall use and disclose Protected Health Information in
compliance with the Standards for Privacy of Individually Identifiable Health
Information (Privacy Rule) (45 CFR Parts 160 and 164) under the Health
Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA) of 1996, and in
accordance with the attached Exhibit |, Business Associate Agreement, which
has been executed by the parties.

2.2. The Contractor shall manage all confidential data related to this Agreement in
accordance with the terms of Exhibit K, DHHS Information Security
Requirements.

2.3. The Contractor shall comply with all Exhibits D through K, which are shed
€M

RFP-2022-NHH-02-NEURO-01 Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital Contractor Initials

3/2/2022
B-1.0 Page 8 of 11 Date



DocuSign Envelope ID: 28FBD250-AC09-42CA-9C7D-9B5907B5A5A9

New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Neuropsychology Services

EXHIBIT B

hereto and incorporated by reference herein.

3. Reporting Requirements

3.1.

The Contractor shall provide monthly staff reports to the Department to
sufficiently document actual staffing levels and services rendered. Monthly staff
reports shall include the following:

3.1.1.  Monthly staffing schedule;
3.1.2. Actual FTE worked within the monthly reporting period; and

3.1.3. Actual FTE allocated to sick time, leave time, or any other non-clinical
time within the monthly reporting period.

4. Performance Measures

41.

4.2.

4.3.

4.4.

The Department will monitor Contractor performance by reviewing the
Contractor's compliance with the key performance indicators described above,
and the monthly staff reports provided by the Contractor.

The Contractor shall actively and regularly collaborate with the Department to
enhance contract management, improve results, and adjust program delivery
and policy based on successful outcomes.

The Contractor may be required to provide other key data and metrics to the
Department, including client-level demographic, performance, and service
data.

Where applicable, the Contractor shall collect and share data with the
Department in a format specified by the Department.

5. Additional Terms

51.

Impacts Resulting from Court Orders or Legislative Changes

5.1.1. The Contractor agrees that, to the extent future state or federal
legislation or court orders may have an impact on the Services
described herein, the State of New Hampshire has the right to modify
Service priorities and expenditure requirements under this Agreement
so as to achieve compliance therewith. In the event that any future
state or federal legislation or court order impacts the Services
described herein, the Department shall provide the Contractor with
reasonable advanced notice of any necessary modification to Service
priorities and expenditure requirements. The parties agree to
cooperate in the implementation and planning of any such
modification and the Department shall consider Contractor’s
reasonable requests with respect to such modifications.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Department shall retain the final
right to modify Service priorities and expenditure requirements under
this Agreement so as to achieve compliance with any future or

€M
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5.3.

federal legislation or court orders that have an impact on the Services
described herein.

5.2. Credits and Copyright Ownership

Dy 1.

2.2.2.

5.2.3.

5.2.4.

5.3.1.

5.3.2.

9.3.3.

All documents, notices, press releases, research reports and other
materials related to and resulting from the performance of the
services of the Agreement shall include the following statement, “The
preparation of this (report, document etc.) was financed under an
Contract with the State of New Hampshire, Department of Health and
Human Services, with funds provided in part by the State of New
Hampshire and/or such other funding sources as were available or
required, e.g., the United States Department of Health and Human
Services.”

All materials purchased under the Agreement shall have prior
approval from the Department before printing, production, distribution
or use.

The Department shall retain copyright ownership for any and all
original materials produced, including, but not limited to:

5.2.3.1. Brochures.

R Resource directories.
5.2.3.3. Protocols or guidelines.
5.2.3.4. Posters.

5.2.3.5, Reports.

The Contractor shall not reproduce any materials produced under the
Agreement without prior written approval from the Department.

Eligibility Determinations

If the Contractor is permitted and required by the Department to
determine the eligibility of individuals such eligibility determination
shall be made in accordance with applicable federal and state laws,
regulations, orders, guidelines, policies and procedures.

Eligibility determinations shall be made on forms provided by the
Department for that purpose and shall be made and remade at such
times as are prescribed by the Department.

In addition to the determination forms required by the Department, the
Contractor shall maintain a data file on each recipient of services
hereunder, which file shall include all information necessary to
support an eligibility determination and such other information as the
Department reasonably requests in writing. The Contractor shall

furnish the Department with all forms and documentation r gai’t'fi’ic'}tL
€)
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eligibility determinations that the Department may request or require.

5.3.4. The Contractor understands that all applicants for services
hereunder, as well as individuals declared ineligible have a right to a
fair hearing regarding that determination. The Contractor hereby
covenants and agrees that all applicants for services shall be
permitted to fill out an application form and that each applicant or re-
applicant shall be informed of his/her right to a fair hearing in
accordance with Department regulations.

6. Records
6.1. The Contractor shall keep records that include, but are not limited to:

6.1.1. Books, records, documents and other electronic or physical data
evidencing and reflecting all costs and other expenses incurred by the
Contractor in the performance of the Agreement, and all income
received or collected by the Contractor.

6.1.2. All records must be maintained in accordance with accounting
procedures and practices, which sufficiently and properly reflect all such
costs and expenses, and which are acceptable to the Department, and
to include, without limitation, all ledgers, books, records, and original
evidence of costs such as purchase requisitions and orders, vouchers,
requisitions for materials, inventories, valuations of in-kind contributions,
labor time cards, payrolls, and other records requested or required by
the Department.

7. Continuity of Services and Liquidated Damages

7.1. Liquidated damages are specified in, and may be assessed in accordance with,
Exhibit C, Payment Terms, Section 14.
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Payment Terms

This Agreement is funded by:

Tt
1.2

36% General funds.
64% Other funds (Provider Fees).

For the purposes of this Agreement:

.

2.8

The Department has identified the Contractor as a Contractor, in
accordance with 2 CFR 200.331.

The Department has identified this Agreement as NON-R&D, in
accordance with 2 CFR §200.332.

The Contractor shall provide services under this Agreement based on the
Budget below per applicable Service Area and State Fiscal Year. The
Contractor shall be compensated to provide and deliver the services described
in Exhibit B, Scope of Services, on the basis of this Budget.

Budget
Agreement Period by State Fiscal Year
3/1/2022-6/30/2022 7/1/2022-6/30/2023
$108,192 $334,313

3.1

3.2.

3.3.

The Contractor shall provide the Department a detailed personnel listing
for all staff performing services on an annual basis for each State Fiscal
Year, or more frequently as required by the Department, to ensure the
accuracy of information contained therein and proper cost allocation.
The Contractor shall ensure the listings:

3.1.1. Include information that includes, but is not limited to:
3.1.1.1. Staff names.
3.1.1.2. Staff titles.

3.1.1.3. Personnel costs inclusive of salary costs, fringe
benefit costs, and indirect rates.

3.1.2. Arein aformat as determined and approved by the Department.

The Contractor shall automatically reduce invoices by the appropriate
amount immediately upon a position becoming vacant and not being
backfilled with a locum.

The Contractor shall ensure all providers and/or clinical staff are fully
credentialed and enrolled with insurance carriers prior to beginning

work. Ds
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4. The Contractor shall submit an invoice in a form satisfactory to the Department
by the twentieth (20th) working day of the following month, which identifies and
requests reimbursement for authorized expenses incurred in the prior month,
with the exception of June invoices, which shall be submitted by the tenth (10™")
of the following month. The Contractor shall ensure the invoice is completed,
dated and returned to the Department in order to initiate payment.

5. Inlieu of hard copies, all invoices may be assigned an electronic signature and
emailed to NHHFinancialServices@dhhs.nh.gov, or invoices may be mailed to:

Financial Manager

Department of Health and Human Services
New Hampshire Hospital

71 South Fruit Street

Concord, NH 03301

6. The Department shall make payment to the Contractor within thirty (30) days
of receipt of each invoice, subsequent to approval of the submitted invoice and
if sufficient funds are available, subject to Paragraph 4 of the General
Provisions Form Number P-37 of this Agreement.

7. The Contractor shall designate a contact person to resolve any questions or
discrepancies regarding invoices. The Contractor shall:

7.1.  Provide the Department with the name, title, telephone number, fax
number and email address of the contact person.

7.2. Notify the Department in the event the designated contact person
changes.

8. The final invoice shall be due to the Department no later than forty (40) days
after the contract completion date specified in Form P-37, General Provisions
Block 1.7 Completion Date.

9. The Contractor must provide the services in Exhibit B, Scope of Services, in
compliance with funding requirements.

10. The Contractor agrees that funding under this Agreement may be withheld, in
whole or in part in the event of non-compliance with the terms and conditions
of Exhibit B, Scope of Services.

11. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, the Contractor agrees that
funding under this agreement may be withheld, in whole or in part, in the event
of non-compliance with any Federal or State law, rule or regulation applicable
to the services provided, or if the said services or products have not been
satisfactorily completed in accordance with the terms and conditions of this
agreement.

Ds
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12.

13.

14.

Notwithstanding Paragraph 17 of the General Provisions Form P-37, changes
limited to adjusting amounts within the price limitation and adjusting
encumbrances between State Fiscal Years and budget class lines through the
Budget Office may be made by written agreement of both parties, without
obtaining approval of the Governor and Executive Council, if needed and
justified.

Audits

13.1. The Contractor must email an annual audit to
melissa.s.morin@dhhs.nh.gov if any of the following conditions exist:

13.1.1. Condition A - The Contractor expended $750,000 or more in
federal funds received as a subrecipient pursuant to 2 CFR Part
200, during the most recently completed fiscal year.

13.1.2. Condition B - The Contractor is subject to audit pursuant to the
requirements of NH RSA 7:28, lll-b, pertaining to charitable
organizations receiving support of $1,000,000 or more.

13.1.3. Condition C - The Contractor is a public company and required
by Security and Exchange Commission (SEC) regulations to
submit an annual financial audit.

13.2. If Condition A exists, the Contractor shall submit an annual single audit
performed by an independent Certified Public Accountant (CPA) to the
Department within 30 days after the completion of the single audit or
upon submission of the Contractor’s single audit to the Federal Audit
Clearinghouse conducted in accordance with the requirements of 2 CFR
Part 200, Subpart F of the Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost
Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal awards.

13.3. If Condition B or Condition C exists, the Contractor shall submit an
annual financial audit performed by an independent CPA within 120
days after the close of the Contractor’s fiscal year.

13.4. In addition to, and not in any way in limitation of obligations of the
Contract, it is understood and agreed by the Contractor that the
Contractor shall be held liable for any state or federal audit exceptions
and shall return to the Department all payments made under the
Contract to which exception has been taken, or which have been
disallowed because of such an exception.

Liquidated Damages:
14.1. Continuity of Services:

14.1.1. The Contractor and Department agree that the Contractor's
failure to provide required staffing, required services, or meet

the performance standards and reporting requirements, as
€)M
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14.1.2.

described in Exhibit B, Scope of Services, shall result in
liquidated damages.

The Contractor and the Department agree that:

14.1.2.1. It will be extremely impracticable and difficult to
determine actual damages that the Department will
sustain in the event that the Contractor breaches this
Agreement by failing to maintain the required staffing
levels or by failing to deliver the required services, as
described in Exhibit B, Scope of Services;

14.1.2.2. Any such breach by the Contractor will delay and
disrupt the Department’'s operations and impact its
ability to meet its obligations and lead to significant
damages of an uncertain amount as well as a
reduction of services; and

14.1.2.3. The liquidated damages as specified in this Exhibit C,
Payment Terms, are reasonable and fair and not
intended as a penalty.

14.2. Notification:

14.2.1.

14.2.2.

The Department shall make all assessments of liquidated
damages. Prior to the imposition of liquidated damages, as
described herein, the Department shall issue a written notice of
remedies that will include, as applicable, the following:

14.2.1.1. A citation of the contract provision violated;

14.2.1.2. The remedies to be applied, and the date the
remedies shall be imposed (cure period). A
reasonable cure period will be determined by the
Department based on service type, and to the extent
possible, the notice will not be less than 30 days;

14.2.1.3. The basis for the Department’s determination that the
remedies shall be imposed;

14.2.1.4. A request for a written Corrective Action Plan from
the Contractor below; and

14.2.1.5. The timeframe and procedure for the Contractor to
dispute the Department’s determination.

The Contractor shall submit the written Corrective Action Plan
referenced in Subparagraph 14.2.1.4 above to the Department
for review within five (5) business days of receiving notification
as specified in Subsection 14.2. Notification.

e
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14.2.3. The Contractor agrees that the Corrective Action Plan is subject
to the Department’s approval prior to its implementation.

14.2.4. No liquidated damages will be assessed against Contractor if
the parties have agreed to a Corrective Action Plan and the
Contractor is in compliance with the terms of the Corrective
Action Plan.

14.2.5. If the failure to perform by the Contractor is not resolved within
the cure period as specified in the Corrective Action Plan, as
approved by the Department, liquidated damages may be
imposed retroactively to the date of failure to perform and will
continue until the failure is cured or any resulting dispute is
resolved in the Contractor’s favor.

14.2.6. The Contractor's dispute of liquidated damages or remedies
shall not stay the effective date of the proposed liquidated
damages or remedies.

14.3. Liquidated Damages:

14.3.1. Liquidated damages, if assessed, shall be in the amount of
$1,000 per day for each day the Contractor fails to meet the
general and specific service requirements for each Service
Area as identified in Exhibit B, Scope of Services.

14.3.2. Liquidated damages, if assessed, shall be in the amount of
$1,000 per day for each day the Contractor fails to meet and
maintain the staffing levels identified in Exhibit B, Scope of
Services.

14.3.3. Liquidated damages, if assessed, shall be in the amount of
$1,000 per day for each day the Contractor fails to meet the
performance standards identified in Exhibit B, Scope of
Services.

14.3.4. Liquidated damages, if assessed, shall be in the amount of
$1,000 per day for each day the Contractor fails to meet the
reporting requirements identified in Exhibit B, Scope of
Services.

14.3.5. Liquidated damages, if assessed, shall apply until the
Contractor cures the failure cited in the notification described in
Subsection 14.2, or until the resulting dispute is resolved in the
Contractor’s favor.

14.3.6. The amount of liquidated damages assessed by the
Department shall not exceed the price limitation in Form P-37,

General Provisions, Block 1.8 — Price Limitation.
DS
l €M
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14.3.7. During the term of this Agreement and the period for retention
hereunder, the Department, the United States Department of
Health and Human Services, and any of their designated
representatives shall have access to all reports and records
maintained pursuant to the Agreement for purposes of audit,
examination, excerpts and transcripts. Upon the purchase by
the Department of the maximum number of units provided for in
the Agreement and upon payment of the price limitation
hereunder, the Agreement and all the obligations of the parties
hereunder (except such obligations as, by the terms of the
Agreement are to be performed after the end of the term of this
Agreement and/or survive the termination of the Agreement)
shall terminate; provided however, that if, upon review of the
Final Expenditure Report the Department shall disallow any
expenses claimed by the Contractor as costs hereunder the
Department shall retain the right, at its discretion, to deduct the
amount of such expenses as are disallowed or to recover such
sums from the Contractor.

14.4. Assessment:

14.41. The Department shall be entitled to assess and recover
liquidated damages cumulatively under each section applicable
to any given incident.

14.4.2. Assessment and recovery of liquidated damages by the
Department shall be in addition to, and not exclusive of, any
other remedies, including actual damages, as may be available
to the Department for breach of contract, both at law and in
equity, and shall not preclude the Department from recovering
damages related to other acts or omissions by the Contractor
under this Agreement. Imposition of liquidated damages shall
not limit the right of the Department to terminate the Contract
for default as provided in Paragraph 8 of the General Provisions
(P-37).

14.5. Damages Related to Failure to Document Medical Necessity:

14.5.1. The Contractor shall be liable to the Department for any losses
incurred by the Department which arise out of the failure of
Contractor staff to provide the required documentation to
support medical necessity as identified in Exhibit B, Scope of
Services.

:DS
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CERTIFICATION REGARDING DRUG-FREE WORKPLACE REQUIREMENTS

The Vendor identified in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions agrees to comply with the provisions of
Sections 5151-5160 of the Drug-Free Workplace Act of 1988 (Pub. L. 100-690, Title V, Subtitle D; 41
U.S.C. 701 et seq.), and further agrees to have the Contractor's representative, as identified in Sections
1.11 and 1.12 of the General Provisions execute the following Certification:

ALTERNATIVE | - FOR GRANTEES OTHER THAN INDIVIDUALS

US DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES - CONTRACTORS
US DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION - CONTRACTORS
US DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE - CONTRACTORS

This certification is required by the regulations implementing Sections 5151-5160 of the Drug-Free
Workplace Act of 1988 (Pub. L. 100-690, Title \V/, Subtitle D; 41 U.S.C. 701 et seq.). The January 31,
1989 regulations were amended and published as Part Il of the May 25, 1990 Federal Register (pages
21681-21691), and require certification by grantees (and by inference, sub-grantees and sub-
contractors), prior to award, that they will maintain a drug-free workplace. Section 3017.630(c) of the
regulation provides that a grantee (and by inference, sub-grantees and sub-contractors) that is a State
may elect to make one certification to the Department in each federal fiscal year in lieu of certificates for
each grant during the federal fiscal year covered by the certification. The certificate set out below is a
material representation of fact upon which reliance is placed when the agency awards the grant. False
certification or violation of the certification shall be grounds for suspension of payments, suspension or
termination of grants, or government wide suspension or debarment. Contractors using this form should
send it to:

Commissioner

NH Department of Health and Human Services
129 Pleasant Street,

Concord, NH 03301-6505

1. The grantee certifies that it will or will continue to provide a drug-free workplace by:

1.1. Publishing a statement notifying employees that the unlawful manufacture, distribution,
dispensing, possession or use of a controlled substance is prohibited in the grantee's
workplace and specifying the actions that will be taken against employees for violation of such
prohibition;

1.2. Establishing an ongoing drug-free awareness program to inform employees about
1.2.1. The dangers of drug abuse in the workplace;

1.2.2. The grantee’s policy of maintaining a drug-free workplace;

1.2.3.  Any available drug counseling, rehabilitation, and employee assistance programs; and

1.2.4. The penalties that may be imposed upon employees for drug abuse violations
occurring in the workplace;

1.3. Making it a requirement that each employee to be engaged in the performance of the grant be
given a copy of the statement required by paragraph (a);

1.4. Notifying the employee in the statement required by paragraph (a) that, as a condition of
employment under the grant, the employee will
1.4.1. Abide by the terms of the statement; and
1.4.2. Notify the employer in writing of his or her conviction for a violation of a criminal drug

statute occurring in the workplace no later than five calendar days after such
conviction;

1.5.  Notifying the agency in writing, within ten calendar days after receiving notice under
subparagraph 1.4.2 from an employee or otherwise receiving actual notice of such conviction.
Employers of convicted employees must provide notice, including position title, to every grant
officer on whose grant activity the convicted employee was working, unless the Federa[!sagency

Exhibit D — Certification regarding Drug Free Vendor Initials
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has designated a central point for the receipt of such notices. Notice shall include the
identification number(s) of each affected grant;
1.6. Taking one of the following actions, within 30 calendar days of receiving notice under
subparagraph 1.4.2, with respect to any employee who is so convicted
1.6.1. Taking appropriate personnel action against such an employee, up to and including
termination, consistent with the requirements of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as
amended; or
1.6.2. Requiring such employee to participate satisfactorily in a drug abuse assistance or
rehabilitation program approved for such purposes by a Federal, State, or local health,
law enforcement, or other appropriate agency;
1.7.  Making a good faith effort to continue to maintain a drug-free workplace through
implementation of paragraphs 1.1, 1.2, 1.3, 1.4, 1.5, and 1.6.

2. The grantee may insert in the space provided below the site(s) for the performance of work done in
connection with the specific grant.

Place of Performance (street address, city, county, state, zip code) (list each location)

Check O if there are workplaces on file that are not identified here.

Vendor Name:

DocuSigned by:
3/2/2022 Edward ). Muvons, )
Date Name: ~J. Merrens, MD

Title: Chief Clinical officer

:DS
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CERTIFICATION REGARDING LOBBYING

The Vendor identified in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions agrees to comply with the provisions of
Section 319 of Public Law 101-121, Government wide Guidance for New Restrictions on Lobbying, and
31 U.8.C. 1352, and further agrees to have the Contractor's representative, as identified in Sections 1.11
and 1.12 of the General Provisions execute the following Certification:

US DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES - CONTRACTORS
US DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION - CONTRACTORS
US DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE - CONTRACTORS

Programs (indicate applicable program covered):
“Temporary Assistance to Needy Families under Title IV-A
*Child Support Enforcement Program under Title IV-D
*Social Services Block Grant Program under Title XX
*Medicaid Program under Title XIX

*Community Services Block Grant under Title VI

*Child Care Development Block Grant under Title IV

The undersigned certifies, to the best of his or her knowledge and belief, that:

1. No Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid by or on behalf of the undersigned, to
any person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a Member
of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member of Congress in
connection with the awarding of any Federal contract, continuation, renewal, amendment, or
modification of any Federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement (and by specific mention
sub-grantee or sub-contractor).

2. If any funds other than Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid to any person for
influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a Member of Congress,
an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member of Congress in connection with this
Federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement (and by specific mention sub-grantee or sub-
contractor), the undersigned shall complete and submit Standard Form LLL, (Disclosure Form to
Report Lobbying, in accordance with its instructions, attached and identified as Standard Exhibit E-1.)

3. The undersigned shall require that the language of this certification be included in the award
document for sub-awards at all tiers (including subcontracts, sub-grants, and contracts under grants,
loans, and cooperative agreements) and that all sub-recipients shall certify and disclose accordingly.

This certification is a material representation of fact upon which reliance was placed when this transaction
was made or entered into. Submission of this certification is a prerequisite for making or entering into this
transaction imposed by Section 1352, Title 31, U.S. Code. Any person who fails to file the required
certification shall be subject to a civil penalty of not less than $10,000 and not more than $100,000 for
each such failure.

Vendor Name:

DocuSigned by:

3/2/2022 Elward. ). Murens, )
Date ame: “J. Merrens, MD
Title:

chief Clinical officer

:DS
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CERTIFICATION REGARDING DEBARMENT, SUSPENSION
AND OTHER RESPONSIBILITY MATTERS

The Contractor identified in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions agrees to comply with the provisions of
Executive Office of the President, Executive Order 12549 and 45 CFR Part 76 regarding Debarment,
Suspension, and Other Responsibility Matters, and further agrees to have the Contractor's
representative, as identified in Sections 1.11 and 1.12 of the General Provisions execute the following
Certification:

INSTRUCTIONS FOR CERTIFICATION
1. By signing and submitting this proposal (contract), the prospective primary participant is providing the
certification set out below.

2. The inability of a person to provide the certification required below will not necessarily result in denial
of participation in this covered transaction. If necessary, the prospective participant shall submit an
explanation of why it cannot provide the certification. The certification or explanation will be
considered in connection with the NH Department of Health and Human Services' (DHHS)
determination whether to enter into this transaction. However, failure of the prospective primary
participant to furnish a certification or an explanation shall disqualify such person from participation in
this transaction.

3. The certification in this clause is a material representation of fact upon which reliance was placed
when DHHS determined to enter into this transaction. If it is later determined that the prospective
primary participant knowingly rendered an erroneous certification, in addition to other remedies
available to the Federal Government, DHHS may terminate this transaction for cause or default.

4. The prospective primary participant shall provide immediate written notice to the DHHS agency to
whom this proposal (contract) is submitted if at any time the prospective primary participant learns
that its certification was erroneous when submitted or has become erroneous by reason of changed
circumstances.

"ou n o " ou

5. The terms “covered transaction,” “debarred,” “suspended,” “ineligible,” “lower tier covered
transaction,” “participant,” “person,” “primary covered transaction,” “principal,” “proposal,” and

“voluntarily excluded,” as used in this clause, have the meanings set out in the Definitions and

Coverage sections of the rules implementing Executive Order 12549: 45 CFR Part 76. See the

attached definitions.

6. The prospective primary participant agrees by submitting this proposal (contract) that, should the
proposed covered transaction be entered into, it shall not knowingly enter into any lower tier covered
transaction with a person who is debarred, suspended, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded
from participation in this covered transaction, unless authorized by DHHS.

7. The prospective primary participant further agrees by submitting this proposal that it will include the
clause titled “Certification Regarding Debarment, Suspension, Ineligibility and Voluntary Exclusion -
Lower Tier Covered Transactions,” provided by DHHS, without modification, in all lower tier covered
transactions and in all solicitations for lower tier covered transactions.

8. A participant in a covered transaction may rely upon a certification of a prospective participant in a
lower tier covered transaction that it is not debarred, suspended, ineligible, or involuntarily excluded
from the covered transaction, unless it knows that the certification is erroneous. A participant may
decide the method and frequency by which it determines the eligibility of its principals. Each
participant may, but is not required to, check the Nonprocurement List (of excluded parties).

9. Nothing contained in the foregoing shall be construed to require establishment of a system of records
in order to render in good faith the certification required by this clause. The knowledge and

Exhibit F — Certification Regarding Debarment, Suspension Contractor Initials
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information of a participant is not required to exceed that which is normally possessed by a prudent
person in the ordinary course of business dealings.

10. Except for transactions authorized under paragraph 6 of these instructions, if a participant in a
covered transaction knowingly enters into a lower tier covered transaction with a person who is
suspended, debarred, ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from participation in this transaction, in
addition to other remedies available to the Federal government, DHHS may terminate this transaction
for cause or default.

PRIMARY COVERED TRANSACTIONS
11. The prospective primary participant certifies to the best of its knowledge and belief, that it and its
principals:

11.1. are not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or
voluntarily excluded from covered transactions by any Federal department or agency;

11.2. have not within a three-year period preceding this proposal (contract) been convicted of or had
a civil judgment rendered against them for commission of fraud or a criminal offense in
connection with obtaining, attempting to obtain, or performing a public (Federal, State or local)
transaction or a contract under a public transaction; violation of Federal or State antitrust
statutes or commission of embezzlement, theft, forgery, bribery, falsification or destruction of
records, making false statements, or receiving stolen property;

11.3. are not presently indicted for otherwise criminally or civilly charged by a governmental entity
(Federal, State or local) with commission of any of the offenses enumerated in paragraph (1)(b)
of this certification; and

11.4. have not within a three-year period preceding this application/proposal had one or more public
transactions (Federal, State or local) terminated for cause or default.

12. Where the prospective primary participant is unable to certify to any of the statements in this
certification, such prospective participant shall attach an explanation to this proposal (contract).

LOWER TIER COVERED TRANSACTIONS
13. By signing and submitting this lower tier proposal (contract), the prospective lower tier participant, as
defined in 45 CFR Part 76, certifies to the best of its knowledge and belief that it and its principals:
13.1. are not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or
voluntarily excluded from participation in this transaction by any federal department or agency.
13.2. where the prospective lower tier participant is unable to certify to any of the above, such
prospective participant shall attach an explanation to this proposal (contract).

14. The prospective lower tier participant further agrees by submitting this proposal (contract) that it will
include this clause entitled “Certification Regarding Debarment, Suspension, Ineligibility, and
Voluntary Exclusion - Lower Tier Covered Transactions," without modification in all lower tier covered
transactions and in all solicitations for lower tier covered transactions.

Contractor Name:

DocuSigned by:
3/2/2022 E@AWWL ). Mununs, M)
Date Name: edward. 7. Merrens, MD

Title: Chief Clinical officer

ins
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CERTIFICATION OF COMPLIANCE WITH REQUIREMENTS PERTAINING TO
FEDERAL NONDISCRIMINATION, EQUAL TREATMENT OF FAITH-BASED ORGANIZATIONS AND
WHISTLEBLOWER PROTECTIONS

The Contractor identified in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions agrees by signature of the Contractor's
representative as identified in Sections 1.11 and 1.12 of the General Provisions, to execute the following
certification:

Contractor will comply, and will require any subgrantees or subcontractors to comply, with any applicable
federal nondiscrimination requirements, which may include:

- the Omnibus Crime Control and Safe Streets Act of 1968 (42 U.S.C. Section 3789d) which prohibits
recipients of federal funding under this statute from discriminating, either in employment practices or in
the delivery of services or benefits, on the basis of race, color, religion, national origin, and sex. The Act
requires certain recipients to produce an Equal Employment Opportunity Plan;

- the Juvenile Justice Delinquency Prevention Act of 2002 (42 U.S.C. Section 5672(b)) which adopts by
reference, the civil rights obligations of the Safe Streets Act. Recipients of federal funding under this
statute are prohibited from discriminating, either in employment practices or in the delivery of services or
benefits, on the basis of race, color, religion, national origin, and sex. The Act includes Equal
Employment Opportunity Plan requirements;

- the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (42 U.S.C. Section 2000d, which prohibits recipients of federal financial
assistance from discriminating on the basis of race, color, or national origin in any program or activity);

- the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (29 U.S.C. Section 794), which prohibits recipients of Federal financial
assistance from discriminating on the basis of disability, in regard to employment and the delivery of
services or benefits, in any program or activity;

- the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (42 U.S.C. Sections 12131-34), which prohibits
discrimination and ensures equal opportunity for persons with disabilities in employment, State and local
government services, public accommodations, commercial facilities, and transportation;

- the Education Amendments of 1972 (20 U.S.C. Sections 1681, 1683, 1685-86), which prohibits
discrimination on the basis of sex in federally assisted education programs;

- the Age Discrimination Act of 1975 (42 U.S.C. Sections 6106-07), which prohibits discrimination on the
basis of age in programs or activities receiving Federal financial assistance. It does not include
employment discrimination;

-28 C.F.R. pt. 31 (U.S. Department of Justice Regulations — OJJDP Grant Programs); 28 C.F.R. pt. 42
(U.S. Department of Justice Regulations — Nondiscrimination; Equal Employment Opportunity; Policies
and Procedures); Executive Order No. 13279 (equal protection of the laws for faith-based and community
organizations); Executive Order No. 13559, which provide fundamental principles and policy-making
criteria for partnerships with faith-based and neighborhood organizations;

-28 C.F.R. pt. 38 (U.S. Department of Justice Regulations — Equal Treatment for Faith-Based
Organizations); and Whistleblower protections 41 U.S.C. §4712 and The National Defense Authorization
Act (NDAA) for Fiscal Year 2013 (Pub. L. 112-239, enacted January 2, 2013) the Pilot Program for
Enhancement of Contract Employee Whistleblower Protections, which protects employees against
reprisal for certain whistle blowing activities in connection with federal grants and contracts.

The certificate set out below is a material representation of fact upon which reliance is placed when the
agency awards the grant. False certification or violation of the certification shall be grounds for
suspension of payments, suspension or termination of grants, or government wide suspension or
debarment.

DS
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In the event a Federal or State court or Federal or State administrative agency makes a finding of
discrimination after a due process hearing on the grounds of race, color, religion, national origin, or sex
against a recipient of funds, the recipient will forward a copy of the finding to the Office for Civil Rights, to
the applicable contracting agency or division within the Department of Health and Human Services, and
to the Department of Health and Human Services Office of the Ombudsman.

The Contractor identified in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions agrees by signature of the Contractor's
representative as identified in Sections 1.11 and 1.12 of the General Provisions, to execute the following

certification:

1. By signing and submitting this proposal (contract) the Contractor agrees to comply with the provisions

indicated above.

Contractor Name:

DocuSigned by:

3/2/2022 Edward ). Morvuns, M)
Date Name: Edwdrd J. Merrens, MD

Tile:  chief clinical officer

Ds
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CERTIFICATION REGARDING ENVIRONMENTAL TOBACCO SMOKE

Public Law 103-227, Part C - Environmental Tobacco Smoke, also known as the Pro-Children Act of 1994
(Act), requires that smoking not be permitted in any portion of any indoor facility owned or leased or
contracted for by an entity and used routinely or regularly for the provision of health, day care, education,
or library services to children under the age of 18, if the services are funded by Federal programs either
directly or through State or local governments, by Federal grant, contract, loan, or loan guarantee. The
law does not apply to children's services provided in private residences, facilities funded solely by
Medicare or Medicaid funds, and portions of facilities used for inpatient drug or alcohol treatment. Failure
to comply with the provisions of the law may result in the imposition of a civil monetary penalty of up to
$1000 per day and/or the imposition of an administrative compliance order on the responsible entity.

The Contractor identified in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions agrees, by signature of the Contractor's

representative as identified in Section 1.11 and 1.12 of the General Provisions, to execute the following

certification:

1. By signing and submitting this contract, the Contractor agrees to make reasonable efforts to comply
with all applicable provisions of Public Law 103-227, Part C, known as the Pro-Children Act of 1994.

Contractor Name:

DocuSigned by:
3/2/2022 [—‘élwm}; 3. Mumvons, ),
Date Name: Edward J. Merrens, MD
Title:

chief Clinical officer
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BUSINESS ASSOCIATE AGREEMENT

The Contractor identified in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions of the Agreement (Form P-37)
(“Agreement”) agrees, as a Business Associate, to comply with the Health Insurance Portability
and Accountability Act, Public Law 104-191, the Standards for Privacy and Security of
Individually Identifiable Health Information, 45 CFR Parts 160, 162, and 164 (HIPAA),
provisions of the HITECH Act, Title XIlI, Subtitle D, Parts 1&2 of the American Recovery and
Reinvestment Act of 2009, 42 USC 17934, et sec., applicable to business associates, and as
applicable, to be bound by the provisions of the Confidentiality of Substance Use Disorder
Patient Records, 42 USC s. 290 dd-2, 42 CFR Part 2, (Part 2), as any may be amended from
time to time.

(1) Definitions.

a. “Business Associate” shall mean the Contractor and its agents who receive, use, or have
access to protected health information (PHI) as defined in this Business Associate
Agreement (“BAA”") and the Agreement, and “Covered Entity” shall mean the State of New
Hampshire, Department of Health and Human Services.

b. The following terms have the same meaning as defined in HIPAA, the HITECH Act, and
Part 2, as they may be amended from time to time:

“Breach,” “Covered Entity,” “Designated Record Set,” “Data Aggregation,”
Designated Record Set,” Health Care Operations,” HITECH Act,” “Individual,”
“Privacy Rule,” “Required by law,” “Security Rule,” and “Secretary.”

c. “Protected Health Information” (‘PHI”) as used in this Agreement means protected health
information defined in HIPAA 45 CFR 160.103, limited to the information created, received,
or used by Business Associate from or on behalf of Covered Entity, and includes any Part
2 records relating to substance use disorder, if applicable, as defined below.

d. “Part 2 record” means any patient “Record,” relating to a “Patient,” and “Patient Identifying
Information,” as defined in 42 CFR Part 2.11.

e. “Unsecured Protected Health Information” means protected health information that is not
secured by a technology standard that renders protected health information unusable,
unreadable, or indecipherable to unauthorized individuals and is developed or endorsed by
a standards developing organization that is accredited by the American National Standards
Institute.

(2) i i Di Pr nform

a. Business Associate shall not use, disclose, maintain, store, or transmit Protected Health
Information (PHI) except as reasonably necessary to provide the services outlingd u ﬁ|;§(ﬁer1
Exhibit B, Scope of Services, of the Agreement. Further, Business Associate, i
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but not limited to all its directors, officers, employees, and agents, shall protect any PHI as
required by HIPPA and 42 CFR Part 2, and not use, disclose, maintain, store, or transmit PHI in
any manner that would constitute a violation of HIPAA or 42 CFR Part 2.

Business Associate may use or disclose PHI, as applicable:
l. For the proper management and administration of the Business Associate;

Il. As required by law, pursuant to the terms set forth in paragraph c. and d.
below;

M. According to the HIPAA minimum necessary standard; and

V. For data aggregation purposes for the health care operations of the Covered
Entity.

To the extent Business Associate is permitted under the BAA or the Agreement to
disclose PHI to any third party or subcontractor, prior to making any disclosure, the
Business Associate must obtain, a business associate agreement with the third party or
subcontractor, that complies with HIPAA and ensures that all requirements and
restrictions placed on the Business Associate as part of this BAA with the Covered Entity,
are included in those business associate agreements with the third party or subcontractor.

The Business Associate shall not, disclose any PHI in response to a request or demand
for disclosure, such as by a subpoena or court order, on the basis that it is required by
law, without first notifying Covered Entity so that Covered Entity can determine how to best
protect the PHI. If Covered Entity objects to the disclosure, the Business Associate agrees
to refrain from disclosing the PHI and shall cooperate with the Covered Entity in any effort
the Covered Entity undertakes to contest the request for disclosure, subpoena, or other
legal process. If applicable relating to Part 2 records, the Business Associate shall resist
any efforts to access part 2 records in any judicial proceeding.

~

Business Associate shall implement appropriate safeguards to prevent unauthorized
use or disclosure of all PHI in accordance with HIPAA Privacy Rule and Security Rule
with regard to electronic PHI, and Part 2, as applicable.

The Business Associate shall immediately notify the Covered Entity's Privacy Officer at
the following email address, DHHSPrivacyOfficer@dhhs.nh.gov after the Business
Associate has determined that any use or disclosure not provided for by its contract,
including any known or suspected privacy or security incident or breach has occurred
potentially exposing or compromising the PHI. This includes inadvertent or accidental
uses or disclosures or breaches of unsecured protected health information.

In the event of a breach, the Business Associate shall comply with the terms of this
Business Associate Agreement, all applicable state and federal laws and regulations
and any additional requirements of the Agreement.

:Ds
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d. The Business Associate shall perform a risk assessment, based on the information
available at the time it becomes aware of any known or suspected privacy or security
breach as described above and communicate the risk assessment to the Covered
Entity. The risk assessment shall include, but not be limited to:

I. The nature and extent of the protected health information involved, including the
types of identifiers and the likelihood of re-identification;

Il. The unauthorized person who accessed, used, disclosed, or received the
protected health information;

IIl. Whether the protected health information was actually acquired or viewed; and

IV. How the risk of loss of confidentiality to the protected health
information has been mitigated.

e. The Business Associate shall complete a risk assessment report at the conclusion of its
incident or breach investigation and provide the findings in a written report to the
Covered Entity as soon as practicable after the conclusion of the Business Associate’s
investigation.

f. Business Associate shall make available all of its internal policies and procedures, books
and records relating to the use and disclosure of PHI received from, or created or
received by the Business Associate on behalf of Covered Entity to the US Secretary of
Health and Human Services for purposes of determining the Business Associate’'s and
the Covered Entity's compliance with HIPAA and the Privacy and Security Rule, and
Part 2, if applicable.

g. Business Associate shall require all of its business associates that receive, use or have
access to PHI under the BAA or the Agreement, to agree in writing to adhere to the
same restrictions and conditions on the use and disclosure of PHI contained herein,
including the duty to return or destroy the PHI as provided under Section (3)n, and an
agreement that the Covered Entity shall be considered a direct third party beneficiary of
the Business Associate’s business associate agreements with Business Associate's
intended business associates, who will be receiving PHI pursuant to this BAA, with
rights of enforcement and indemnification from such business associates who shall be
governed by standard provision #13 of this Agreement for the purpose of use and
disclosure of protected health information.

h. Within ten (10) business days of receipt of a written request from Covered Entity,
Business Associate shall make available during normal business hours at its offices all
records, books, agreements, policies and procedures relating to the use anddisclosure
of PHI to the Covered Entity, for purposes of enabling Covered Entity to determine
Business Associate's compliance with the terms of the BAA and the Agreement.

i. Within ten (10) business days of receiving a written request from Covered Entity,
Business Associate shall provide access to PHI in a Designated Record Set to the
Covered Entity, or as directed by Covered Entity, to an individual in order to meet the

requirements under 45 CFR Section 164.524. D8
| £
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Within ten (10) business days of receiving a written request from Covered Entity for an
amendment of PHI or a record about an individual contained in a Designated Record
Set, the Business Associate shall make such PHI available to Covered Entity for
amendment and incorporate any such amendment to enable Covered Entity to fuffill its
obligations under 45 CFR Section 164.526.

Business Associate shall document any disclosures of PHI and information related to

any disclosures as would be required for Covered Entity to respond to a request by an
individual for an accounting of disclosures of PHI in accordance with 45 CFR Section

164.528.

Within ten (10) business days of receiving a written request from Covered Entity for a
request for an accounting of disclosures of PHI, Business Associate shall make available
to Covered Entity such information as Covered Entity may require to fulfill its obligations
to provide an accounting of disclosures with respect to PHI in accordance with 45 CFR
Section 164.528.

In the event any individual requests access to, amendment of, or accounting of PHI
directly from the Business Associate, the Business Associate shall within five (5)
business days forward such request to Covered Entity. Covered Entity shall have the
responsibility of responding to forwarded requests. However, if forwarding the
individual’'s request to Covered Entity would cause Covered Entity or the Business
Associate to violate HIPAA and the Privacy and Security Rule, the Business Associate
shall instead respond to the individual's request as required by such law and notify
Covered Entity of such response as soon as practicable.

Within thirty (30) business days of termination of the Agreement, for any reason, the
Business Associate shall return or destroy, as specified by Covered Entity, all PHI
received from or created or received by the Business Associate in connection with the
Agreement, and shall not retain any copies or back-ups of such PHI in any form or
platform.

. If return or destruction is not feasible, or the disposition of the PHI has
been otherwise agreed to in the Agreement, Business Associate shall
continue to extend the protections of the Agreement, to such PHI and limit
further uses and disclosures of such PHI to those purposes that make the
return or destruction infeasible for as long as the Business Associate
maintains such PHI. If Covered Entity, in its sole discretion, requires that
the Business Associate destroy any or all PHI, the Business Associate
shall certify to Covered Entity that the PHI has been destroyed.

ligati f Covered Entit

Covered Entity shall notify Business Associate of any changes or limitation(s) in its

Notice of Privacy Practices provided to individuals in accordance with 45 CFR Section
164.520, to the extent that such change or limitation may affect Business Associate'ss

use or disclosure of PHI. A current version of Covered Entity’s Notice of Privacy ] £ MM
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(6)

Practices and any changes thereto will be posted on the Covered Entity’'s website:
https://www.dhhs.nh.gov/oos/hipaa/publications.htm .

Covered Entity shall promptly notify Business Associate of any changes in, or revocation
of permission provided to Covered Entity by individuals whose PHI may be used or
disclosed by Business Associate under this BAA, pursuant to 45 CFRSection 164.506
or 45 CFR Section 164.508.

Covered entity shall promptly notify Business Associate of any restrictions on the use or
disclosure of PHI that Covered Entity has agreed to in accordance with 45 CFR 164.522,
to the extent that such restriction may affect Business Associate’s use or disclosure of
PHI.

rT— for C

In addition to Paragraph 9 of the General Provisions (P-37) of the Agreement, the
Covered Entity may immediately terminate the Agreement upon Covered Entity's
knowledge of a material breach by Business Associate of the Business Associate
Agreement. The Covered Entity may either immediately terminate the Agreement or
provide an opportunity for Business Associate to cure the alleged breach within a
timeframe specified by Covered Entity.

is n

Definitions, Laws, and Requlatory References. All laws and regulations used, herein,
shall refer to those laws and regulations as amended from time to time. A reference in
the Agreement, as amended to include this Exhibit I, to a Section in HIPAA or 42 Part 2,
means the Section as in effect or as amended.

Amendment. Covered Entity and Business Associate agree to take such action asis
necessary to amend the BAA, from time to time as is necessary for Covered Entity
and/or Business Associate to comply with the changes in the requirements of
HIPAA, 42 CFR Part 2 other applicable federal and state law.

Data Ownership. The Business Associate acknowledges that it has no ownership rights
with respect to the PHI provided by or created on behalf of Covered Entity.

Interpretation. The parties agree that any ambiguity in the BAA and the Agreement
shall be resolved to permit Covered Entity and the Business Associate to comply with
HIPAA and 42 CFR Part 2.

ins
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e. Segregation. If any term or condition of this BAA or the application thereof to any
person(s) or circumstance is held invalid, such invalidity shall not affect other terms or
conditions which can be given effect without the invalid term or condition: to this end the
terms and conditions of this Exhibit | are declared severable.

f. Survival. Provisions in this BAA regarding the use and disclosure of PHI, return or
destruction of PHI, extensions of the protections of the BAA in section (3) I, the
defense and indemnification provisions of section (3) e and Paragraph 13 of the
General Provisions (P-37) of the Agreement, shall survive the termination of the BAA

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have duly executed this Exhibit I.
Department of Health and Human Services partmouth-Hitchcock

Th e §otlg£%ned by: Na rpngugigntb %COl’ltraCtO r

Joseple T (avist Chward ). Morns, )

Signature of Authorized Representative Signature of Authorized Representative
Joseph T. Caristi Edward J. Merrens, MD
Name of Authorized Representative Name of Authorized Representative

Chief Financial officer, NH Hospital Chief Clinical officer

Title of Authorized Representative Title of Authorized Representative
3/2/2022 3/2/2022
Date Date
DS
MM
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CERTIFICATION REGARDING THE FEDERAL FUNDING ACCOUNTABILITY AND TRANSPARENCY
ACT (FFATA) COMPLIANCE

The Federal Funding Accountability and Transparency Act (FFATA) requires prime awardees of individual
Federal grants equal to or greater than $25,000 and awarded on or after October 1, 2010, to report on
data related to executive compensation and associated first-tier sub-grants of $25,000 or more. If the
initial award is below $25,000 but subsequent grant modifications result in a total award equal to or over
$25,000, the award is subject to the FFATA reporting requirements, as of the date of the award.
In accordance with 2 CFR Part 170 (Reporting Subaward and Executive Compensation Information), the
Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS) must report the following information for any
subaward or contract award subject to the FFATA reporting requirements:

Name of entity

Amount of award

Funding agency

NAICS code for contracts / CFDA program number for grants

Program source

Award title descriptive of the purpose of the funding action

Location of the entity

Principle place of performance

Unique identifier of the entity (DUNS #)
. Total compensation and names of the top five executives if:

10.1. More than 80% of annual gross revenues are from the Federal government, and those

revenues are greater than $25M annually and
10.2. Compensation information is not already available through reporting to the SEC.

SO O O il N e

o

Prime grant recipients must submit FFATA required data by the end of the month, plus 30 days, in which
the award or award amendment is made.

The Contractor identified in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions agrees to comply with the provisions of
The Federal Funding Accountability and Transparency Act, Public Law 109-282 and Public Law 110-252,
and 2 CFR Part 170 (Reporting Subaward and Executive Compensation Information), and further agrees
to have the Contractor's representative, as identified in Sections 1.11 and 1.12 of the General Provisions
execute the following Certification:

The below named Contractor agrees to provide needed information as outlined above to the NH
Department of Health and Human Services and to comply with all applicable provisions of the Federal
Financial Accountability and Transparency Act.

Contractor Name:

DocuSigned by:

3/2/2022 Edward ). Murvens, M)
Date Name: °J. Merrens, MD
Title:  chief clinical officer

:DS
Exhibit J — Certification Regarding the Federal Funding Contractor Initials

Accountability And Transparency Act (FFATA) Compliance 3/2/2022
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FORM A

As the Contractor identified in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions, | certify that the responses to the
below listed questions are true and accurate.

QYLXERHDAQL4
1. The DUNS number for your entity is:

2. In your business or organization's preceding completed fiscal year, did your business or organization
receive (1) 80 percent or more of your annual gross revenue in U.S. federal contracts, subcontracts,
loans, grants, sub-grants, and/or cooperative agreements; and (2) $25,000,000 or more in annual
gross revenues from U.S. federal contracts, subcontracts, loans, grants, subgrants, and/or
cooperative agreements?

X __NO YES
If the answer to #2 above is NO, stop here
If the answer to #2 above is YES, please answer the following:

3. Does the public have access to information about the compensation of the executives in your
business or organization through periodic reports filed under section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C.78m(a), 780(d)) or section 6104 of the Internal Revenue Code of
19867

NO YES
If the answer to #3 above is YES, stop here

If the answer to #3 above is NO, please answer the following:

4. The names and compensation of the five most highly compensated officers in your business or
organization are as follows:

Name: Amount:
Name: Amount:
Name: Amount:
Name: Amount:
Name: Amount:
DS
Exhibit J — Certification Regarding the Federal Funding Contractor Initials
Accountability And Transparency Act (FFATA) Compliance 3/2/2022
CU/DHHS/110713 Page 2 of 2 Date
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A. Definitions

April, 2020

The following terms may be reflected and have the described meaning in this document:

1. “Breach” means the loss of control, compromise, unauthorized disclosure,
unauthorized acquisition, unauthorized access, or any similar term referring to
situations where persons other than authorized users and for an other than authorized
purpose have access or potential access to personally identifiable information,
whether physical or electronic. With regard to Protected Health Information,
“Breach” shall have the same meaning as the term “Breach” in section 164.402 of
Title 45, Code of Federal Regulations.

2. “Computer Security Incident” shall have the same meaning “Computer Security
Incident™ in section two (2) of NIST Publication 800-61, Computer Security Incident
Handling Guide, National Institute of Standards and Technology, U.S. Department
of Commerce.

3. “Confidential Information,” “Confidential Data,” or “Data” (as defined in Exhibit K),
means all confidential information disclosed by one party to the other such as all
medical, health, financial, public assistance benefits and personal information
including without limitation, Substance Abuse Treatment Records, Case Records,
Protected Health Information and Personally Identifiable Information.

Confidential Information also includes any and all information owned or managed by
the State of NH - created, received from or on behalf of the Department of Health and
Human Services (DHHS) or accessed in the course of performing contracted services
- of which collection, disclosure, protection, and disposition is governed by state or
federal law or regulation. This information includes, but is not limited to Protected
Health Information (PHI), Personal Information (PI), Personal Financial Information
(PFI), Federal Tax Information (FTT), Social Security Numbers (SSN), Payment Card
Industry (PCI), and or other sensitive and confidential information.

4.  “End User” means any person or entity (e.g., contractor’s employee, business
associate, subcontractor, other downstream user, etc.) that receives DHHS data or
derivative data in accordance with the terms of this Contract.

5. “HIPAA™ means the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 and
the regulations promulgated thereunder.

6. “Incident” means an act that potentially violates a security policy, which includes
successful attempts) to gain unauthorized access to a system or its data, unwanted
disruption or denial of service, the unauthorized use of a system for the procesgingsor

€M
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storage of data; and changes to system hardware, firmware, or software
characteristics without the owner's knowledge, instruction, or consent. Incidents
include the loss of data through theft or device misplacement, loss or misplacement of
hardcopy documents, and misrouting of physical or electronic documents or mail.

7. “Open Wireless Network™ means any network or segment of a network that is
not designated by the State of New Hampshire’s Department of Information
Technology or delegate as a protected network (designed, tested, and approved,
by means of the State, to transmit) will be considered an open network and not
adequately secure for the transmission of unencrypted PI, PFI, PHI or
confidential DHHS data.

8. “Personal Information” (or “PI"") means information which can be used to distinguish
or trace an individual’s identity, such as their name, social security number, personal
information as defined in New Hampshire RSA 359-C:19, biometric records, etc.,
alone, or when combined with other personal or identifying information which is
linked or linkable to a specific individual, such as date and place of birth, mother’s
maiden name, etc.

9. “Privacy Rule” shall mean the Standards for Privacy of Individually Identifiable
Health Information at 45 C.F.R. Parts 160 and 164, promulgated under HIPAA by the
United States Department of Health and Human Services.

10. “Protected Health Information” (or “PHI") has the same meaning as provided in the
definition of “Protected Health Information™ in the HIPAA Privacy Rule at 45 C.F.R.
§ 160.103.

11. “Security Rule” shall mean the Security Standards for the Protection of Electronic
Protected Health Information at 45 C.F.R. Part 164, Subpart C, and amendments
thereto.

12. “Unsecured Protected Health Information” means Protected Health Information that is
not secured by a technology standard that renders Protected Health Information
unusable, unreadable, or indecipherable to unauthorized individuals and is developed
or endorsed by a standards developing organization that is accredited by the American
National Standards Institute.

I. RESPONSIBILITIES OF DHHS AND THE CONTRACTOR

A. Business Use and Disclosure of Confidential Information.

1. The Contractor must not use, disclose, maintain or transmit Confidential Info on
£
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except as required or permitted under this Contract or required by law. Further,
Contractor, including but not limited to all its directors, officers, employees and
agents, must not use, disclose, maintain or transmit PHI in any manner that would
constitute a violation of the Privacy and Security Rule.

2. The Contractor must not disclose any Confidential Information in response to a

request for disclosure on the basis that it is required by law, in response to a subpoena,
etc., without first notifying DHHS so that DHHS has an opportunity to consent or
object to the disclosure.

3. The Contractor agrees that DHHS Data or derivative there from disclosed to an End

User must only be used pursuant to the terms of this Contract.

II. METHODS OF SECURE TRANSMISSION OF DATA

April, 2020

1.

Application Encryption. If Contractor is transmitting DHHS Data containing
Confidential Data between applications, the Contractor attests the applications have
been evaluated by an expert knowledgeable in cyber security and that said
application’s encryption capabilities ensure secure transmission via the internet.

Computer Disks and Portable Storage Devices. Contractor may not use computer disks or
portable storage devices, such as a thumb drive, as a method of transmitting DHHS Data.

Encrypted Email. Contractor may only employ email to transmit Confidential Data if
email is encrypted and being sent to and being received by email addresses of persons
authorized to receive such information.

Encrypted Web Site. If Contractor is employing the Web to transmit Confidential
Data, the secure socket layers (SSL) must be used and the web site must be secure.
SSL encrypts data transmitted via a Web site.

File Hosting Services, also known as File Sharing Sites. Contractor may not use file
hosting services, such as Dropbox or Google Cloud Storage, to transmit Confidential
Data.

Ground Mail Service. Contractor may only transmit Confidential Data via certified
ground mail within the continental U.S. and when sent to a named individual.

Laptops and PDA. If Contractor is employing portable devices to transmit
Confidential Data said devices must be encrypted and password-protected.

Open Wireless Networks. Contractor may not transmit Confidential Data via an open
wireless network. End User must employ a virtual private network (VPN) when
remotely transmitting via an open wireless network.

Remote User Communication. If Contractor is employing remote communicatiossto
€M
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I11.

April, 2020

access or transmit Confidential Data, a secure method of transmission or remote
access, which complies with the terms and conditions of Exhibit K, must be used.

10. SSH File Transfer Protocol (SFTP), also known as Secure File Transfer Protocol. If

11.

Contractor is employing an SFTP to transmit Confidential Data, End User will
structure the Folder and access privileges to prevent inappropriate disclosure of
information. SFTP folders and sub-folders used for transmitting Confidential Data will
be coded for 24-hour auto-deletion cycle (i.e. Confidential Data will be deleted every 24
hours).

Wireless Devices. If Contractor is transmitting Confidential Data via wireless devices, all
data must be encrypted to prevent inappropriate disclosure of information.

RETENTION AND DISPOSITION OF IDENTIFIABLE RECORDS

The Contractor will only retain DHHS Data and any derivative of the data for the duration of
this Contract. After such time, the Contractor will have thirty (30) days to destroy the data
and any derivative in whatever form it may exist, unless, otherwise required by law or, if it is
infeasible to return or destroy DHHS Data, protections are extended to such information, in
accordance with the termination provisions in this Section. To this end, the parties must:

A. Retention

The Contractor agrees it will not store, transfer or process data collected in
connection with the services rendered under this Contract outside of the United
States. This physical location requirement shall also apply in the implementation of
cloud computing, cloud service or cloud storage capabilities, and includes backup
data and Disaster Recovery locations.

The Contractor agrees to ensure proper security monitoring capabilities are in place
to detect potential security events that can impact State of NH systems and/or
Department confidential information for contractor provided systems accessed or
utilized for purposes of carrying out this contract.

The Contractor agrees to provide security awareness and education for its End Users
in support of protecting DHHS Confidential information.

The Contractor agrees to retain all electronic and hard copies of Confidential Data
in a secure location and identified in section IV. A.2

The Contractor agrees Confidential Data stored in a Cloud must be in a
FedRAMP/HITECH compliant solution and comply with all applicable statutes and
regulations regarding the privacy and security. All servers and devices must have

currently-supported and hardened operating systems, current, updated, and —os
‘ (AL
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maintained anti-malware (e.g. anti-viral, anti-hacker, anti-spam, anti-spyware)
utilities. The environment, as a whole, must have aggressive intrusion-detection and
firewall protection.

6. The Contractor agrees to and ensures its complete cooperation with the State’s
Chief Information Officer in the detection of any security vulnerability of the
hosting infrastructure.

B. Disposition

If the Contractor maintains any Confidential Information on its systems (or its sub-
contractor systems) and it has not done so previously, the Contractor will implement
policies and procedures to ensure that any storage media on which such data maybe
recorded will be rendered unreadable and that the data will be un-recoverable when
the storage media is disposed of. Upon request, the Contractor will provide the
Department with copies of these policies and with written documentation
demonstrating compliance with the policies. The written documentation will include
all details necessary to demonstrate data contained in the storage media has been
rendered unreadable and un-recoverable. Where applicable, regulatory and
professional standards for retention requirements may be jointly evaluated by the
State and Contractor prior to destruction.

1. Unless otherwise specified, within thirty (30) days of the termination of this
Contract, Contractor agrees to destroy all hard copies of Confidential Data using a
secure method such as shredding.

2. Unless otherwise specified, within thirty (30) days of the termination of this
Contract, Contractor agrees to completely destroy all electronic Confidential Data
by means of data erasure, also known as secure data wiping.

IV. PROCEDURES FOR SECURITY

April, 2020

A. Contractor agrees to safeguard the DHHS Data received under this Contract, and any

derivative data or files, as follows:

1. The Contractor will maintain proper security controls to protect Department
confidential information collected, processed, managed, and/or stored in the delivery
of contracted services.

2. The Contractor will maintain policies and procedures to protect Department
confidential information throughout the information lifecycle, where applicable, (from
creation, transformation, use, storage and secure destruction) regardless of the media

Exhibit K Contractor Initials
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services

DHHS Security Requirements
Exhibit K

April, 2020

used to store the data (i.e., tape, disk, paper, etc.).

The Contractor will maintain appropriate authentication and access controls to
contractor systems that collect, transmit, or store Department confidential information
where applicable.

If the Contractor will be sub-contracting any core functions of the engagement
supporting the services for State of New Hampshire, the Contractor will ensure End-
User will maintain an internal process or processes that defines specific security
expectations, and monitoring compliance to security requirements that at a minimum
match those for the Contractor, including breach notification requirements.

The Contractor will work with the Department to sign and comply with all applicable
State of New Hampshire and Department system access and authorization policies and
procedures, systems access forms, and computer use agreements as part of obtaining
and maintaining access to any Department system(s). Agreements will be completed
and signed by the Contractor and any applicable sub-contractors prior to system access
being authorized.

If the Department determines the Contractor is a Business Associate pursuant to 45
CFR 160.103, the Contractor will execute a HIPAA Business Associate Agreement
(BAA) with the Department and is responsible for maintaining compliance with the
agreement.

The Contractor will not store any State of New Hampshire or Department data
offshore or outside the boundaries of the United States unless prior express written
consent is obtained from the Information Security Office leadership member within
the Department.

Data Security Breach Liability. In the event of any computer security incident,
incident, or breach Contractor shall make efforts to investigate the causes of the
breach, promptly take measures to prevent future breach and minimize any damage or
loss resulting from the breach. The State shall recover from the Contractor all costs of
response and recovery from the breach, including but not limited to: credit monitoring
services, mailing costs and costs associated with website and telephone call center
services necessary due to the breach.

Contractor must, comply with all applicable statutes and regulations regarding the
privacy and security of Confidential Information, and must in all other respects
maintain the privacy and security of PI and PHI at a level and scope that is not less
than the level and scope of, HIPAA Privacy and Security Rules (45 C.F.R. Parts 160

and 164) and 42 C.F.R. Part 2 that govern protections for individually identifjables
€)M
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services

DHHS Security Requirements
Exhibit K

April, 2020

health information and as applicable under State law.

10. Contractor agrees to establish and maintain appropriate administrative, technical, and
physical safeguards to protect the confidentiality of the Confidential Data and to
prevent unauthorized use or access to it. The safeguards must provide a level and
scope of security that is not less than the level and scope of security requirements
established by the State of New Hampshire, Department of Information Technology.
Refer to Vendor Resources/Procurement at https://www.nh.gov/doit/vendor/index.htm
for the Department of Information Technology policies, guidelines, standards, and
procurement information relating to vendors.

11. Contractor agrees to maintain a documented breach notification and incident response
process. The Contractor must notify the DHHS Security Office and the Program
Contact via the email addresses provided in Section VI of this Exhibit, immediately
upon the Contractor determining that a breach or security incident has occurred and
that DHHS confidential Information/data may have been exposed or compromised.
This includes a confidential information breach, computer security incident, or
suspected breach which affects or includes any State of New Hampshire systems that
connect to the State of New Hampshire network.

12. Contractor must restrict access to the Confidential Data obtained under this
Contract to only those authorized End Users who need such DHHS Data to perform
their official duties in connection with purposes identified in this Contract.

13. The Contractor is responsible for End User oversight and compliance with the
terms and conditions of the contract and Exhibit K.

DHHS reserves the right to conduct onsite inspections to monitor compliance with this
Contract, including the privacy and security requirements provided in herein, HIPAA,
and other applicable laws and Federal regulations until such time the Confidential Data
is disposed of in accordance with this Contract.

LOSS REPORTING

The Contractor must immediately notify the State’s Privacy Officer, Information
Security Office and Program Manager of any Security Incidents and Breaches as
specified in Section IV, paragraph 11 above.

The Contractor must further handle and report Incidents and Breaches involving PHI in
accordance with DHHS s documented Incident Handling and Breach Notification
procedures and in accordance with— the HIPAA, Privacy and Security Rules. In additjon

€)M
Exhibit K Contractor Initials
DHHS Information
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
DHHS Security Requirements
Exhibit K

VL

April, 2020

to, and notwithstanding, Contractor’s compliance with all applicable obligations and
procedures, Contractor’s procedures must also address how the Contractor will:

1. Identify Incidents;

2. Determine if personally identifiable information is involved in Incidents;

3. Report suspected or confirmed Incidents as required in this Exhibit or P-37;
4

Identify and convene a core response group to determine the risk level of Incidents
and determine risk-based responses to Incidents; and

5. Determine whether Breach notification is required, and, if so, identify appropriate
Breach notification methods, timing, source, and contents from among different
options, and bear costs associated with the Breach notice as well as any mitigation
measures.

Incidents and/or Breaches that implicate PI must be addressed and reported, as
applicable, in accordance with NH RSA 359-C:20.

PERSONS TO CONTACT

A. DHHS contact for Data Management or Data Exchange issues:
DHHSInformationSecurityOffice@dhhs.nh.gov

B. DHHS contacts for Privacy issues:
DHHSPrivacyOfficer@dhhs.nh.gov

C. DHHS contact for Information Security issues:
DHHSInformationSecurityOffice(@dhhs.nh.gov

D. DHHS contact for Breach notifications:
DHHSInformationSecurityOffice@dhhs.nh.gov
DHHSPrivacyOfficer(@dhhs.nh.gov

Exhibit K Contractor Initials
DHHS Information
Security Requirements 3/2/2022
Page 8 of 8 Date
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State of New Hampshire
Department of State

CERTIFICATE

1, William M. Gardner, Secretary of State of the State of New Hampshire, do hereby certify that MARY HITCHCOCK
MEMORIAL HOSPITAL is a New Hampshire Nonprofit Corporation registered to transact business in New Hampshire on
August 07, 1889. I further certify that all fees and documents required by the Secretary of State’s office have been received and is

in good standing as far as this office is concerned.

Business ID: 68517
Certificate Number: 0005357410

IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF,

I hereto set my hand and cause to be affixed
the Seal of the State of New Hampshire,
this 26th day of April A.D. 2021.

Dor o

William M. Gardner

Secretary of State
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock
Dartmouth-Hitchcock Medical Center

//// Dartmouth—H itchcock 1 Medical Cenler Drive

lebanon, NH 03756
Darimouth-Hitchcock.org

CERTIFICATE OF VOTE/AUTHORITY

I, Roberta L. Hines, MD, of Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic and Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital, do hereby certify that:

1. Iam the duly elected Chair of the Board of Trustees of Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic and Mary Hitchcock
Memorial Hospital;

2. The following is a true and accurate excerpt from the June 23", 2017 Bylaws of Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic and

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital:

ARTICLE I - Section A. Fiduciary Duty. Stewardship over Corporate Assets

“In exercising this [fiduciary] duty, the Board may, consistent with the Corporation’s Articles of Agreement and
these Bylaws, delegate authority to the Board of Governors, Board Committees and various officers the right to
give input with respect to issues and strategies, incur indebtedness, make expenditures, enter into contracts and
agreements and take such other binding actions on behalf of the Corporation as may be necessary or desirable in
furtherance of its charitable purposes.”

3. Article I — Section A, as referenced above, provides authority for the chief officers, including the Chief Executive
Officer, the Chief Clinical Officer, and other officers, of Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic and Mary Hitchcock
Memorial Hospital to sign and deliver, either individually or collectively, on behalf of Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic
and Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital.

4, Edward J. Merrens, MD, is the Chief Clinical Officer of Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic and Mary Hitchcock
Memorial Hospital and therefore has the authority to enter into contracts and agreements on behalf of Dartmouth-
Hitcheock Clinic and Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital.

5. The foregoing authority shall remain in full force and effect, and the State of New Hampshire shall be entitled to
rely upon same, until written notice of the modification, rescission or revocation of same, in whole or in part, has
been received by the State of New Hampshire. This Certificate shall be effective with respect to any agreement

executed or action taken in reliance upon this Certificate before such written notice is received by the State of
New Hampshire.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, 1 have hereunto set my hand as the Chair of the Board of Trustees of Dartmouth-Hitchcock
Clinic and Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital this ’kday of K02

|

Roberta L. Hmes, MD, Boald Chair

STATE OF NH
COUNTY OF GRAFTON

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this @L ﬁay of ¢ & Qg,?.by Robw@\bﬁﬁﬁ;’
( 7/0000’4 \)f/ /75

Notary Public

My Commission Expires: CZ&(& 7 A dg(fp 4,%4 m, P“ qf."f\
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COMPANY AFFORDING COVERAGE
Hamden Assurance Risk Retention Group, Inc.
P.O. Box 1687
30 Main Street, Suite 330
Burlington, VT 05401

DATE: February 1, 2022

This certificate is issued as a matter of information only
and confers no rights upon the Certificate Holder. This

INSURED
Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital
One Medical Center Drive
Lebanon, NH 03756

603)653-6850

have been reduced by paid claims.

Certificate does not amend, extend or alter the coverage
afforded by the policies below.

The Policy listed below has been issued to the Named Insured above for the Policy Period notwithstanding any
requirement, term or condition of any contract or other document with respect to which this certificate may be issued. The
insurance afforded by the policy is subject to all the terms, exclusions and conditions of the policy. Limits shown may

TYPE OF POLICY POLICY
INSURANCE POLICY NUMBER EFFECTIVE EXPIRATION LIMITS
DATE DATE
GENERAL 0002021-A 7/1/2021 7/1/2022 EACH $2,000,000
LIABILITY OCCURRENCE
DAMAGETO | $1,000,000
RENTED
PREMISES
MEDICAL
X | CLAIMS MADE EXPENSES s
PERSONAL & | $1,000,000
ADV INJURY
OCCURRENCE GENERAL
AGGREGATE $2,000,000
OTHER PRODUCTS- $1,000,000
COMP/OP AGG
0002021-A 7/1/2021 7/1/2022 EACHCLAIM | $1,000,000
PROFESSIONAL
LIABILITY
X | CLAIMS MADE NNUAL $3.000,000
AGGREGATE
OCCURENCE
OTHER

Certificate is issued as evidence of insurance.

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS/ LOCATIONS/ VEHICLES/ SPECIAL ITEMS (LIMITS MAY BE SUBJECT TO RETENTIONS)

CERTIFICATE HOLDER

NH Department of Health & Human Services
129 Pleasant Street
Concord, NH 03301

CANCELLATION

Should any of the above described policies be cancelled before the expiration date
thereof, the issuing company will endeavor to mail 30 DAYS written notice to the
certificate holder named below, but failure to mail such notice shall impose no
obligation or liability of any kind upon the company, its agents or representatives.

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES

AL
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//// Dartmouth-Hitchcock

Dartmouth-Hitchcock

Dartmouth-Hitchcock (D-H) is comprised of the Dartmouth-Hitchcock Medical Center
and several clinics throughout New Hampshire and Vermont. Our physicians and
researchers collaborate with Geisel School of Medicine scientists and faculty as well as
other leading health care organizations to develop new treatments at the cutting edge of
medical practice bringing the latest medical discoveries to the patient.

Dartmouth-Hitchcock includes:

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Medical Center (DHMC])

DHMC is the state's only academic medical center, and the only Level | Adult and Pediatric
Trauma Center in New Hampshire. The Dartmouth-Hitchcock Advanced Response Team
(DHART), based in Lebanon and Manchester, provides ground and air medical
transportation to communities throughout northern New England. DHMC was named in
2020 as the #1 hospital in New Hampshire by U.S. News & World Report
(https://health.usnews.com/best-hospitals/area/nh), and recognized for high performance in nine
clinical specialties, procedures, and conditions.
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The Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic

The Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic is a network of primary and speciality care physicians
located throughout New Hampshire and Vermont, with major community group practices
in Lebanon, Concord, Manchester, Nashua, and Keene, NH, and Bennington, VT.

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital is New Hampshire's only teaching hospital, with an
inpatient capacity of 396 beds.

Children’s Hospital at Dartmouth-Hitchcock (CHaD)

CHabD is New Hampshire's only children's hospital and a member of the Children's
Hospital Association, providing advanced pediatric inpatient, outpatient and surgical
services at DHMC in Lebanon as well as in Bedford, Concord, Manchester, Nashua, and
Dover, NH.
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Norris Cotton Cancer Center [NCCC)

NCCC is a designated Comprehensive Cancer Center by the National Cancer Institute,
and is one of the premier facilities for cancer treatment, research, prevention, and
education. Interdisciplinary teams, devoted to the treatment of specific types of cancer,
work together to care for patients of all ages in Lebanon, Manchester, Nashua, Keene, NH,
and St. Johnsbury, VT.

Our mission, vision, and values

Our mission

We advance health through research, education, clinical practice and community
partnerships, providing each person the best care, in the right place, at the right time,
every time.

Our vision

Achieve the healthiest population possible, leading the transformation of health care in
our region and setting the standard for our nation.

Our values

* Respect

* Integrity

e Commitment
e Transparency
e Trust

* Teamwork

e Stewardship
e Community
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Learn more apout us

* Facts and Figures

¢ Community Outreach
e Collaborations

* Population Health

¢ Awards and Honors

s History

Copyright © 2021 Dartmouth-Hitchcock. All rights reserved
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health
and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Financial Statements
June 30, 2020 and 2019
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Report of Independent Auditors

To the Board of Trustees of
Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and subsidiaries

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Dartmouth-Hitchcock
Health and its subsidiaries (the “Health System”), which comprise the consolidated balance sheets
as of June 30, 2020 and 2019, and the related consolidated statements of operations and changes
in net assets and of cash flows for the years then ended.

Management's Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to
the preparation and fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements based on our
audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the
United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on our
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider
internal control relevant to the Health System's preparation and fair presentation of the
consolidated financial statements in order to designaudit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Health
System's internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and its subsidiaries as of June 30,
2020 and 2019, and the results of their operations, changes in net assets and their cash flows for
the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, 101 Seaport Boulevard, Suite 500, Boston, MA 02210
T: (617) 530 5000, F: (617) 530 5001, www.pwc.com/us
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Emphasis of Matter

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Health System changed the
manner in which it accounts for leases and the presentation of net periodic pension costs in 2020.
Our opinion is not modified with respect to these matters.

Other Matter

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements taken as a whole. The consolidating information is the responsibility of management
and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to
prepare the consolidated financial statements. The consolidating information has been subjected to
the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the consolidated financial statements and certain
additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the consolidated financial statements or
to the consolidated financial statements themselves and other additional procedures, in
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our
opinion, the consolidating information is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the
consolidated financial statements taken as a whole. The consolidating information is presented for
purposes of additional analysis of the consolidated financial statements rather than to present the
financial position, results of operations, changes in net assets and cash flows of the individual
companies and is not a required part of the consolidated financial statements. Accordingly, we do
not express an opinion on the financial position, results of operations, changes in net assets and
cash flows of the individual companies.

Boston, Massachusetts
November 17, 2020
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Balance Sheets
June 30, 2020 and 2019

(in thousands of dollars) 2020 2019
Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 453,223 $ 143,587
Patient accounts receivable (Note 4) 183,819 221,125
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 161,906 95,495
Total current assets 798,948 460,207
Assets limited as to use (Notes 5 and 7) 1,134,526 876,249
Other investments for restricted activities (Notes 5 and 7) 140,580 134,119
Property, plant, and equipment, net (Note 6) 643,586 621,256
Right of use assets, net (Note 16) 57,585 -
Other assets 137,338 124,471
Total assets $ 2912563 $ 2,216,302

Liabilities and Net Assets
Current liabilities

Current portion of long-term debt (Note 10) $ 9467 % 10,914
Current portion of right of use obligations (Note 16) 14,775 -
Current portion of liability for pension and other postretirement
plan benefits (Note 11 and 14) 3,468 3,468
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 129,016 113,817
Accrued compensation and related benefits 142,991 128,408
Estimated third-party settlements (Note 4 and 17) 302,525 41,570
Total current liabilities 599,242 298,177
Long-term debt, excluding current portion (Note 10) 1,138,530 752,180
Long-term right of use obligations, excluding current portion (Note 18) 46,456 -
Insurance deposits and related liabilities (Note 12) 77,146 58,407
Liability for pension and other postretirement plan benefits,
excluding current portion (Note 11 and 14) 324,257 281,009
Other liabilities 143,678 124,136
Total liabilities 2,329,309 1,513,909
Commitments and contingencies (Notes 4, 6, 7, 10, 13, 16 and 17)
Net assets
Net assets without donor restrictions (Note 9) 431,026 559,933
Net assets with donor restrictions (Notes 8 and 9) 152,228 142,460
Total net assets 583,254 702,393
Total liabilities and net assets $ 2912563 $ 2,216,302

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

3
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets
Years Ended June 30, 2020 and 2019

(in thousands of dollars) 2020 2019
Operating revenue and other support
Patient service revenue (Note 4) $ 1,880,025 $ 1,999,323
Contracted revenue 74,028 75,017
Other operating revenue (Note 5) 374,622 210,698
Net assets released from restrictions 16,260 14,105
Total operating revenue and other support 2,344,935 2,299,143
Operating expenses
Salaries 1,144,823 1,062,551
Employee benefits 272,872 262,812
Medications and medical supplies 455,381 407,875
Purchased services and other 360,496 323,435
Medicaid enhancement tax (Note 4) 76,010 70,061
Depreciation and amortization 92,164 88,414
Interest (Note 10) 27,322 25,514
Total operating expenses 2,429,068 2,240,662
Operating (loss) income (84,133) 58,481
Non-operating gains (losses)
Investment income, net (Note 5) 27,047 40,052
Other components of net periodic pension and post
retirement benefit income (Note 11) 10,810 11,221
Other losses, net (Note 10) (2,707) (3,562)
Loss on early extinguishment of debt - (87)
Total non-operating gains, net 35,150 47,624
(Deficiency) excess of revenue over expenses $ (48,983) $ 106,105

Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets — Continues on Next Page
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

4
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets - Continued

Years Ended June 30, 2020 and 2019

(in thousands of dollars) 2020 2019

Net assets without donor restrictions

(Deficiency) excess of revenue over expenses 3 (48,983) $ 106,105

Net assets released from restrictions for capital 1,414 1,769

Change in funded status of pension and other postretirement

benefits (Note 11) (79,022) (72,043)

Other changes in net assets (2,316) -
(Decrease) increase in net assets without donor restrictions (128,907) 35,831

Net assets with donor restrictions

Gifts, bequests, sponsored activities 26,312 17,436

Investment income, net 1,130 2,682

Net assets released from restrictions (17,674) (15,874)

Contribution of assets with donor restrictions from acquisition - 383
Increase in net assets with donor restrictions 9,768 4,627
Change in net assets (119,139) 40,458

Net assets

Beginning of year 702,393 661,935

End of year $ 583,254 $ 702,393

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

5
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Years Ended June 30, 2020 and 2019

(in thousands of dollars) 2020 2019

Cash flows from operating activities

Change in net assets $ (119,139) $ 40,458
Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to

net cash provided by operating and non-operating activities

Depreciation and amortization 93,857 88,770
Amortization of right of use asset 8,218 -
Payments on right of use lease obligations - operating (7,941) -
Change in funded status of pension and other postretirement benefits 79,022 72,043
Gain on disposal of fixed assets (39) (1,101)
Net realized gains and change in net unrealized gains on investments (14,060) (31,397)
Restricted contributions and investment earnings (3,605) (2,292)
Proceeds from sales of securities - 1,167
Changes in assets and liabilities
Patient accounts receivable 37,306 (1,803)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets (78,907) 2,149
Other assets, net (13,385) (9,052)
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 9,772 17,898
Accrued compensation and related benefits 14,583 2,335
Estimated third-party settlements 260,955 429
Insurance deposits and related liabilities 18,739 2,378
Liability for pension and other postretirement benefits (35,774) (33,104)
Other liabilities 19,542 12,267
Net cash provided by operating and non-operating activities 269,144 161,145
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant, and equipment (128,019) (82,279)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant, and equipment 2,987 2,188
Purchases of investments (321,152) (361,407)
Proceeds from maturities and sales of investments 82,986 219,996
Cash received through acquisition - 4,863
Net cash used in investing activities (363,198) (216,639)
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from line of credit 35,000 30,000
Payments on line of credit (35,000) (30,000)
Repayment of long-term debt (10,665) (29,490)
Proceeds from issuance of debt 415,336 26,338
Repayment of finance lease (2,429) -
Payment of debt issuance costs (2,1587) (228)
Restricted contributions and investment earnings 3,605 2,292
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 403,690 (1,088)
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 309,636 (56,582)
Cash and cash equivalents
Beginning of year 143,587 200,169
End of year $ 453223 % 143,687
Supplemental cash flow information
Interest paid $ 22562 $ 23,977
Net assets acquired as part of acquisition, net of cash aquired - (4,863)
Construction in progress included in accounts payable and
accrued expenses 1777 1,546
Donated securities - 1,167

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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1. Organization and Community Benefit Commitments

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health (D-HH) serves as the sole corporate member of the following entities:
Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic and Subsidiaries (DHC), Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital and
Subsidiaries (MHMH), (DHC and MHMH together are referred to as D-H), The New London
Hospital Association and Subsidiaries (NLH), Windsor Hospital Corporation (d/b/a Mt. Ascutney
Hospital and Health Center) and Subsidiaries (MAHHC), Cheshire Medical Center and Subsidiaries
(Cheshire), Alice Peck Day Memorial Hospital and Subsidiary (APD), and the Visiting Nurse and
Hospice for Vermont and New Hampshire and Subsidiaries (VNH). The “Health System” consists
of D-HH, its members and their subsidiaries.

The Health System currently operates one tertiary, one community and three acute care (critical
access) hospitals in New Hampshire (NH) and Vermont (VT). One facility provides inpatient and
outpatient rehabilitation medicine and long-term care. The Health System also operates multiple
physician practices, a nursing home, a continuing care retirement community, and a home health
and hospice service. The Health System operates a graduate level program for health professions
and is the principal teaching affiliate of the Geisel School of Medicine (Geisel), a component of
Dartmouth College.

D-HH, Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic, Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital, The New London Hospital
Association, Cheshire Medical Center, and Alice Peck Day Memorial Hospital are NH not-for-profit
corporations exempt from federal income taxes under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue
Code (IRC). Windsor Hospital Corporation and the Visiting Nurse and Hospice for VT and NH are
VT not-for-profit corporations exempt from federal income taxes under Section 501(c)(3) of the
IRC.

On September 30, 2019, D-HH and GraniteOne Health (‘GOH") entered into an agreement (“The
Combination Agreement”) to combine their respective healthcare systems. The GOH system is
comprised of Catholic Medical Center (“CMC"), an acute care community hospital in Manchester,
New Hampshire, Huggins Hospital (*HH") located in Wolfeboro, NH and Monadnock Community
Hospital, (‘MCH") located in Petersborough, NH. Both HH and MCH are designated as Critical
Access Hospitals. The three member hospitals of GOH have a combined licensed bed count of 380
beds. GOH is a non-profit, community based health care system. The overarching rationale for the
proposed combination is to improve access to high quality primary and specialty care in the most
convenient, cost-effective sites of service for patients and the communities served by D-HH and
GOH. Other stated benefits of the combination include reinforcing the rural health network,
investing in needed capacity to accommodate unmet and anticipated demand, and drawing on our
combined strengths to attract the necessary health care workforce. The parties have submitted
regulatory filings with the Federal Trade Commission and the New Hampshire Attorney General's
office seeking approval of the proposed transaction.

Community Benefits

The mission of the Health System is to advance health through clinical practice and community
partnerships, research and education, providing each person the best care, in the right place, at the
right time, every time.

Consistent with this mission, the Health System provides high quality, cost effective,
comprehensive, and integrated healthcare to individuals, families, and the communities it serves
regardless of a patient’s ability to pay. The Health System actively supports community-based
healthcare and promotes the coordination of services among healthcare providers and social
services organizations. In addition, the Health System also seeks to work collaboratively with other
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area healthcare providers to improve the health status of the region. As a component of an
integrated academic medical center, the Health System provides significant support for academic
and research programs.

Certain member hospitals of the Health System file annual Community Benefits Reports with the
State of NH which outline the community and charitable benefits each provides. VT hospitals are
not required by law to file a state community benefit report. The categories used in the Community
Benefit Reports to summarize these benefits are as follows:

Community Health Services include activities carried out to improve community health and
could include community health education (such as classes, programs, support groups, and
materials that promote wellness and prevent iliness), community-based clinical services (such
as free clinics and health screenings), and healthcare support services (enrollment assistance
in public programs, assistance in obtaining free or reduced costs medications, telephone
information services, or transportation programs to enhance access to care, etc.).

Health Professions Education includes uncompensated costs of training medical students,
Residents, nurses, and other health care professionals

Subsidized health services are services provided by the Health System, resulting in financial
losses that meet the needs of the community and would not otherwise be available unless the
responsibility was assumed by the government.

Research support and other grants represent costs in excess of awards for numerous health
research and service initiatives awarded to the organizations within the Health System.

Financial Contributions include financial contributions of cash, as well as in-kind contributions
such as time, supplies, and expertise to local organizations to address community health
needs.

Community-Building Activities include expenses incurred to support the development of
programs and partnerships intended to address public health challenges as well as social and
economic determinants of health. Examples include physical improvements and housing,
economic development, support system enhancements, environmental improvements,
leadership development and training for community members, community health improvement
advocacy, and workforce enhancement.

Community Benefit Operations includes costs associated with staff dedicated to administering
benefit programs, community health needs assessment costs, and other costs associated with
community benefit planning and operations.

Charity Care and Costs of Government Sponsored Health Care includes losses, at-cost,
incurred by providing health care services to persons qualifying for hospital financial
assistance programs, and uncompensated costs of providing health care services to patients
who are Medicaid Beneficiaries.

The uncompensated cost of care for Medicaid patients reported in the unaudited Community
Benefits Reports for 2019 was approximately $143,013,000. The 2020 Community Benefits
Reports are expected to be filed in February 2021.
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The following table summarizes the value of the community benefit initiatives outlined in the Health

System’s most recently filed Community Benefit Reports for the year ended June 30, 2019:

(in thousands of dollars)

Government-sponsored healthcare services $ 291,013
Health professional education 40,621
Charity care 15,281
Subsidized health services 15,165
Community health services 6,895
Research 5,238
Community building activities 3,777
Financial contributions 1,597
Community benefit operations 1,219

Total community benefit value $ 380,806

In fiscal years 2020 and 2019, funds received to offset or subsidize charity care costs provided
were $1,224,000 and $487,000, respectively.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements are prepared on the accrual basis of accounting in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and
have been prepared consistent with the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting
Standards Codification (ASC) 954, Healthcare Entities, which addresses the accounting for
healthcare entities. The net assets, revenue, expenses, and gains and losses of healthcare
entities are classified based on the existence or absence of donor-imposed restrictions.
Accordingly, net assets without donor restrictions are amounts not subject to donor-imposed
stipulations and are available for operations. Net assets with donor restrictions are those whose
use has been limited by donors to a specific time period or purpose, or whose use has been
restricted by donors to be maintained in perpetuity. All significant intercompany transactions have
been eliminated upon consolidation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the dates of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts
of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. The most significant areas that are
affected by the use of estimates include implicit and explicit pricing concessions, valuation of
certain investments, estimated third-party settlements, insurance reserves, and pension
obligations. Actual results may differ from those estimates.

(Deficiency) Excess of Revenue over Expenses

The consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets include the (deficiency)
excess of revenue over expenses. Operating revenues consist of those items attributable to the
care of patients, including contributions and investment income on investments of net assets
without donor restrictions, which are utilized to provide charity and other operational support.
Peripheral activities, including contribution of net assets without donor restrictions from
acquisitions, loss on early extinguishment of debt, realized gains/losses on sales of investment
securities and changes in unrealized gains/losses on investments are reported as non-operating
gains (losses).

Changes in net assets without donor restrictions which are excluded from the (deficiency) excess
of revenue over expenses, consistent with industry practice, include contributions of long-lived
assets (including assets acquired using contributions which by donor restriction were to be used for
the purpose of acquiring such assets, and change in funded status of pension and other
postretirement benefit plans.

Charity Care

The Health System provides care to patients who meet certain criteria under their financial
assistance policies without charge or at amounts less than their established rates. Because the
Health System does not anticipate collection of amounts determined to qualify as charity care, they
are not reported as revenue.
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The Health System grants credit without collateral to patients. Most are local residents and are
insured under third-party arrangements. The amount of charges for implicit price concessions is
based upon management’s assessment of historical and expected net collections, business and
economic conditions, trends in federal and state governmental healthcare coverage, and other
collection indicators (Notes 1 and 4).

Patient Service Revenue

The Health System applies the accounting provisions of ASC 608, Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (ASC 606). Patient service revenue is reported at the amount of consideration to which
the Health System expects to be entitled from patients, third party payors, and others for services
rendered, including estimated retroactive adjustments under reimbursement agreements with third-
party payors and implicit pricing concessions. Retroactive adjustments are accrued on an
estimated basis in the period the related services are rendered and adjusted in future periods as
estimates change or final settlements are determined (Note 4).

Contracted Revenue

The Health System has various Professional Service Agreements (PSAs), pursuant to which
certain organizations purchase services of personnel employed by the Health System and also
lease space and equipment. Revenue pursuant to these PSAs and certain facility and equipment
leases and other professional service contracts have been classified as contracted revenue in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets.

Other Revenue

The Health System recognizes other revenue which is not related to patient medical care but is
central to the day-to-day operations of the Health System. Other revenue primarily consists of
revenue from retail pharmacy, which the Health System records as customer revenues in the
amounts that reflect the consideration to which it expects to be entitled in exchange for the
prescription. Other revenue also includes the Department of Health and Human Services (“HHS”)
Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Securities Act (‘“CARES Act” Provider Relief Funds
(“Provider Relief Funds”) operating agreements, grant revenue, cafeteria sales and other support
service revenue.

Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include amounts on deposit with financial institutions; short-term
investments with maturities of three months or less at the time of purchase and other highly liquid
investments, primarily cash management funds. Short-term highly liquid investments held within
the endowment and similar investment pools are classified as investments rather than cash
equivalents and restricted cash is defined as that which is legally restricted to withdrawal and
usage.

Investments and Investment Income

Investments in equity securities with readily determinable fair values, mutual funds, governmental
securities, debt securities, and pooled/commingled funds are reported at fair value with changes in
fair value included in the (deficiency) excess of revenues over expenses. Fair value is the price
that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date (Note 7).

Investments in pooled/commingled investment funds, private equity funds and hedge funds that
represent investments where the Health System owns shares or units of funds rather than the
underlying securities in that fund are valued using the equity method of accounting with changes in
value recorded in the (deficiency) excess of revenues over expenses. All investments, whether
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held at fair value or under the equity method of accounting, are reported at what the Health System
believes to be the amount they would expect to receive if it liquidated its investments at the balance
sheet dates on a non-distressed basis.

Certain members of the Health System are partners in a NH general partnership established for the
purpose of operating a master investment program of pooled investment accounts. Substantially
all of the Health System's board-designated and assets with donor restrictions, such as endowment
funds, were invested in these pooled funds by purchasing units based on the market value of the
pooled funds at the end of the month prior to receipt of any new additions to the funds. Interest,
dividends, and realized and unrealized gains and losses earned on pooled funds are allocated
monthly based on the weighted average units cutstanding at the prior month-end.

Investment income or losses (including change in unrealized and realized gains and losses on
investments, change in value of equity method investments, interest, and dividends) are included in
the (deficiency) excess of revenue over expenses and classified as non-operating gains and
losses, unless the income or loss is restricted by donor or law (Note 9).

Fair Value Measurement of Financial Instruments

The Health System estimates fair value based on a valuation framework that uses a fair value
hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. The
hierarchy gives the highest priority to quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities (Level 1 measurements) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3
measurements). The three levels of fair value hierarchy, as defined by ASC 820, Fair Value
Measurements and Disclosures, are described below:

Level 1 Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets that are accessible at the measurement
date for assets or liabilities.

Level 2 Prices other than quoted prices in active markets that are either directly or indirectly
observable as of the date of measurement.

Level 3 Prices or valuation techniques that are both significant to the fair value measurement
and unobservable.

The Health System applies the accounting provisions of Accounting Standards Update (ASU)
2009-12, Investments in Certain Entities That Calculate Net Asset Value per Share (or its
Equivalent) (ASU 2009-12). ASU 2009-12 allows for the estimation of fair value of investments for
which the investment does not have a readily determinable fair value, to use net asset value (NAV)
per share or its equivalent as a practical expedient, subject to the Health System’s ability to redeem
its investment.

The carrying amounts of patient accounts receivable, prepaid and other current assets, accounts
payable and accrued expenses approximate fair value due to the short maturity of these
instruments.

Property, Plant, and Equipment

Property, plant, and equipment, and other real estate are stated at cost at the time of purchase or
fair value at the time of donation, less accumulated depreciation. The Health System’s policy is to
capitalize expenditures for major improvements and to charge expense for maintenance and repair
expenditures which do not extend the lives of the related assets. The provision for depreciation
has been determined using the straight-line method at rates which are intended to amortize the
cost of assets over their estimated useful lives which range from 10 to 40 years for buildings and
improvements, 2 to 20 years for equipment, and the shorter of the lease term, or 5 to 12 years, for
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leasehold improvements. Certain software development costs are amortized using the straight-line
method over a period of up to 10 years. Net interest cost incurred on borrowed funds during the
period of construction of capital assets is capitalized as a component of the cost of acquiring those
assets.

The fair value of a liability for legal obligations associated with asset retirements is recognized in
the period in which it is incurred, if a reasonable estimate of the fair value of the obligation can be
made. When a liability is initially recorded, the cost of the asset retirement obligation is capitalized
by increasing the carrying amount of the related long-lived asset. Over time, the liability is accreted
to its present value each period and the capitalized cost associated with the retirement is
depreciated over the useful life of the related asset. Upon settiement of the obligation, any
difference between the actual cost to settle the asset retirement obligation and the liability recorded
is recognized as a gain or loss in the consolidated statements of operations and changes in net
assets.

Gifts of capital assets such as land, buildings, or equipment are reported as support, and excluded
from the (deficiency) excess of revenue over expenses, unless explicit donor stipulations specify
how the donated assets must be used. Gifts of capital assets with explicit restrictions that specify
how the assets are to be used and gifts of cash or other assets that must be used to acquire capital
assets are reported as restricted support. Absent explicit donor stipulations about how long those
capital assets must be maintained, expirations of donor restrictions are reported when the donated
or acquired capital assets are placed in service.

Bond Issuance Costs

Bond issuance costs, classified on the consolidated balance sheets within long-term debt, are
amortized over the term of the related bonds. Amortization is recorded within interest expense in
the consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets using the straight-line method
which approximates the effective interest method.

Intangible Assets and Goodwill

The Health System records within other assets on the consolidated balance sheets goodwill and
intangible assets such as trade names and leases-in-place. The Health System considers trade
names and goodwill to be indefinite-lived assets, assesses them at least annually for impairment or
more frequently if certain events or circumstances warrant and recognizes impairment charges for
amounts by which the carrying values exceed their fair values. The Health System has recorded
$10,007,000 and $10,524,000 as intangible assets associated with its affiliations as of June 30,
2020 and 2019, respectively.

Gifts

Gifts without donor restrictions are recorded net of related expenses as non-operating gains.
Conditional promises to give and indications of intentions to give to the Health System are reported
at fair value at the date the gift is received. Gifts are reported with donor restrictions if they are
received with donor stipulations that limit the use of the donated assets. When a donor restriction
expires, that is, when a stipulated time restriction ends or purpose restriction is accomplished, net
assets with donor restrictions are reclassified as net assets without donor restrictions and reported
in the consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets as net assets released
from restrictions.
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Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In January 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-01- Recognition and Measurement of Financial
Assets and Financial Liabilities, which addresses certain aspects of recognition, measurement,
presentation and disclosure of financial instruments. This guidance allows an entity to choose,
investment-by-investment, to report an equity investment that neither has a readily determinable
fair value, nor qualifies for the practical expedient for fair value estimation using NAV, at its cost
minus impairment (if any), plus or minus changes resulting from observable price changes in
orderly transactions for the identical or similar investment of the same issue. Impairment of such
investments must be assessed qualitatively at each reporting period. Entities must disclose their
financial assets and liabilities by measurement category and form of asset either on the face of the
balance sheet or in the accompanying notes. The ASU is effective for annual reporting periods
beginning after December 15, 2018 or fiscal year 2020 for the Health System. The provision to
eliminate the requirement to disclose the fair value of financial instruments measured at cost (such
as the fair value of debt) was early adopted during the year ended June 30, 2017. The standard
has been adopted during the current fiscal year and no material impact was noted.

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02 — Leases (Topic 842). Under the new guidance,
lessees are required to recognize the following for all leases (with the exception of leases with a
term of twelve months or less) at the commencement date: (a) a lease liability, which is a lessee’s
obligation to make lease payments arising from a lease, measured on a discounted basis; and (b) a
right-of-use asset, which is an asset that represents the lessee’s right to use, or control the use of,
a specified asset for the lease term. Leases are classified as either operating or finance. Operating
leases result in straight-line expense in the statement of operations (similar to previous operating
leases), while finance leases result in more expense being recognized in the earlier years of the
lease term (similar to previous capital leases). The Health System adopted the new standard on
July 1, 2019 using the modified retrospective approach. The Health System elected the transition
method that allows for the application of the standard at the adoption date rather than at the
beginning of the earliest comparative period presented in the consolidated financial statements.
The Health System also elected available practical expedients (Note 16).

In March 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-07, Compensation — Retirement Benefits (Topic 715):
Improving the Presentation of Net Periodic Pension Cost and Net Periodic Postretirement Benefit
Cost. Under the new standard, the service cost component of the net benefit cost will be included
within income from operations as a component of benefits expenses and the other components of
net benefit cost as defined by ASC 715 will be reported in non-operating activities within the
consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets. The standard also prohibits
reporting of the other components of net benefit cost in the same line as other pension related
changes on the statements of operations and changes in net assets. ASU 2017-07 is effective for
the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020 and is applied on a retrospective basis.

Reclassifications
As a result of adopting the provisions of ASU 2017-07, the Health System reclassified $11,221,000
from benefits expense to non-operating activities within the consolidated statements of operations

and changes in net assets for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019. The amount included in non-
operating activities for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2020 was $10,810,000.
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3. Acquisition

Effective July 1, 2018, Alice Peck Day Memorial Hospital became the sole corporate member of
APD LifeCare Center Inc. (LifeCare). LifeCare owns and operates Harvest Hill, an assisted living
facility, the Woodlands, a residential living community and the Elizabeth S. Hughes Care Unit,
which provides hospice care.

In accordance with applicable accounting guidance on not-for-profit mergers and acquisitions, Alice
Peck Day Memorial Hospital recorded goodwill related to the acquisition of LifeCare of
approximately $5,131,000. Restricted contribution income of $383,000 was recorded within net
assets with donor restrictions in the accompanying consolidated statement of changes in net
assets. Included in the transaction was LifeCare’s cash balance of $4,863,000. No consideration
was exchanged for the net assets assumed and acquisition costs were expensed as incurred.

4. Patient Service Revenue and Accounts Receivable

The Health System reports patient service revenue at amounts that reflect the consideration to
which it expects to be entitled in exchange for providing patient care. These amounts are due from
patients, third-party payers (including managed care payers and government programs), and
others; and they include variable consideration for retroactive revenue adjustments due to
settlement of audits, reviews, and investigations. Generally, the Health System bills patients and
third-party payers several days after the services were performed or shortly after discharge.
Revenue is recognized as performance obligations are satisfied under contracts by providing
healthcare services to patients.

The Health System determines performance cbligations based on the nature of the services
provided. Revenues for performance obligations satisfied over time are recognized based on
actual charges incurred in relation to total expected charges as this method provides a reasonable
estimate of the transfer of services over the term of performance obligations based on inputs
needed to satisfy the obligations. Generally, performance obligations satisfied over time relate to
patients receiving inpatient acute care services. For inpatient services, performance obligations
are measured from admission to the point when there are no further services required for the
patient, which is generally the time of discharge. For outpatient services and physician services,
performance obligations are recognized at a point in time when the services are provided and no
further patient services are deemed necessary.

Generally, the Health System’s patient service performance obligations relate to contracts with a
duration of less than one year, therefore the Health System has elected to apply the optional
exemption provided in ASC 606-10-50-14a and, therefore, we are not required to disclose the
aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to performance obligations that are unsatisfied
or partially unsatisfied at the end of the reporting period. This generally refers to inpatient services
at the end of the reporting period. The performance obligations for these contracts are generally
completed when the patients are discharged, which generally occurs within days or weeks of the
end of the reporting period.

Established charges represent gross charges. They are not the same as actual pricing, and they
generally do not reflect what a hospital is ultimately entitled to for services it provides. Therefore,
they are not displayed in the Health System'’s consolidated statements of operations and changes
in net assets.
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Hospitals are paid amounts negotiated with insurance companies or set by government entities,
which are typically less than established or standard charges. Gross charges are used to calculate
Medicare outlier payments and to determine certain elements of payment under managed care
contracts. Gross charges are what hospitals charge all patients prior to the application of
contractual adjustments and implicit price concessions.

Explicit Pricing Concessions

Revenues for the Health System under the traditional fee-for service Medicare and Medicaid
programs are based on prospectively determined rates per discharge or visit, reasonable
(allowable) cost, or prospective rates per episodic period, depending on the type of provider.

. Inpatient acute care services provided to Medicare program beneficiaries are paid using the
prospective payment system (“PPS”) to determine rates-per-discharge. These rates vary
according to a patient classification system ("DRG"), based on diagnostic, clinical and other
factors. In addition, inpatient capital costs (depreciation and interest) are reimbursed by
Medicare on the basis of a prospectively determined rate per discharge. Medicare
outpatient services are paid on a prospective payment system, based on a pre-determined
amount for each outpatient procedure (APC), subject to various mandated modifications.
Retrospectively determined cost-based revenues under these programs, such as indirect
medical education, direct graduate medical education, disproportionate share hospital,
transplant services, and bad debt reimbursement are based on the hospital's cost reports
and are estimated using historical trends and current factors. The Health System’s
payments for inpatient services rendered to New Hampshire (‘NH") and Vermont (‘VT")
Medicaid beneficiaries are based on PPS, while outpatient services are reimbursed on a
retrospective cost basis or fee schedules for NH beneficiaries. VT outpatient beneficiaries
are paid on a prospective basis per outpatient procedure.

. Inpatient acute, swing, and outpatient services furnished by critical access hospitals (*CAH")
are reimbursed by Medicare at 101% of reasonable costs, subject to 2% sequestration,
excluding ambulance services and inpatient hospice care.

. Providers of home health services to patients eligible for Medicare home health benefits are
paid on a prospective basis, with no retrospective settlement. The prospective payment is
based on the scoring attributed to the acuity level of the patient at a rate determined by
federal guidelines.

. Hospice services to patients eligible for Medicare hospice benefits are paid on a per diem
basis, with no retrospective settlement, provided the aggregate annual Medicare
reimbursement is below a predetermined aggregate capitated rate.

. The Health System’s cost based services to Medicare and Medicaid are reimbursed during
the year based on varying interim payment methodologies. Final settlement is determined
after the submission of an annual cost report and subject to audit of this report by Medicare
and Medicaid auditors, as well as administrative and judicial review. Because the laws,
regulations, and rule interpretations, governing Medicare and Medicaid reimbursement are
complex and change frequently, the estimates recorded could change over time by material
amounts.

. Revenues under Managed Care Plans (Plans) consist primarily of payment terms involving

mutually agreed upon rates per diagnosis, discounted fee-for service rates, or similar
contractual arrangements. These revenues are also subject to review and possible audit.
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The Plans are billed for patient services on an individual patient basis. An individual
patient's bill is subject to adjustments in accordance with contractual terms in place with the
Plans following their review and adjudication of each bill.

The Health System is not aware of any claims, disputes, or unsettled matters with any payer that
would materially affect its revenues for which it has not adequately provided in the accompanying
Health System'’s consolidated financial statements.

The Health System provides charity care to patients who are unable to pay for healthcare services
they receive as determined by financial conditions. Patients who qualify receive partial or full
adjustments to charges for services rendered. The Health System'’s policy is to treat amounts
qualified as charity care as explicit price concessions and as such are not reported in net patient
service revenue.

Vermont imposes a provider tax on home health agencies in the amount of 4.25% of annual net
patient revenue. In fiscal years 2020 and 2019, home health provider taxes paid were $624,000
and $628,000, respectively.

Medicaid Enhancement Tax & Disproportionate Share Hospital

On May 22, 2018, the State of New Hampshire and all New Hampshire hospitals (Hospitals)
agreed to resolve disputed issues and enter into a seven-year agreement to stabilize
Disproportionate Share Hospital (DSH) payments, with provisions for alternative payments in the
event of legislative changes to the DSH program. Under the agreement, the State committed to
make DSH payments to the Hospitals in an amount no less than 86% of the Medicaid
Enhancement Tax (MET) proceeds collected in each fiscal year, in addition to providing for directed
payments or increased rates for Hospitals in an amount equal to 5% of MET proceeds collected
from state fiscal year (SFY) 2020 through SFY 2024. The agreement prioritizes DSH payments to
critical access hospitals in an amount equal to 75% of allowable uncompensated care (UCC), with
the remainder distributed to Hospitals without critical access designation in proportion to their
allowable UCC amounts.

During the years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, the Health System received DSH payments of
approximately, $71,133,000 and $69,179,000 respectively. DSH payments are subject to audit and
therefore, for the years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, the Health System recognized as revenue
DSH receipts of approximately $67,500,000 and approximately $64,864,000, respectively.

During the years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, the Health System recorded State of NH MET
and State of VT Provider taxes of $76,010,000 and $70,061,000, respectively. The taxes are
calculated at 5.4% for NH and 6% for VT of certain patient service revenues. The Provider taxes
are included in operating expenses in the consolidated statements of operations and changes in
net assets.

Implicit Price Concessions

Generally, patients who are covered by third-party payer contracts are responsible for related co-
pays, co-insurance and deductibles, which vary depending on the contractual obligations of
patients. The Health System also provides services to uninsured patients and offers those patients
a discount from standard charges. The Health System estimates the transaction price for patients
with co-pays, co-insurance, and deductibles and for those who are uninsured based on historical
collection experience and current market conditions. The discount offered to uninsured patients
reduces the transaction price at the time of billing. The uninsured and patient responsible

17



DocuSign Envelope ID: 28FBD250-AC09-42CA-9C7D-9B5907B5A5A9

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2020 and 2019

accounts, net of discounts recorded, are further reduced through implicit price concessions based
on historical collection trends for similar accounts and other known factors that impact the
estimation process. Subsequent changes to the estimate of transaction price are generally
recorded as adjustments to net patient services revenue in the period of change.

The implicit price concessions included in estimating the transaction price represent the difference
between amounts billed to patients and the amounts the Health System expects to collect based on
collection history with similar patients. Although outcomes vary, the Health System’s policy is to
attempt to collect amounts due from patients, including co-pays, co-insurance and deductibles due
from insurance at the time of service while complying with all federal and state statutes and
regulations, including but not limited to, the Emergency Medical Treatment and Active Labor Act
(EMTALA). Through various systems and processes the Health System estimates Medicare and
Medicaid net patient service revenue and cost report settlements and accrues final expected
settlements. For filed cost reports, the accrual is recorded based on those filings, subsequent
activity, and on historical trends and other relevant evidence. For periods in which a cost report is
yet to be filed, accruals are based on estimates of what is expected to be reported, and any trends
and relevant evidence. Cost reports generally must be filed within five months of the closing
period.

Settlements with third-party payers for retroactive revenue adjustments due to audits, reviews or
investigations are considered variable consideration and are included in the determination of the
estimated transaction price for providing patient care using the most likely amount. These
settlements are estimated based on the terms of the payment agreement with the payer,
correspondence from the payer and historical settlement activity, including assessments to ensure
that it is probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognized will not
occur when the uncertainty associated with the retroactive adjustment is subsequently resolved.
Estimated settlements are adjusted in future periods as adjustments become known, or as years
are settled or are no longer subject to such audits, reviews or investigations. As of June 30, 2020
and 2019, the Health System had reserves of $302,525,000 and $41,570,000, respectively,
recorded in Estimated third-party settlements. Included in the 2020 Estimated third party
settlements is $239,500,000 of Medicare accelerated and advanced payments, received as
working capital support during the novel coronavirus (“COVID-19") outbreak at June 30, 2020. In
addition, $10,900,000 has been recorded in Other liabilities as of June 30, 2020 and 2019,
respectively.

For the years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, additional increases in revenue of $2,314,000 and
$1,800,000, respectively, were recognized due to changes in estimates of implicit price
concessions for performance obligations satisfied in prior years.

Net operating revenues for the hospital operations of the PPS and CAH, and other business
segments consist primarily of patient service revenues, principally for patients covered by
Medicare, Medicaid, managed care and other health plans as well as patients covered under the
Health System'’s uninsured discount and charity care programs.
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The table below shows the Health System'’s sources of net operating revenues presented at the net
transaction price for the years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019.

(in thousands of dollars)

Hospital
Medicare
Medicaid
Commercial
Self Pay
Subtotal

Professional
Professional
VNA
Other Revenue
Provider Relief Fund
Total operating revenue and
other support

’

(in thousands of dollars)

Hospital
Medicare
Medicaid
Commercial
Self Pay
Subtotal

Professional
Professional
VNA
Other Revenue
Total operating revenue and
other support

Accounts Receivable

2020

PPS CAH Total
$ 461,990 $ 64,087 $ 526,077
130,901 10,636 141,537
718,576 60,715 779,291
2,962 2,501 5,463
1,314,429 137,939 1,452,368
383,503 22,848 406,351
- - 21,306
- - 376,185
- - 88,725
$ 1,697,932 $ 160,787 $ 2,344,935

2019

PPS CAH Total
$ 456,197 $ 72,193 $ 528,390
134,727 12,794 147,521
746,647 64,981 811,628
8,811 2,313 11,124
1,346,382 152,281 1,498,663
454,425 23.707 478,132
- - 22,528
- - 299,820
$ 1,800,807 $ 175,988 $ 2,299,143

The following table categorizes payors into four groups based on their respective percentages of
patient accounts receivable as of June 30, 2020 and 2019:

Medicare
Medicaid
Commercial
Self Pay
Patient accounts receivable

2020 2019
36% 34%
13% 12%
39% 41%
12% 13%
100% 100%
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5. Investments
The composition of investments at June 30, 2020 and 2019 is set forth in the following table:
(in thousands of dollars) 2020 2019

Assets limited as to use
Internally designated by board

Cash and short-term investments $ 9646 $ 21,890
U.S. government securities 103,977 91,492
Domestic corporate debt securities 199,462 196,132
Global debt securities 70,145 83,580
Domestic equities 203,010 167,384
International equities 123,205 128,909
Emerging markets equities 22,879 23,086
Real Estate Investment Trust 313 213
Private equity funds 74,131 64,563
Hedge funds 36,964 32,287
843,732 809,536
Investments held by captive insurance companies (Note 12)
U.S. government securities 15,402 23,241
Domestic corporate debt securities 8,651 11,378
Global debt securities 8,166 10,080
Domestic equities 15,150 14,617
International equities 7,227 6,766
54,596 66,082
Held by trustee under indenture agreement (Note 10)
Cash and short-term investments 236,198 631
Total assets limited as to use 1,134,526 876,249
Other investments for restricted activities
Cash and short-term investments 7,186 6,113
U.S. government securities 28,055 32,479
Domestic corporate debt securities 35,440 29,089
Global debt securities 11,476 11,263
Domestic equities 26,723 20,981
International equities 15,402 15,531
Emerging markets equities 2,766 2,578
Private equity funds 9,483 7,638
Hedge funds 4,013 8,414
Other 36 33
Total other investments for restricted activities 140,580 134,119
Total investments $ 1,275106 $ 1,010,368
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Investments are accounted for using either the fair value method or equity method of accounting,
as appropriate on a case by case basis. The fair value method is used for all debt securities and
equity securities that are traded on active markets and are valued at prices that are readily
available in those markets. The equity method is used when investments are made in
pooled/commingled investment funds that represent investments where shares or units are owned
of pooled funds rather than the underlying securities in that fund. These pooled/commingled funds
make underlying investments in securities from the asset classes listed above. All investments,
whether the fair value or equity method of accounting is used, are reported at what the Health
System believes to be the amount that the Health System would expect to receive if it liquidated its
investments at the balance sheets date on a non-distressed basis.

The following tables summarize the investments by the accounting method utilized, as of June 30,
2020 and 2019. Accounting standards require disclosure of additional information for those
securities accounted for using the fair value method, as shown in Note 7.

2020

(in thousands of dollars) Fair Value Equity Total

Cash and short-term investments $ 253,030 $ - 3 253,030
U.S. government securities 147,434 - 147,434
Domestic corporate debt securities 198,411 45,142 243,553
Global debt securities 44,255 45,5632 89,787
Domestic equities 195,014 49,869 244 883
International equities 77,481 68,353 145,834
Emerging markets equities 1,257 24,388 25,645
Real Estate Investment Trust 313 - 313
Private equity funds - 83,614 83,614
Hedge funds - 40,977 40,977
Other 36 - 36

$ 917,231 $ 357,875 $ 1,275,106

2019

(in thousands of dollars) Fair Value Equity Total

Cash and short-term investments $ 28,634 $ - % 28,634
U.S. government securities 147,212 - 147,212
Domestic corporate debt securities 164,996 71,603 236,599
Global debt securities 55,620 49,403 104,923
Domestic equities 178,720 24,262 202,982
International equities 76,328 74,878 151,206
Emerging markets equities 1,295 24,369 25,664
Real Estate Investment Trust 213 - 213
Private equity funds - 72,201 72,201
Hedge funds - 40,701 40,701
Other 33 - 33

$ 652,951 § 357,417 $ 1,010,368
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For the years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019 investment income is reflected in the accompanying
consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets as other operating revenue of
approximately $936,000 and $983,000 and as non-operating gains of approximately $27,047,000
and $40,052,000, respectively.

Private equity limited partnership shares are not eligible for redemption from the fund or general
partner, but can be sold to third party buyers in private transactions that typically can be completed
in approximately 90 days. It is the intent of the Health System to hold these investments until the
fund has fully distributed all proceeds to the limited partners and the term of the partnership
agreement expires. Under the terms of these agreements, the Health System has committed to
contribute a specified level of capital over a defined period of time. Through June 30, 2020 and
2019, the Health System has committed to contribute approximately $172,819,000 and
$164,319,000 to such funds, of which the Health System has contributed approximately
$119,142,000 and $109,584,000 and has outstanding commitments of $53,677,000 and
$54,735,000, respectively.

6. Property, Plant, and Equipment

Property, plant, and equipment are summarized as follows at June 30, 2020 and 2019:

(in thousands of dollars) 2020 2019
Land $ 40,749 $ 38,232
Land improvements 39,820 42,607
Buildings and improvements 893,081 898,050
Equipment 927,233 888,138
Equipment under capital leases - 15,809
1,900,883 1,882,836
Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization 1,356,521 1,276,746
Total depreciable assets, net 544,362 606,090
Construction in progress 99,224 15,166

$ 643,586 $ 621,256

As of June 30, 2020, construction in progress primarily consists of two projects. The first project,
started in fiscal 2019, consists of the addition of the ambulatory surgical center (ASC) located in
Manchester, NH. The estimated cost to complete the project is $42 million. The anticipated
completion date is the second quarter of fiscal 2021. The second project, involves the addition of the
in-patient tower located in Lebanon, NH. The estimated cost to complete the tower project is $140
million over the next three fiscal years.

The construction in progress as of June 30, 2019, included both the ASC, as well as renovations
taking place at the various pharmacy locations to bring their facilities compliant with Regulation
USP800. The pharmacy upgrade was completed during the first quarter of fiscal year 2021,
Capitalized interest of $2,297,000 and $0 is included in Construction in progress as of June 30,
2020 and 2019, respectively.

Depreciation and amortization expense included in operating and non-operating activities was
approximately $92,217,000 and $88,496,000 for 2020 and 2019, respectively.
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7. Fair Value Measurements

The following is a description of the valuation methodologies for assets and liabilities measured at
fair value on a recurring basis:

Cash and Short-Term Investments
Consists of money market funds and are valued at net asset value (NAV) reported by the financial
institution.

Domestic, Emerging Markets and International Equities
Consists of actively traded equity securities and mutual funds which are valued at the closing price
reported on an active market on which the individual securities are traded (Level 1 measurements).

U.S. Government Securities, Domestic Corporate and Global Debt Securities

Consists of U.S. government securities, domestic corporate and global debt securities, mutual
funds and pooled/commingled funds that invest in U.S. government securities, domestic corporate
and global debt securities. Securities are valued based on quoted market prices or dealer quotes
where available (Level 1 measurement). If quoted market prices are not available, fair values are
based on quoted market prices of comparable instruments or, if necessary, matrix pricing from a
third party pricing vendor to determine fair value (Level 2 measurements). Matrix prices are based
on quoted prices for securities with similar coupons, ratings and maturities, rather than on specific
bids and offers for a designated security. Investments in mutual funds are measured based on the
quoted NAV as of the close of business in the respective active market (Level 1 measurements).

The preceding methods may produce a fair value calculation that may not be indicative of net
realizable value or reflective of future fair values. Furthermore, although the Health System
believes its valuation methods are appropriate and consistent with other market participants, the
use of different methodologies or assumptions to determine the fair value of certain financial
instruments could result in a different fair value measurement at the reporting date.

Investments are classified in their entirety based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the

fair value measurement. The following tables set forth the consolidated financial assets and
liabilities that were accounted for at fair value on a recurring basis as of June 30, 2020 and 2019:
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2020
Redemption Days’
(in thousands of dollars) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total or Liquidation Notice
Assets
Investments
Cash and short term investments $ 253,030 % - % - 8 253,030 Daily 1
U.S. government securities 147,434 - - 147,434 Daily 1
Domestic corporate debt securities 17,577 180,834 - 198,411 Daily-Monthly 1-15
Global debt securities 22,797 21,458 - 44,255  Daily-Monthly 1-15
Domestic equities 187,354 7,660 - 195,014  Daily-Monthly 1-10
International equities 77,481 - - 77.481  Daily-Monthly 1-11
Emerging market equities 1.257 - - 1,257  Daily-Monthly 1-7
Real estate investment trust 313 - - 313  Daily-Monthly 1-7
Other 2 34 - 36 Not applicable Not applicable
Total investments 707,245 209,986 - 917,231
Deferred compensation plan assets
Cash and short-term investments 5,754 - - 5,754
U.S. government securities 51 - - 51
Domestic corporate debt securities 7,194 - - 7,194
Global debt securities 1,270 - - 1,270
Domestic equities 24,043 - - 24,043
International equities 3,571 - - 3,571
Emerging market equities 27 - - 27
Real estate 11 - - 1
Multi strategy fund 51,904 - - 51,904
Guaranteed contract - = 92 92
Total deferred compensation
plan assets 93,825 - 92 93,917 Not applicable  Not applicable
Beneficial interest in trusts - - 9,202 9,202 Not applicable  Not applicable
Total assets $ 801,070 $ 209,986 $ 9,204 § 1,020,350
2019
Redemption Days’
(in thousands of dollars) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total or Liquidation Notice
Assets
Investments
Cash and short term investments $ 28634 § - 8 - 8 28,634 Daily 1
U.S. government securities 147,212 - - 147,212 Daily 1
Domestic corporate debt securities 34,723 130,273 - 164,896  Daily—-Monthly 1-15
Global debt securities 28,412 27,108 - 55,520 Daily-Monthly 1-15
Domestic equities 171,318 7,402 - 178,720  Daily-Monthly 1-10
International equities 76,295 33 - 76,328  Daily—=Monthly 1-11
Emerging market equities 1,295 - - 1,295  Daily-Monthly 1-7
Real estate investment trust 213 - - 213 Daily=Monthly 1-7
Other - 33 - 33 Notapplicable Not applicable
Total investments 488,102 164,849 - 652,951
Deferred compensation plan assets
Cash and short-term investments 2,952 - - 2,952
U.S. government securities 45 - - 45
Domestic corporate debt securities 4,932 - - 4,932
Global debt securities 1,300 - - 1,300
Domestic equities 22,403 - - 22,403
International equities 3,576 - - 3,576
Emerging market equities 27 - - 27
Real estate 11 - - 11
Multi strategy fund 48,941 - - 48,941
Guaranteed contract - - 89 89
Total deferred compensation
plan assets 84,187 - 89 84,276 Notapplicable Not applicable
Beneficial interest in trusts - - 9,301 9,301 Notapplicable  Not applicable
Total assets $ 572,289 $ 164,849 § 9,390 $ 746,528
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The following table is a rollforward of financial instruments classified by the Health System within
Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy defined above.

2020
Beneficial
Interest in
Perpetual Guaranteed
(in thousands of dollars) Trust Contract Total
Balances at beginning of year $ 9,301 3% 89 % 9,390
Net unrealized (losses) gains (99) 3 (96)
Balances at end of year $ 9,202 $ 92 % 9,294
2019
Beneficial
Interest in
Perpetual Guaranteed
(in thousands of dollars) Trust Contract Total
Balances at beginning of year $ 9,374 % 86 $ 9,460
Net unrealized (losses) gains (73) 3 (70)
Balances at end of year $ 9,301 % 89 § 9,390

There were no transfers into and out of Level 1 and 2 measurements due to changes in valuation
methodologies during the years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019.

8. Net Assets with Donor Restrictions

Net assets with donor restrictions are available for the following purposes at June 30, 2020 and

2019:

(in thousands of dollars) 2020 2019
Investments held in perpetuity $ 59,352 $ 56,383
Healthcare services 33,976 20,140
Research 22,116 26,496
Health education 16,849 19,833
Charity care 12,366 12,494
Other 4,488 3,841
Purchase of equipment 3,081 3,273

$ 162,228  § 142,460

Income earned on donor restricted net assets held in perpetuity is available for these purposes.
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9. Board Designated and Endowment Funds

Net assets include numerous funds established for a variety of purposes including both donor-
restricted endowment funds and funds designated by the Board of Trustees to function as
endowments. Net assets associated with endowment funds, including funds designated by the
Board of Trustees to function as endowments, are classified and reported based on the existence
or absence of donor-imposed restrictions.

The Board of Trustees has interpreted the NH and VT Uniform Prudent Management of Institutional
Funds Acts (UPMIFA or Act) for donor-restricted endowment funds as requiring the preservation of
the original value of gifts, as of the gift date, to donor-restricted endowment funds, absent explicit
donor stipulations to the contrary. The Health System’s net assets with donor restrictions which
are to be held in perpetuity consist of (a) the original value of gifts donated to the permanent
endowment, (b) the original value of subsequent gifts to be held in perpetuity, and (c)
accumulations to the permanent endowment made in accordance with the direction of the
applicable donor gift instrument at the time the accumulation is added to the fund, if any.
Collectively these amounts are referred to as the historic dollar value of the fund.

Net assets without donor restrictions include funds designated by the Board of Trustees to function
as endowments, the income from certain donor-restricted endowment funds, and any accumulated
investment return thereon, which pursuant to donor intent may be expended based on trustee or
management designation. Net assets with donor restrictions that are temporary in nature, either
restricted by time or purpose, include funds appropriated for expenditure pursuant to endowment
and investment spending policies, certain expendable endowment gifts from donors, and any
retained income and appreciation on donor-restricted endowment funds, which are restricted by the
donor to a specific purpose or by law. When the restrictions on these funds have been met, the
funds are reclassified to net assets without donor restrictions.

In accordance with the Act, the Health System considers the following factors in making a
determination to appropriate or accumulate donor-restricted endowment funds: the duration and
preservation of the fund; the purposes of the donor-restricted endowment fund; general economic
conditions; the possible effect of inflation and deflation; the expected total return from income and
the appreciation of investments; other resources available; and investment policies.

The Health System has endowment investment and spending policies that attempt to provide a
predictable stream of funding for programs supported by its endowment while ensuring that the
purchasing power does not decline over time. The Health System targets a diversified asset
allocation that places emphasis on investments in domestic and international equities, fixed
income, private equity, and hedge fund strategies to achieve its long-term return objectives within
prudent risk constraints. The Health System's Investment Committee reviews the policy portfolio
asset allocations, exposures, and risk profile on an ongoing basis.

The Health System, as a policy, may appropriate for expenditure or accumulate so much of an
endowment fund as the institution determines is prudent for the uses, benefits, purposes, and
duration for which the endowment is established, subject to donor intent expressed in the gift
instrument and the standard of prudence prescribed by the Act.

From time to time, the fair value of assets associated with individual donor-restricted endowment

funds may fall below their original contributed value. Such market losses were not material as of
June 30, 2020 and 2019.
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Endowment net asset composition by type of fund consists of the following at June 30, 2020 and

2019:
2020
Without With
Donor Donor
(in thousands of dollars) Restrictions Restrictions Total
Donor-restricted endowment funds $ - % 80,039 $ 80,039
Board-designated endowment funds 33,714 - 33,714
Total endowed net assets $ 33714 % 80,039 $ 113,753
2019
Without With
Donor Donor
(in thousands of dollars) Restrictions Restrictions Total
Donor-restricted endowment funds $ - % 78,268 $ 78,268
Board-designated endowment funds 31,421 - 31,421
Total endowed net assets $ 31,421 $ 78,268 $ 109,689

Changes in endowment net assets for the years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019 are as follows:

2020
Without With
Donor Donor

(in thousands of dollars) Restrictions Restrictions Total
Balances at beginning of year $ 31,421 § 78,268 $ 109,689
Net investment return 713 1,460 2173
Contributions 890 2,990 3,880
Transfers 14 267 281
Release of appropriated funds 676 (2,946) (2,270)
Balances at end of year $ 33,714 § 80,039 § 113,753
Balances at end of year 80,039
Beneficial interest in perpetual trusts 6,782
Net assets with donor restrictions $ 86,821
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2019
Without With
Donor Donor

(in thousands of dollars) Restrictions Restrictions Total
Balances at beginning of year $ 29,506 $ 78,197 $ 107,703
Net investment return 1,184 2,491 3,675
Contributions 804 1,222 2,026
Transfers (73) (1,287) (1,360)
Release of appropriated funds - (2,355) (2,355)
Balances at end of year $ 31,421 $ 78,268 $ 109,689
Balances at end of year 78,268
Beneficial interest in perpetual trusts 8,422
Net assets with donor restrictions $ 86,690
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10. Long-Term Debt

A summary of long-term debt at June 30, 2020 and 2019 is as follows:

(in thousands of dollars)

Variable rate issues
New Hampshire Health and Education Facilities
Authority (NHHEFA) Revenue Bonds
Series 2018A, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2037 (1) $
Fixed rate issues
New Hampshire Health and Education Facilities
Authority Revenue Bonds
Series 2018B, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2048 (1)
Series 2020A, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2059 (2)
Series 2017A, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2040 (3)
Series 2017B, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2031 (3)
Series 2019A, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2043 (4)
Series 2018C, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2030 (5)
Series 2012, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through July 2039 (6)
Series 2014A, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2022 (7)
Series 2014B, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2033 (7)
Series 2016B, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2045 (8)
Note payable
Note payable to a financial institution due in monthly interest
only payments through May 2023 (9)

Total obligated group debt $

2020 2019
83,355 83,355
303,102 303,102
125,000 -
122,435 122,435
109,800 109,800
99,165 -
25,160 25,865
24,315 25,145
19,765 26,960
14,530 14,530
10,970 10,970
125,000 -
1,062,597 722,162
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A summary of long-term debt at June 30, 2020 and 2019 is as follows (continued):
(in thousands of dollars) 2020 2019

Other

Note payable to a financial institution payable in interest free

monthly installments through July 2015;

collateralized by associated equipment $ 287 $ 445
Note payable to a financial institution with entire

principal due June 2029 that is collateralized by land

and building. The note payable is interest free 273 323
Mortgage note payable to the US Dept of Agriculture;

monthly payments of $10,892 include interest of 2.375%

through November 2046 2,560 2,629
Obligations under capital leases - 17,526
Total nonobligated group debt 3,120 20,923

Total obligated group debt 1,062,597 722,162
Total long-term debt 1,065,717 743,085

Add: Original issue premium and discounts, net 89,542 25,542
Less: Current portion 9,467 10,914
Debt issuance costs, net 7,262 5,533

$ 1138530 § 752,180

Aggregate annual principal payments for the next five years ending June 30 and thereafter are as

follows:

(in thousands of dollars) 2020
2021 $ 9,467
2022 9,419
2023 131,626
2024 1,871
2025 1,954
Thereafter 911,380

$ 1,065,717

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Obligated Group (DHOG) Debt
MHMH established the DHOG in 1993 for the original purpose of issuing bonds financed through

NHHEFA or the “Authority”. The members of the obligated group consist of D-HH, MHMH, DHC,
Cheshire, NLH, MAHHC, and, APD. D-HH is designated as the obligated group agent.
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Revenue Bonds issued by members of the DHOG are administered through notes registered in the
name of the Bond Trustee and in accordance with the terms of a Master Trust Indenture. The
Master Trust Indenture contains provisions permitting the addition, withdrawal, or consolidation of
members of the DHOG under certain conditions. The notes constitute a joint and several obligation
of the members of the DHOG (and any other future members of the DHOG) and are equally and
ratably collateralized by a pledge of the members’ gross receipts. The DHOG is also subject to
certain annual covenants under the Master Trust Indenture, the most restrictive is the Annual Debt
Service Coverage Ratio (1.10x).

(1) Series 2018A and Series 2018B Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2018A and Series 2018B in February
2018. The Series 2018A Revenue Bonds were primarily used to refund a portion of Series
2015A and Series 2016A. The Series 2018B were primarily used to refund a portion of Series
2015A and Series 2016A, Revolving Line of Credit, Series 2012 Bank Loan and the Series
2015A and Series 2016A Swap terminations. A loss on the extinguishment of debt of
approximately $578,000 was recognized in non-operating gains (losses) on the statement of
operations and changes in net assets, as a result of the refinancing. The interest on the Series
2018A Revenue Bonds is variable with a current interest rate of 5.00% and matures in variable
amounts through 2037. The interest on the Series 2018B Revenue Bonds is fixed with an
interest rate of 4.18% and matures in variable amounts through 2048.

(2) Series 2020A Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds Series 2020A in February, 2020. The proceeds
from the Series 2020A Revenue Bonds are being used primarily to fund the construction of a
212,000 square foot inpatient pavilion in Lebanon, NH as well as various equipment. The
interest on the Series 2020A Revenue Bonds is fixed with an interest rate of 5.00% and
matures in variable amounts through 2059.

(3) Series 2017A and Series 2017B Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2017A and Series 2017B in December,
2017. The Series 2017A Revenue Bonds were primarily used to refund Series 2009 and
Series 2010 and the Series 2017B Revenue Bonds were used to refund Series 2012A and
Series 2012B. The interest on the Series 2017A Revenue Bonds is fixed with an interest rate
of 5.00% and matures in variable amounts through 2040. The interest on the Series 20178

Revenue Bonds is fixed with an interest rate of 2.54% and matures in variable amounts through
2031.

(4) Series 2019A Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds Series 2019A in October, 2019. The proceeds
from the Series 2019A Revenue Bonds are being used primarily to fund the construction of a
91,000 square foot expansion of facilities in Manchester, NH to include an Ambulatory Surgical
Center as well as various equipment. The interest on the Series 2019A Revenue Bonds is fixed
with an interest rate of 4.00% and matures in variable amounts through 2043.
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(5)

Series 2018C Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2018C in August, 2018. The Series 2018C
Revenue Bonds were used primarily to refinance the Series 2010 Revenue Bonds. The interest
on the series 2018C Revenue Bonds is fixed with an interest rate of 3.22% and matures in

- variable amounts through 2030.

(6)

@)

(8)

()

Series 2012 Revenue Bonds

The NHHEFA issued $29,650,000 of tax-exempt Revenue Bonds, Series 2012. The proceeds
of these bonds were used to refund 1998 and 2009 Series Bonds, to finance the settlement
cost of the interest rate swap, and to finance the purchase of certain equipment and
renovations. The bonds have fixed interest coupon rates ranging from 2.0% to 5.0% (a net
interest cost of 3.96%), and matures in variable amounts through 2039.

Series 2014A and Series 2014B Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2014A and Series 2014B in August 2014.
The proceeds from the Series 2014A and 2014B Revenue Bonds were used to partially refund
the Series 2009 Revenue Bonds and to cover cost of issuance. Interest on the 2014A
Revenue Bonds is fixed with an interest rate of 2.63% and matures at various dates through
2022. Interest on the Series 2014B Revenue Bonds is fixed with an interest rate of 4.00% and
matures at various dates through 2033.

Series 2016B Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2016B in July 2016 through a private
placement with a financial institution. The Series 2016B Revenue Bonds were used to finance
2016 projects. The Series 20168 is fixed with an interest rate of 1.78% and matures at various
dates through 2045.

Note payable to financial institution
The DHOG issued a note payable to TD Bank in May 2020. Issued in response to the COVID-

19 pandemic, the proceeds from the note will be used to fund working capital as needs require.
The interest on the note payable is fixed with an interest rate of 2.02% and matures in 2023.

Outstanding joint and several indebtedness of the DHOG at June 30, 2020 and 2019 approximates
$1,062,597,000 and $722,162,000, respectively.

The Health System Indenture agreements require establishment and maintenance of debt service
reserves and other trustee held funds. Trustee held funds of approximately $236,198,000 and
$631,000 at June 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively, are classified as assets limited as to use in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets (Note 5). In addition, debt service reserves of
approximately $9,286,000 and $1,331,000 at June 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively, are classified
as other current assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. The debt service
reserves are mainly comprised of escrowed construction funds at June 30, 2020 and escrowed
funds held for future principal and interest payments at June 30, 2019.
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For the years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019 interest expense on the Health System'’s long term
debt is reflected in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and changes in net
assets as operating expense of approximately $27,322,000 and $25,514,000 and other non-
operating losses of $3,784,000 and $3,784,000, respectively.

11. Employee Benefits

All eligible employees of the Health System are covered under various defined benefit and/or
define contribution plans. In addition, certain members provide postretirement medical and life
benefit plans to certain of its active and former employees who meet eligibility requirements. The
postretirement medical and life plans are not funded.

All of the defined benefit plans within the Health System have been frozen and therefore there are
no remaining participants earning benefits in any of the Health System's defined benefit plans.

The Health System continued to execute the settlement of obligations due to retirees in the defined
benefit plans through bulk lump sum offerings or purchases of annuity contracts. The annuity
purchases follow guidelines established by the Department of Labor (DOL). The Health System
anticipates continued consideration and/or implementation of additional settlements over the next
several years.

Defined Benefit Plans

Net periodic pension expense included in employee benefits in the consolidated statements of
operations and changes in net assets is comprised of the components listed below for the years
ended June 30, 2020 and 2019:

(in thousands of dollars) 2020 2019
Service cost for benefits earned during the year $ 170 3 150
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation 43,433 47,814
Expected return on plan assets (62,436) (65,270)
Net loss amortization 12,032 10,357
Total net periodic pension expense $ (6,801) $ (6,949)

The following assumptions were used to determine net periodic pension expense as of June 30,

2020 and 2019:

2020 2019
Discount rate 3.00% - 3.10% 3.90 % — 4.60%
Rate of increase in compensation N/A N/A
Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets 7.50% 7.50%
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The following table sets forth the funded status and amounts recognized in the Health System’s
consolidated financial statements for the defined benefit pension plans at June 30, 2020 and 2019:

(in thousands of dollars) 2020 2019
Change in benefit obligation
Benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 1135523 $ 1,087,940
Service cost 170 150
Interest cost 43,433 47,814
Benefits paid (70,778) (51,263)
Expenses paid (168) (170)
Actuarial loss 139,469 93,358
Settlements (38,549) (42,306)
Benefit obligation at end of year 1,209,100 1,135,523
Change in plan assets
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year 897,717 884,983
Actual return on plan assets 121,245 85,842
Benefits paid (70,778) (51,263)
Expenses paid (168) (170)
Employer contributions 19,986 20,631
Settlements (38,549) (42,306)
Fair value of plan assets at end of year 929,453 897,717
Funded status of the plans (279,647) (237,806)
Less: Current portion of liability for pension (46) (46)
Long term portion of liability for pension (279,601) (237,760)
Liability for pension $ (279,647) % (237,806)

As of June 30, 2020 and 2019, the liability for pension is included in the liability for pension and
other postretirement plan benefits in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Amounts not yet reflected in net periodic pension expense and included in the change in net assets
without donor restrictions include approximately $546,818,000 and $478,394,000 of net actuarial
loss as of June 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

The estimated amounts to be amortized from net assets without donor restrictions into net periodic
pension expense in fiscal year 2021 for net actuarial losses is $12,752,000.

The accumulated benefit obligation for the defined benefit pension plans was approximately
$1,209,282 and $1,135,770,000 at June 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

The following table sets forth the assumptions used to determine the benefit obligation at June 30,
2020 and 2019:

2020 2019
Discount rate 3.00% - 3.10% 4.20 % —4.50 %
Rate of increase in compensation N/A N/A
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The primary investment objective for the Plan’s assets is to support the Pension liabilities of the
Pension Plans for Employees of the Health System, by providing long-term capital appreciation and
by also using a Liability Driven Investing (‘LDI”) strategy to partially hedge the impact fluctuating
interest rates have on the value of the Plan’s liabilities. As of both June 30, 2020 and 2019, it is
expected that the LDI strategy will hedge approximately 60% of the interest rate risk associated
with pension liabilities. To achieve the appreciation and hedging objectives, the Plans utilize a
diversified structure of asset classes designed to achieve stated performance objectives measured
on a total return basis, which includes income plus realized and unrealized gains and losses.

The range of target allocation percentages and the target allocations for the various investments
are as follows:

Range of
Target Target
Allocations Allocations
Cash and short-term investments 0-5% 3%
U.S. government securities 0-10 5
Domestic debt securities 20-58 40
Global debt securities 6-26 7
Domestic equities 5-35 18
International equities 5-15 11
Emerging market equities 3-13 5
Real estate investment trust funds 0-5 1
Private equity funds 0-5 0
Hedge funds 5-18 10

To the extent an asset class falls outside of its target range on a quarterly basis, the Health System
shall determine appropriate steps, as it deems necessary, to rebalance the asset class.

The Boards of Trustees of the Health System, as Plan Sponsors, oversee the design, structure,
and prudent professional management of the Health System's Plans’ assets, in accordance with
Board approved investment policies, roles, responsibilities and authorities and more specifically the
following:

e Establishing and modifying asset class targets with Board approved policy ranges,

e Approving the asset class rebalancing procedures,

e Hiring and terminating investment managers, and

e  Monitoring performance of the investment managers, custodians and investment consultants.
The hierarchy and inputs to valuation techniques to measure fair value of the Plans’ assets are the
same as outlined in Note 7. In addition, the estimation of fair value of investments in private equity
and hedge funds for which the underlying securities do not have a readily determinable value is
made using the NAV per share or its equivalent as a practical expedient. The Health System’s
Plans own interests in these funds rather than in securities underlying each fund and, therefore, are

generally required to consider such investments as Level 2 or 3, even though the underlying
securities may not be difficult to value or may be readily marketable.
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The following table sets forth the Health System's Plans’ investments and deferred compensation
plan assets that were accounted for at fair value as of June 30, 2020 and 2019:

2020

Redemption Days’
(in thousands of dollars) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total or Liquidation Notice
Investments
Cash and short-term investments ~ $ - %8 7154 § - 8 7154 Daily 1
U.S. government securities 49 843 - 49,843 Daily-Monthly 1-15
Domestic debt securities 133‘794 318,259 - 452,053 Daily—Monthly 1-15
Global debt securities - 69,076 - 69,076 Daily-Monthly 1-15
Domestic equities 152,688 24947 - 177,635 Daily—Monthly 1-10
International equities 13,555 70,337 - 83,892 Daily—Monthly 1-11
Emerging market equities - 39,984 - 39,984 Daily—Monthly 1-17
REIT funds - 2,448 - 2,448 Daily-Manthly 1-17
Private equity funds - - 17 17 See Note 7 See Note 7
Hedge funds - .- 47,351 47,351 Quarterly-Annual 60-96

Total investments $ 349880 $ 532205 $ 47368 § 929453
2019

Redemption Days'
(in thousands of dollars) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total or Liquidation Notice
Investments
Cash and short-term investments  $ 166 $ 18232 § - & 18,398 Daily 1
U.S. government securities 48,580 - - 48,580 Daily—Monthly 1-15
Domestic debt securities 122,178 273,424 - 395,602 Daily—Monthly 1-15
Global debt securities 428 75,146 - 75,574 Daily—Monthly 1-15
Domestic equities 159,259 18,316 - 177,575 Daily—Monthly 1-10
International equities 17,232 77,146 - 94,378 Daily-Monthly 1-11
Emerging market equities 321 39,902 - 40,223 Daily—Monthly 1-17
REIT funds 357 2,883 - 3,240 Daily—Monthly 1-17
Private equity funds - - 21 21 See Note 7 See Note 7
Hedge funds - - 44,126 44,126 Quarterly-Annual 60-96

Total investments $ 348,521 § 505049 § 44147 § 897,717

The following tables present additional information about the changes in Level 3 assets measured
at fair value for the years ended June 30, 2020 and 2018:

2020
Private
(in thousands of dollars) Hedge Funds Equity Funds Total
Balances at beginning of year $ 44 126 $ 21 $ 44 147
Net unrealized gains (losses) 3,225 (4) 3,221
Balances at end of year $ 47,351 $ 17 & 47,368
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2019
Private
(in thousands of dollars) Hedge Funds Equity Funds Total
Balances at beginning of year $ 44250 % 23§ 44273
Net unrealized losses (124) (2) (126)
Balances at end of year $ 44126 % 21§ 44 147

The total aggregate net unrealized gains (losses) included in the fair value of the Level 3
investments as of June 30, 2020 and 2019 were approximately $18,261,000 and $14,617,000,
respectively. There were no transfers into and out of Level 3 measurements during the years
ended June 30, 2020 and 2019.

There were no transfers into and out of Level 1 and 2 measurements due to changes in valuation
methodologies during the years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019.

The weighted average asset allocation for the Health System’s Plans at June 30, 2020 and 2019
by asset category is as follows:

2020 2019

Cash and short-term investments 1% 2 %
U.S. government securities 5 5
Domestic debt securities 49 44
Global debt securities 8 9
Domestic equities 19 20
International equities 2 11
Emerging market equities 4 4
Hedge funds 5 5

100 % 100 %

The expected long-term rate of return on plan assets is reviewed annually, taking into consideration
the asset allocation, historical returns on the types of assets held, and the current economic
environment. Based on these factors, it is expected that the pension assets will earn an average of
7.50% per annum.

The Health System is expected to contribute approximately $25,755,000 to the Plans in 2021
however actual contributions may vary from expected amounts.
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The following benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are expected
to be paid for the years ending June 30 and thereafter:

(in thousands of dollars)

2021 $ 51,007
2022 53,365
2023 55,466
2024 57,470
2025 59,436
2026 - 2028 321,419

Effective May 1, 2020, the Health System terminated a defined benefit plan and settled the
accumulated benefit obligation of $18,795,000 by purchasing nonparticipating annuity contracts.
The plan assets at fair value were $11,836,000.

Defined Contribution Plans

The Health System has an employer-sponsored 401(a) plan for certain of its members, under
which the employer makes base, transition and discretionary match contributions based on
specified percentages of compensation and employee deferral amounts. Total employer
contributions to the plan of approximately $51,222,000 and $40,537,000 in 2020 and 2019,
respectively, are included in employee benefits in the accompanying consolidated statements of
operations and changes in net assets.

Various 403(b) and tax- sheltered annuity plans are available to employees of the Health System.
Plan specifications vary by member and plan. No employer contributions were made to any of
these plans in 2020 and 2019 respectively.

Postretirement Medical and Life Benefits

The Health System has postretirement medical and life benefit plans covering certain of its active
and former employees. The plans generally provide medical or medical and life insurance benefits
to certain retired employees who meet eligibility requirements. The plans are not funded.

Net periodic postretirement medical and life benefit (income) cost is comprised of the components
listed below for the years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019:

(in thousands of dollars) 2020 2019
Service cost $ 609 $ 384
Interest cost 1,666 1,842
Net prior service income (5,974) (5,974)
Net loss amortization 469 10
$ (3,230) $ (3,738)
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The following table sets forth the accumulated postretirement medical and life benefit obligation
and amounts recognized in the Health System's consolidated financial statements at June 30, 2020

and 2019:
(in thousands of dollars) 2020 2019
Change in benefit obligation
Benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 46,671 $ 42 581
Service cost 609 384
Interest cost 1,666 1,842
Benefits paid (3,422) (3,149)
Actuarial loss 2,554 5,013
Benefit obligation at end of year 48,078 46,671
Funded status of the plans $ (48,078) $ (46,671)
Current portion of liability for postretirement
medical and life benefits $ (3422) % (3,422)
Long term portion of liability for
postretirement medical and life benefits (44,656) (43,249)

Liability for postretirement medical and life benefits $ (48,078) $ (46,671)

As of June 30, 2020 and 2019, the liability for postretirement medical and life benefits is included in
the liability for pension and other postretirement plan benefits in the accompanying consolidated
balance sheets.

Amounts not yet reflected in net periodic postretirement medical and life benefit income and
included in the change in net assets without donor restrictions are as follows:

(in thousands of dollars) 2020 2019

Net prior service income $ (3,582) $ (9,556)

Net actuarial loss 10,335 8,386
$ 6,753 $ (1,170)

The estimated amounts that will be amortized from net assets without donor restrictions into net
periodic postretirement income in fiscal year 2021 for net prior service cost is $5,974,000.
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The following future benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are
expected to be paid for the year ending June 30, 2021 and thereafter:

(in thousands of dollars)

2021 $ 3,422
2022 3,436
2023 3,622
2024 3,642
2025 3,522
2026-2028 16,268

In determining the accumulated postretirement medical and life benefit obligation, the Health
System used a discount rate of 2.90% in 2020 and an assumed healthcare cost trend rate of
6.50%, trending down to 5.00% in 2024 and thereafter. Increasing the assumed healthcare cost
trend rates by one percentage point in each year would increase the accumulated postretirement
medical benefit obligation as of June 30, 2020 and 2019 by $1,772,000 and $1,601,000 and the
net periodic postretirement medical benefit cost for the years then ended by $122,000 and
$77,000, respectively. Decreasing the assumed healthcare cost trend rates by one percentage
point in each year would decrease the accumulated postretirement medical benefit obligation as of
June 30, 2020 and 2019 by $1,603,000 and $1,452,000 and the net periodic postretirement
medical benefit cost for the years then ended by $108,000 and $71,000, respectively.

12. Professional and General Liability Insurance Coverage

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital and Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic, along with Dartmouth College,
Cheshire Medical Center, The New London Hospital Association, Mt. Ascutney Hospital and Health
Center, and the Visiting Nurse and Hospice for VT and NH are provided professional and general
liability insurance on a claims-made basis through Hamden Assurance Risk Retention Group, Inc.
(RRG), a VT captive insurance company. Effective November 1, 2018 Alice Peck Day Memorial
Hospital is provided professional and general liability insurance coverage through RRG. RRG
reinsures the majority of this risk to Hamden Assurance Company Limited (HAC), a captive
insurance company domiciled in Bermuda and to a variety of commercial reinsurers. Mary
Hitchcock Memorial Hospital, Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic, and Dartmouth College have ownership
interests in both HAC and RRG. The insurance program provides coverage to the covered
institutions and named insureds on a modified claims-made basis which means coverage is
triggered when claims are made. Premiums and related insurance deposits are actuarially
determined based on asserted liability claims adjusted for future development. The reserves for
outstanding losses are recorded on an undiscounted basis.

40



DocuSign Envelope ID: 28FBD250-AC09-42CA-9C7D-9B5907B5A5A9

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2020 and 2019

Selected financial data of HAC and RRG, taken from the latest available financial statements at
June 30, 2020 and 2019, are summarized as follows:

2020
HAC RRG Total
(in thousands of dollars)
Assets $ 93,686 $ 1,785 § 95,471
Shareholders’ equity 13,620 50 13,670
2019
HAC RRG Total
(in thousands of dollars)
Assets $ 75867 $ 2201 $ 78,068
Shareholders’ equity 13,620 50 13,670

13. Commitments and Contingencies

Litigation

The Health System is involved in various malpractice claims and legal proceedings of a nature
considered normal to its business. The claims are in various stages and some may ultimately be
brought to trial. While it is not feasible to predict or determine the outcome of any of these claims,
it is the opinion of management that the final outcome of these claims will not have a material effect
on the consolidated financial position of the Health System.

Lines of Credit

The Health System has entered into Loan Agreements with financial institutions establishing
access to revolving loans ranging from $10,000,000 up to $30,000,000. Interest is variable and
determined using LIBOR or the Wall Street Journal Prime Rate. The Loan Agreements are due to
expire March 31, 2021. There was no outstanding balance under the lines of credit as of June 30,
2020 and 2019. Interest expense was approximately $20,000 and $95,000, respectively, and is
included in the consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets.

14. Functional Expenses

Operating expenses are presented by functional classification in accordance with the overall
service missions of the Health System. Each functional classification displays all expenses related
to the underlying operations by natural classification. Salaries, employee benefits, medical supplies
and medications, and purchased services and other expenses are generally considered variable
and are allocated to the mission that best aligns to the type of service provided. Medicaid
enhancement tax is allocated to program services. Interest expense is allocated based on usage of
debt-financed space. Depreciation and amortization is allocated based on square footage and
specific identification of equipment used by department.
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Operating expenses of the Health System by functional and natural basis are as follows for the

year ended June 30, 2020:

(in thousands of dollars)

Operating expenses
Salaries
Employee benefits
Medical supplies and medications
Purchased services and other
Medicaid enhancement tax
Depreciation and amortization
Interest

Total operating expenses

Non-operating income
Employee benefits
Total non-operating income

2020
Program Management
Services and General Fundraising Total
$ 981,320 $ 161,704 $ 1,799 $ 1,144,823
231,361 41,116 395 272,872
454,143 1,238 - 455,381
236,103 120,563 3,830 360,496
76,010 - - 76,010
26,110 65,949 105 92,164
5,918 21,392 12 27,322
$ 2,010,965 $ 411,962 $ 6,141 $ 2,429,068
Program Management
Services and General Fundraising Total
$ 9,239 $ 1,549 $ 22 $ 10,810
$ 9,239 $ 1,549 $ 22 $ 10,810

Operating expenses of the Health System by functional and natural basis are as follows for the

year ended June 30, 2019:

(in thousands of dollars)

Operating expenses
Salaries
Employee benefits
Medical supplies and medications
Purchased services and other
Medicaid enhancement tax
Depreciation and amortization
Interest

Total operating expenses

Non-operating income
Employee benefits
Total non-operating income

2019
Program Management
Services and General Fundraising Total
$ 922,902 $ 138,123 $ 1,526 $ 1,062,551
188,634 73,845 333 262,812
406,782 1,093 - 407,875
212,209 108,783 2,443 323,435
70,061 - - 70,061
37,528 50,785 101 88,414
3,360 22,135 19 25,514
$ 1,841,476 $ 394,764 $ 4,422 $ 2,240,662
Program Management
Services and General Fundraising Total
$ 9,651 $ 1,556 $ 14 $ 11,221
$ 9,651 $ 1,556 $ 14 $ 11,221
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15. Liquidity

The Health System is substantially supported by cash generated from operations. In addition, the
Health System holds financial assets for specific purposes which are limited as to use. Thus,
certain financial assets reported on the accompanying consolidated balance sheet may not be
available for general expenditure within one year of the balance sheet date.

The Health System'’s financial assets available at June 30, 2020 and 2019 to meet cash needs for
general expenditures within one year of June 30, 2020 and 2019, are as follows:

(in thousands of dollars) 2020 2019

Cash and cash equivalents $ 453223 § 143,587

Patient accounts receivable 183,819 221,125

Assets limited as to use 1,134,526 876,249

Other investments for restricted activities 140,580 134,119
Total financial assets $ 1,912,148 § 1,375,080

Less: Those unavailable for general expenditure
within one year:

Investments held by captive insurance companies 54,596 66,082
Investments for restricted activities 140,580 134,119
Bond proceeds held for capital projects 245,484 -
Other investments with liquidity horizons
greater than one year 111,408 97,063
Total financial assets available within one year $ 1,360,080 $ 1,077,816

For the years ended June 30, 2020 and June 30, 2019, the Health System generated positive cash
flow from operations of approximately $269,144,000 and $161,145,000, respectively. In addition,
the Health System’s liquidity management plan includes investing excess daily cash in intermediate
or long term investments based on anticipated liquidity needs. The Health System has an available
line of credit of up to $30,000,000 which it can draw upon as needed to meet its liquidity needs.
See Note 13 for further details on the line of credit.

16. Lease Commitments

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02 (Topic 842) "Leases."” Topic 842 supersedes the
lease requirements in Accounting Standards Codification Topic 840, "Leases." Under Topic 842,
lessees are required to recognize assets and liabilities on the balance sheet for most leases and
provide enhanced disclosures. Leases will be classified as either finance or operating. D-HH
adopted Topic 842 effective July 1, 2019.

D-HH applied Topic 842 to all leases as of July 1, 2019 with comparative periods continuing to be
reported under Topic 840. We have elected the practical expedient package to not reassess at
adoption (i) expired or existing contracts for whether they are or contain a lease, (i) the lease
classification of any existing leases or (iii) initial direct costs for existing leases. We have also
elected the policy exemption that allows lessees to choose to not separate lease and non-lease
components by class of underlying asset and are applying this expedient to all relevant asset
classes.
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D-HH determines if an arrangement is or contains a lease at inception of the contract. Right-of-use
assets represent our right to use the underlying assets for the lease term and our lease liabilities
represent our obligation to make lease payments arising from the leases. Right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities are recognized at commencement date based on the present value of lease
payments over the lease term. We use the implicit rate noted within the contract. If not readily
available, we use our estimated incremental borrowing rate, which is derived using a collateralized
borrowing rate for the same currency and term as the associated lease. A right-of-use asset and
lease liability is not recognized for leases with an initial term of 12 months or less and we recognize
lease expense for these leases on a straight-line basis over the lease term within lease and rental
expense.

Our operating leases are primarily for real estate, including certain acute care facilities, off-campus
outpatient facilities, medical office buildings, and corporate and other administrative offices. Our
real estate lease agreements typically have initial terms of 5 to 10 years. These real estate leases
may include one or more options to renew, with renewals that can extend the lease term from 2 to
5 years. The exercise of lease renewal options is at our sole discretion. When determining the
lease term, we included options to extend or terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain that
we will exercise that option.

On adoption, the Health System recognized lease liabilities and right-of-use assets of $60,269,884,
respectively.

The components of lease expense for the year ended June 30, 2020 are as follows:

(in thousands of dollars) 12 months ended
June 30, 2020

Operating lease cost 8,992
Variable and short term lease cost (a) 1,497
Total lease and rental expense 10,489

Finance lease cost:

Depreciation of property under finance lease 2,454
Interest on debt of property under finance lease 524
Total finance lease cost 2,978

(a) Includes equipment, month-to-month and leases with a maturity of less than 12 months.
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Supplemental cash flow information related to leases for the year ended June 30, 2020 are as

follows:
(in thousands of dollars) 12 months ended
June 30, 2020
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:
Operating cash flows from operating leases 8,755
Operating cash flows from finance leases 542
Financing cash flows from finance leases 2,429
$ 11,726

Supplemental balance sheet information related to leases as of June 30, 2020 are as follows:

(in thousands of dollars) 12 months ended
June 30, 2020

Operating Leases

Right of use assets - operating leases 42,621
Accumulated amortization (8,425)
Right of use assets - operating leases, net 34,196
Current portion of right of use obligations 9,194
Long-term right of use obligations, excluding current portion 25,308
Total operating lease liabilities 34,502
Finance Leases
Right of use assets - finance leases 26,076
Accumulated depreciation (2,687)
Right of use assets - finance leases, net 23,389
Current portion of right of use obligations 2,581
Long-term right of use obligations, excluding current portion 21,148
Total finance lease liabilities 23,729

Weighted Average remaining lease term, years
Operating leases 4.64
Finance leases 19.39

Weighted Average discount rate
Operating leases 2.24%
Finance leases 2.22%

Included in the $42.6 million of right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for operating lease
obligations is $5.6 million of new and modified operating leases entered into during the year ended
June 30, 2020. Included in the $26.1 million of right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for finance
lease obligations is $2.3 million of new and modified operating leases entered into during the year
ended June 30, 2020.
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Future maturities of lease liabilities as of June 30, 2020 are as follows:

(in thousands of dollars) Operating Leases Finance Leases

Year ending June 30:

2021 9,852 3,314
2022 8,274 3,003
2023 6,836 2,718
2024 5,650 1,892
2025 3,023 1,109
Thereafter 2,794 17,339
Total lease payments 36,429 29,374
Less: Imputed interest 1,927 5,645
Total lease payments $ 34,502 3 23,729

Future minimum rental payments under lease commitments with a term of more than one year as
of June 30, 2019, prior to our adoption of ASC 842 are as follows:

(in thousands of dollars) Capital Leases Operating Leases

Year ending June 30:

2020 1,706 11,342
2021 1,467 10,469
2022 1,471 7,488
2023 1,494 6,303
2024 1,230 4,127
Thereafter 10,158 5,752
Total lease payments $ 17,526 $ 45,481

The Health System’s rental expense totaled approximately $12,707,000 for the year ended June
30, 2019.

17. COVID - 19

In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared the COVID-19 outbreak a pandemic and
the United States federal government declared COVID-19 a national emergency. The Health
System quickly developed and implemented an emergency response to the situation to ensure the
safety of its patients and staff across the System. A key decision was made to postpone elective
and non-urgent care in mid-March. Several factors drove that decision, including efforts to reduce
the spread of COVID-19; conservation of personal protective equipment (‘PPE"), which was and
remains in critically short supply worldwide; and at the urging of the CDC and U.S. Surgeon
General who in March urged all hospitals to reduce the number of elective procedures and visits.

On March 27, 2020, the President of the United States signed into law the Coronavirus Aid, Relief,
and Economic Security Act (‘CARES Act") to provide economic assistance to a wide array of
industries to ease the financial impact of COVID-19. As part of the CARES Act, the Centers for
Medicare and Medicaid Services (“CMS") expanded its Accelerated and Advance Payment
Program which allows participants to receive expedited payments during periods of national
emergencies.
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As of June 30, 2020, the Health System has received approximately $88,877,000 in governmental
assistance including funding under the CARES Act. This includes recognition of approximately
$88,725,000 of stimulus revenue recorded as a component of other operating revenue in the
consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets as a result of satisfying the
conditions of general and targeted grant funding under the Provider Relief Fund established by the
CARES Act. The Health System recognized revenue related to the CARES Act provider relief
funding based on information contained in laws and regulations, as well as interpretations issued
by the HHS, governing the funding that was publicly available as of June 30, 2020. The Health
System recorded approximately $239,500,000 attributable to the Medicare Accelerated and
Advance Payment Program representing working capital financing to be repaid through the
provision of future services. These funds are recorded as a contract liability as a payment received
before performing services. This amount is reported as a component of estimated third party
settlements in the consolidated balance sheet as of June 30, 2020. Subsequent to June 30, 2020,
the Health System received additional stimulus funding attributable to a targeted distribution of
approximately $19,700,000 for Safety Net Hospitals and $2,500,000 for a general distribution.

Additionally, the CARES Act provides for payroll tax relief, including employee retention tax credits
and the deferral of all employer Social Security tax payments to help employers in the face of
economic hardship related to the COVID-19 pandemic. As of June 30, 2020, the Health System
deferred approximately $13,727,000 attributable to the employer portion of Social Security taxes
and $2,600,000 of employee retention tax credits. D-HH Leadership has also taken advantage of
additional Federal and State programs including the Payroll Tax Deferral, Employee Retention
Credit, First Responder Support, Front-Line Employees Hazard Pay Grant Program and FEMA
funding to help offset some of the incremental costs being incurred to provide comprehensive and
safe care during the pandemic.

18. Subsequent Events

The Health System has assessed the impact of subsequent events through November 17, 2020,
the date the audited consolidated financial statements were issued, and has concluded that there
were no such events that require adjustment to the audited consolidated financial statements or
disclosure in the notes to the audited consolidated financial statements other than as noted below.

HHS Reporting Requirements for the CARES Act

In September 2020 and October 2020, HHS issued new reporting requirements for the CARES Act
provider relief funding. The new requirements first require Hospitals to identify healthcare-related
expenses attributable to the COVID-19 pandemic that remain unreimbursed by another source. If
those expenses do not exceed the provider relief funding received, Hospitals will need to
demonstrate that the remaining provider relief funds were used to compensate for a negative
variance in year over year patient service revenue. HHS is entitled to recoup Provider Relief
Funding in excess of the sum of expenses attributable to the COVID-19 pandemic that remain
unreimbursed by another source and the decline in calendar year over year patient care revenue.
Due to these new reporting requirements there is at least a reasonable possibility that amounts
recorded under the CARES Act provider relief fund by the Health System may change in future
periods.
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Medicare and Medicaid Services (“CMS”) expanded Accelerated and Advance Payment
Program

In October 2020, new regulations were issued to revise the recoupment start date from August
2020 to April 2021.

Note Payable Amendment
In October 2020, the note payable issued to TD Bank in May 2020 was amended. Under the
amended terms, the interest on the note payable is fixed at a rate of 2.56%, and matures in 2035.

Repayment terms are semi-annual, interest only through July 2024, with annual principal payments
to begin August 2024. The obligation can be satisfied at any time beforehand, without penalty.
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Dartmouth- Cheshire Alice Peck New London Mt, Ascutney DH Obligated All Other Non- Health
Hitcheock Dartmouth- Medical Day Hospital Hospital and Group Oblig Group System
(in thousands of dollars) Health Hitcheock Center Memorial Association Health Center Eliminations Subtotal Affiliates Eliminati C lidated
Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 108856 § 217,352 § 43940 $ 26079 S 22874 % 14377 § - 8 433478 $ 19745 $ - 8 453,223
Patient accounts receivable, net - 146,886 11,413 8,634 10,200 4,367 - 181,500 2,319 - 183,819
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 25,243 179.432 37,538 3.808 6,105 1,715 (82.822) 171.018 (8.870) (243) 161,906
Total current assets 134,099 543,670 92,891 38,521 39,179 20,459 (82,822) 785,997 13,194 (243) 798,948
Assets limited as to use 344,737 927,207 19,376 13,044 12,768 12,080 (235,568) 1,093,654 40,872 - 1,134,526
Notes receivable, related party 848,250 593 - 1,211 - - (848,843) 1,211 (1,211) - -
Other investments for restricted activities - 98,490 6,970 a7 3,077 6,266 - 114,900 25,680 - 140,580
Property, plant, and equipment, net 8 466,938 64,803 20,805 43612 16,823 - 612,989 30,597 - 643,586
Right of use assets 1,542 32,714 1,822 17,574 621 3,221 - 57,494 91 - 57,585
Other assets 2,242 122481 1,289 14,748 5,482 4,603 (10,971) 139,884 (2,546) - 137,338
Total assets $ 1,330,878 § 2,192,093 § 187,161 $ 106,000 § 104,738 §$ 63462 $ (1,178204) $ 2,806,129 $ 106,677 $ (243) $ 2,912,563
Liabilities and Net Assets
Current liabilities
Current portion of long-term debt $ - 8 7380 § 865 $§ 747 8 147  § 232 & - 8 9,371 $ 9% 3 - 8 9,467
Current portion of right of use obligations 338 8.752 420 1,316 259 631 - 11,716 59 - 11.775
Current portion of liability for pension and -
other postretirement plan benefits - 3,468 - - - - - 3,468 - - 3,468
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 272,764 126,283 39,845 3,087 4,250 3,408 (318,391) 131,244 (1,985) (243) 129,016
Accrued compensation and related benefits - 122,392 7.732 3,570 3,875 3,582 - 141,151 1,840 - 142,991
Estimated third-party settlements - 210,144 34,664 25,421 24,667 6,430 - 301,326 1,199 - 302,525
Total current liabilities 273,102 478,419 83,526 34141 33,198 14,281 (318.391) 598,276 1,209 (243) 589,242
Notes payable, related party - 814,525 - - 27,718 6,600 (848.,843) - - - -
Long-term debt, excluding current portion 1,050,694 37,373 23617 24,312 147 10,595 (10,970) 1,135,768 2,762 - 1,138,530
Right of use obligations, excluding current portion 1,203 24,290 1,432 16,428 368 2,698 - 46,420 36 - 46,456
Insurance deposits and related liabilities - 75,697 475 325 388 220 - 77.105 41 - 77,146
Liability for pension and other postretirement -
plan benefits, excluding current portion - 301,907 21,840 - - 511 - 324,258 (1) - 324,257
Other liabilities - 117.631 1.506 384 2,026 - - 121,547 22131 - 143,678
Total liabilities 1,324,999 1,849,842 132,396 75,591 63,845 34,905 (1,178,204 2,303,374 26.178 (243) 2,329,309
Commitments and contingencies
Net assets
Net assets without donor restrictions 5,524 242,824 47,729 29,464 36,158 21,247 - 382,946 48,040 40 431,026
Net assets with donor restrictions 355 99,427 7.036 945 4.736 7.310 - 119.809 32,459 (40) 152,228
Total net assets 5,879 342,251 54,765 30,409 40,894 28,557 - 502,755 80,499 - 583.254
Total liabilities and net assets $ 1330878 § 2,192,093 $§ 187,161 $ 106,000 $ 104739 § 63462 $ (1,178204) § 2,806,129 $§ 106,677 $ (243) $ 2,912,563
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D-HH Health
and Other D-H and Cheshire and NLH and MAHHC and APD and VNH and System
(in thousands of dollars) Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated
Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 108,856 $ 218295 $ 47642 $ 22874 § 14,568 $ 34,072 $ 6916 § - 8 453,223
Patient accounts receivable, net - 146,887 11,413 10,200 4,439 8,634 2,246 - 183,819
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 25,243 180,137 27,607 6,105 1,737 2,986 1,156 (83.065) 161,906
Total current assets 134,099 545,319 86,662 39,179 20,744 45,692 10,318 (83,065) 798,948
Assets limited as to use 344737 946,938 18,001 12,768 13,240 13,044 21,366 (235,568) 1,134,526
Notes receivable, related party 848,250 593 - - - - - (848,843) -
Other investments for restricted activities - 105,869 25,272 3,077 6,265 97 - - 140,580
Property, plant, and equipment, net 8 469,613 68,374 43,612 18,432 40,126 3,421 - 643,586
Right of use assets 1,542 32,714 1.822 621 3,220 17,574 92 - 57,585
Other assets 2,242 122,647 7.429 5,482 2,152 8,199 158 (10,971) 137,338
Total assets $ 1,330,878 $ 2,223693 $ 207,560 $ 104,739 $ 64,053 $ 124,732 % 35355 $ (1,178.447) $ 2,912,563
Liabilities and Net Assets
Current liabilities
Current portion of long-term debt $ - 8 7380 $ 865 § 147  § 257 % 747 % 71 8 - 8 9,467
Current portion of right of use obligations 338 8,752 420 259 631 1,316 59 - 11,775
Current portion of liability for pension and
other postretirement plan benefits - 3,468 - - - - - - 3,468
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 272,762 126,684 35,117 4,251 3,517 3,528 1,791 (318,634) 129,016
Accrued compensation and related benefits - 122,392 7.732 3,875 3,626 3,883 1,483 - 142,991
Estimated third-party settlements - 210,143 34,664 24,667 6,430 25,421 1,200 - 302,525
Total current liabilities 273,100 478,819 78,798 33,199 14,461 34,895 4,604 (318,634) 599,242
Notes payable, related party - 814,525 - 27,718 6,600 - - (848,843) -
Long-term debt, excluding current portion 1,050,694 37,373 23,618 147 10,867 24312 2,489 (10,970) 1,138,530
Right of use obligations, excluding current portion 1,203 24,290 1,433 368 2,700 16,429 33 - 46,456
Insurance deposits and related liabilities - 75,697 475 388 222 325 39 - 77.146
Liability for pension and other postretirement
plan benefits, excluding current portion - 301,907 21,840 - 510 - - - 324,257
Other liabilities - 117,631 1,506 2,026 - 22515 - - 143,678
Total liabilities 1,324,997 1,850,242 127,670 63,846 35,360 98,476 7,165 (1,178,447) 2,329,309
Commitments and contingencies
Net assets
Net assets without donor restrictions 5,526 266,327 48,549 36,158 21,385 24,881 28,160 40 431,026
Net assets with donor restrictions 355 107,124 31,341 4,735 7,308 1,375 30 (40) 152,228
Total net assets 5,881 373,451 79,890 40,893 28,693 26,256 28,190 - 583,254
Total liabilities and net assets $ 1,330,678 $ 2223693 § 207,560 S 104,739 § 64,053 § 124,732 § 35355 § (1,178,.447) $ 2,912,563
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Dartmouth- Cheshire Alice Peck New Lendon Mt, Ascutney DH Obligated All Other Non- Heaith
Hitchcock Dartmouth- Medical Day Hospital Hospital and Group Oblig Group System
(in thousands of dollars) Health Hitchcock Center ™M rial o i d Health Center Eliminations Subtotal Affiliates Eli [+ lidated
Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 42456 § 47485 § 9,411 $ 7.066 $ 10,462 $ 8,372 - 3% 125,232 $ 18,355 - 8 143,587
Patient accounts receivable, net - 180,938 15,880 7.279 8,960 5.010 - 218,087 3.058 - 221,125
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 14.178 139,034 8,563 2,401 5,567 1,423 (74,083) 97,083 1,421 (3,009) 95,495
Total current assets 56,634 367,437 33,854 16,746 24,989 14,805 (74,083) 440,382 22,834 (3.009) 480,207
Assets limited as to use 92,602 688,485 18,759 12,684 12,427 11,619 - 836,576 39,673 - 876,249
Notes receivable, related party 553,484 752 - 1,408 - - (554,236) 1,406 (1,408) - -
Other investments for restricted activities - 91,882 6,970 31 2973 6,323 - 108,179 25,940 - 134,119
Property, plant, and equipment. net 22 432277 67.147 30,945 41,946 17.797 - 590,134 31.122 - 621,256
Right of use assets - - - - = & & . = - =
Other assetls 3.518 108,208 1,279 15.0189 6.042 4,388 (10.970) 127,484 (3.013) - 124.471
Total assets $ 706260 § 1.689.041  § 128.008  § 76,831 $ 88.377 § 54,932 (639,289) $ 2,104,161 $ 115,150 (3,009) $ 2,216,302
Liabilities and Net Assets
Current liabilities
Current portion of long-term debt $ - $ 8,226 3 830 $ 954 $ 547 $ 262 - $ 10,819 $ as - s 10,914
Current portion of right of use obligations - - - - - - - - - - -
Current portion of liability for pension and -
other postretirement plan benefits - 3,468 - - - - - 3,468 - - 3,468
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 55,499 99,884 15,620 6.299 3,878 2,776 (74,083) 109,873 6,853 (3,009) 113,817
Accrued compensation and related benefits - 110,639 5,851 3,694 2,313 4,270 - 126,767 1,841 - 128,408
Estimated third-party settlements = 26.405 103 1,280 10.851 2.921 - 41,570 = - 41,570
Total current liabilities 55,499 248622 22,404 12,237 17.589 10,229 (74,083) 292,497 8,689 (3,009) 298,177
Notes payable, related party - 526,202 - - 28,034 - (554,238) - - - -
Long-term debt, excluding current portion 643,257 44,820 24,503 35,604 843 11,485 (10,970) 749,322 2,858 - 752,180
Right of use obligations, excluding current portion - - - - - - - - - - -
Insurance deposits and related liabilities - 56,786 440 513 388 240 - 58,367 40 - 58,407
Liability for pension and other postretirement - -
plan benefits, excluding current portion - 266,427 10,262 - - 4,320 - 281,009 - - 281,009
Other liabilities = 98,201 1,104 28 1,585 = = 100,918 23,218 - 124,136
Total liabilities £98,756 1,241,058 58,713 48,382 48,239 26,254 (639,289) 1,482,113 34,805 (3.008) 1,513,808
Commitments and contingencies
Net assets
Net assets without donor restrictions 7,488 356,880 63,051 27,853 35,518 21,242 - 511,830 48,063 40 559,933
Net assets with donor restrictions 18 91,103 6,245 796 4620 7.436 - 110,218 32,282 (40) 142,460
Total net assets 7.504 447,983 69,296 28,449 40,138 28678 - 622,048 80,345 - 702,393
Total liabilities and net assets 3 706,260 S 1,689,041 $ 128,009 $ 76,831 $ 88,377 $ 54,932 (639,289) $ 2,104,181 $ 115,150 (3.008) $ 2,216,302
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidating Balance Sheets

June 30, 2019
D-HH Health
and Other D-H and Cheshire and NLH and MAHHC and VNH and System
(in thousands of dollars) Subsidiari Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Subsidiaries APD Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated
Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 42456  $ 48,052 $ 11,952 $ 11,120 § 8,549 § 15772  $ 5686 $ - 3 143,587
Patient accounts receivable, net - 180,938 15,880 8,960 5,060 7,280 3,007 - 221,125
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 14,178 139,832 9.460 5,567 1,401 1,678 471 (77.092) 95,495
Total current assets 56,634 368,822 37,292 25,647 15,010 24,730 9,164 (77.092) 460,207
Assets limited as to use 92,602 707.597 17.383 12,427 12,738 12,685 20,817 - 876,249
Notes receivable, related party 553,484 752 - - - - - (554,236) -
Other investments for restricted activities - 99,807 24,985 2,973 6,323 31 - - 134,119
Property, plant, and equipment, net 22 434,953 70,846 42,423 19,435 50,338 3,239 - 621,256
Right of use assets - - - - - - - - -
Other assets 3.518 108,366 7.388 5476 1,931 8,688 74 (10.970) 124,471
Total assets $ 706,260 § 1,720,297 § 157,894 § 88,946 § 55437 § 96,472 § 33,294 § (642,298) § 2,216,302

Liabilities and Net Assets

Current liabilities
Current portion of long-term debt $ - $ 8,226 $ 830 $ 547 s 288 $ 954 $ 69 $ - $ 10,914
Current portion of right of use obligations - - - - - - = - -
Current portion of liability for pension and

other postretirement plan benefits - 3,468 - - - - - - 3,468
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 55,499 100,441 19,356 3,879 2,856 6,704 2174 (77.092) 113,817
Accrued compensation and related benefits - 110,639 5,851 2,313 4,314 4,192 1,099 - 128,408
Estimated third-party settlements - 26,405 103 10,851 2,921 1,280 - - 41,570

Total current liabilities 55,499 249,179 26,140 17,590 10,379 13,140 3,342 (77,092) 298,177
Notes payable, related party - 526,202 - 28,034 - - - (554,236) -
Long-term debt, excluding current portion 643,257 44,820 24,503 643 11,763 35,604 2,560 (10,970) 752,180
Right of use obligations, excluding current portion - - - - - - - - -
Insurance deposits and related liabilities - 56,786 440 388 240 513 40 - 58,407
Liability for pension and other postretirement
plan benefits, excluding current portion - 266,427 10,262 - 4,320 - - - 281,009
Other liabilities - 98,201 115 1,585 - 23,235 - - 124,136
Total liabilities 698,756 1,241,615 652,460 48,240 26.702 72,492 5.942 (642,298) 1,513,909
Commitments and contingencies
Net assets

Net assets without donor restrictions 7486 379,498 65,873 36,087 21,300 22,327 27,322 40 559,933

Net assets with donor restrictions 18 99,184 29,561 4,619 7,435 1,653 30 (40) 142,460
Total net assets 7.504 478,682 95,434 40,706 28,735 23,980 27,352 - 702,393
Total liabilities and net assets $ 706,260 § 1,720,297 $ 157,894 § 88,946 § 55437 % 96,472 $ 33,204 $ (642,298) $ 2,216,302
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidating Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets without Donor Restrictions

Year Ended June 30, 2020

(in thousands of dollars)

Operating revenue and other support
Patient service revenue

Confracted revenue
Other operating revenue
Net assets released from restrictions

Total operating revenue and other support
Operating expenses
Salaries
Employee benefits
Medications and medical supplies
Purchased services and other
Medicaid enhancement tax
Depreciation and amortization
Interest
Total operating expenses
Operating (loss) margin
Non-operating gains (losses)
Investment income (losses), net
Other components of net periedic pension and post
retirement benefit income
Other (losses) income, net
Total non-operating gains (losses), net
(Deficiency) excess of revenue over expenses

Net assets without donor restrictions

Net assets released from restrictions for capital
Change in funded status of pension and other
postretirement benefits

Net assets transferred to (from) affiliates

Other changes in net assels

Increase in net assets without doner restrictions

Dartmouth- Cheshire Alice Peck New London Mt. Ascutney DH Obligated All Other Non- Health
Hitchcock Dartmouth- Medical Day Hospital Hospital and Group Oblig Group System
Health Hitchcock Center Memerial Association Health Center  Eliminations Subtotal Affiliates Eli lidated

$ - § 1490516 § 207416 $ 65486 § 53943 § 41,349 § - 8 1,858,720 21305 § - 1,880,025
5,369 114,908 400 - 10 7.427 (54,543) 73,569 498 (39) 74,028
26,349 321,028 16,406 7.179 10,185 7.847 (28,972) 360,022 15,128 (528) 374,622

409 13,013 1,315 162 160 84 - 15,143 1117 - 16,260

32,127 1,939,463 225,537 72,837 64,298 56,707 (83,515) 2.307.454 38,048 (567) 2,344,935

- 947.275 115,777 37,596 33,073 27,600 (34,706) 1,126,615 17,007 1,201 1,144,823

- 227138 26,979 6,214 6,741 6,344 (4,864) 268,552 4,009 31 272,872

- 401,185 36,313 8,390 5,140 2,944 - 453,952 1,429 - 455,381

13,615 284,714 31,864 11,639 14,311 13,351 (20,942) 348,552 13,943 (1.999) 360,496

- 59,708 8,476 3,226 2,853 1,747 - 76,010 - - 76,010

14 71,108 9,351 3,361 3,601 2,475 - 89,910 2,254 - 92,164

25,780 23.431 953 906 1,097 252 (25.412) 27.007 315 - 27,322
39,409 2.014,539 229,713 71.332 66,816 54,713 (85,924) 2,390,598 38,957 (487) 2,429,068
(7.282) (75.076) (4,176) 1,505 (2,518) 1,994 2,409 (83.144) (208) (80) (84,133)

4,877 18,522 714 292 359 433 (198) 24,999 2,048 - 27,047

- 8,793 1,883 - - 134 - 10,810 - - 10,810

(3.932) (1,077) (569) (205) 544 4,317 (2,211) (3.133) 346 80 (2.707)

945 26,238 2,028 87 903 4,884 (2,409) 32,676 2,394 80 35,150

(6,337) (48,838) (2,148) 1,592 (1,615) 6,878 - (50,468) 1,485 - (48,983)

= 564 179 - 344 300 - 1,387 27 - 1,414

- (58,513) (13,321) - - (7,188) - (79,022) - - (79,022)

4,375 (7.269) (32) 219 1,911 15 - (781) 781 - -

= a = = - - - - (2,316) - (2,316)

$ (1,962) S (114,056} § (15,322) $ 1811 § 640 § 5 - 8 (128,884) (23) - (128,907)
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidating Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets without Donor Restrictions
Year Ended June 30, 2020

D-HH Health
and Other D-H and Cheshire and NLH and MAHHC and APD and VNH and System
(in thousands of dollars) Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated
Operating revenue and other support
Patient service revenue $ - 1490516 § 207416 § 53943 § 41348 § 65496 § 21,306 § - 3 1,880,025
Contracted revenue 5,369 115,403 400 10 7.427 - - (54,581) 74,028
Other operating revenue 26,349 323,151 16,472 10,185 9,482 16,726 1,757 (29,500) 374,622
Net assets released from restrictions 409 13,660 1,335 160 83 613 - - 16,260
Total operating revenue and other support 32,127 1,942,730 225,623 64,298 58,340 82,835 23,063 (84,081) 2,344 935
Operating expenses
Salaries - 947,275 115,809 33,073 28,477 41,085 12,608 (33,504) 1,144,823
Employee benefits - 227,138 26,988 6,741 6,517 7.123 2918 (4,553) 272,872
Medications and medical supplies - 401,165 36.313 5.140 2,941 8,401 1,421 - 455,381
Purchased services and other 13,615 287,948 32,099 14,311 13,767 14,589 7,108 (22,941) 360,496
Medicaid enhancement tax - 59,708 8,476 2,853 1,747 3,226 - - 76,010
Depreciation and amortization 14 71,109 9,480 3,601 2,596 5,004 360 - 92,164
Interest 25,780 23,431 953 1,097 252 1,159 62 (25.412) 27,322
Total operating expenses 39,409 2,017,774 230,118 66.816 56,297 80,587 24,477 (86,410) 2,429,068
Operating (loss) margin (7,282) (75,044) (4,495) (2,518) 2,043 2,248 (1.414) 2,329 (84,133)
Non-operating gains (losses)
Investment income (losses), net 4877 19,361 1,305 359 463 292 588 (198) 27,047
Other components of net periodic pension and post
retirement benefit income - 8,793 1,883 - 134 - - - 10,810
Other (losses) income, net (3,932) (1,077) (569) (25) 4,318 (205) 914 (2,131) (2,707)
Total non-operating gains (losses), net 945 27,077 2,619 334 4,915 87 1,502 (2,329) 35,150
(Deficiency) excess of revenue over expenses (6,337) (47,967) (1,876) (2,184) 6,958 2,335 88 - (48,983)
Net assets without donor restrictions
Net assets released from restrictions for capital - 591 179 344 300 - - - 1.414
Change in funded status of pension and other
postretirement benefits - (58,513) (13,321) - (7,188) - - - (79.022)
Net assets transferred to (from) affiliates 4,377 (7.282) 10 1,911 15 219 750 - -
Other changes in net assets - - (2,316) - - - - - (2,316)
Increase in net assets without donor restrictions $ (1,960) $ (113,171) $ (17,324) $ 71 $ 85 % 2554 $ 838 § - $ (128,907)
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidating Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets without Donor Restrictions

Year Ended June 30, 2019

(in thousands of dollars)

Operating revenue and other support
Pafient service revenue

Contracted revenue
Other operating revenue
Net assets released from restrictions

Total operating revenue and other support

Operating expenses
Salaries
Employee benefits
Medications and medical supplies
Purchased services and other
Medicaid enhancement tax
Depreciation and amortization
Interest
Total operating expenses
Operating margin (loss)

Non-operating gains (losses)
Investment income (losses), net
Other companents of net periodic pension and post
retirement benefit income
Other (losses) income, net
Loss on early extinguishment of debt
Total non-operating gains (losses), net
(Deficiency) excess of revenue over expenses
Net assets without donor restrictions
Net assets released from restrictions for capital
Change in funded status of pension and other
postretirement benefits
Net assets transferred to (from) affiliates

Increase in net assets without donor restrictions

Dartmouth- Cheshire Alice Peck NewlLondon Mt Ascutney DH Obligated All Other Non- Health
Hitchcock Dartmouth- Medical Day Hospital Hospital and Group Oblig Group System
Health Hitchcock Center Memorial Association  Health Center  Eliminations Subtotal Affiliates Eliminations Consolidated

$ - § 1580552 § 220255 § 69794 5 60,166 § 46028 S - § 1976796 § 257 § -8 1,999,323
5,011 109,051 355 - - 5,902 (46,100) 74,219 790 8 75,017

21,128 186,852 3,407 1,748 4261 2,289 (22,076) 197,608 13,386 (297) 210,698

369 11,556 732 137 177 24 - 12,995 1,110 - 14,105

26,508 1,888,011 224 749 71,679 64,604 54,244 (68,176} 2,261,619 37,813 (289) 2,299,143

- 868,311 107,671 37,287 30,549 26,514 (24,682) 1,045,660 15,785 1,106 1,062,551

- 217,623 25,983 6,454 5434 7,152 (3,763) 258,883 3,642 287 262,812

- 354,201 34,331 8,634 6,298 3,032 - 406,496 1,379 - 407,875

11,366 242,106 35,088 15,308 13,528 13,950 (21,176) 310,170 14,887 (1,622) 323,435

- 54,954 8,005 3,062 2,264 1,776 - 70,081 - - 70,061

14 69,343 7917 2,305 3915 2,360 - 85,914 2,500 - 88414

20,677 21,585 1,053 1,169 1,119 228 (20,850) 24,881 533 - 25514
32,057 1,828,123 220,108 74,229 63,107 55,012 (70.471) 2,202,165 38,726 (229) 2,240,662
(5,549) 50,888 4641 (2,550) 1,497 (768) 2,295 59,454 (913) (60) 58,481

3929 32,193 227 469 834 623 (198) 38,077 1,975 - 40,052

- 9217 1,758 - - 186 - 11,221 - - 11,221
(3,784) 1,586 (187) 30 (240) 279 (2,097) (4.413) 791 80 (3,562)
. = 2 (87) = : : (87) 2 = (87)

145 43,056 1,798 412 594 1,088 (2,295) 44,798 2,766 60 47,624

(5,404) 102,944 6,439 (2,138) 2,091 320 - 104,252 1,853 - 106,105

- 419 565 - 402 318 - 1,704 85 - 1,769

(65,005) (7.720) - = 682 « (72,043) - - (72,043)

10,477 (16,360) 1,939 8,760 128 110 2 5,054 (5,054) . =

$ 5013 § 21998 § 1223 § 6622 § 2621 § 1430 § - § 38967 $ (3,136) $ - 8§ 35,831
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

Consolidating Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets without Donor Restrictions

Year Ended June 30, 2019

(in thousands of dollars)

Operating revenue and other support
Patient service revenue

Contracted revenue
Other operating revenue
Net assets released from restrictions

Total operating revenue and other support

Operating expenses

Salaries

Employee benefits

Medications and medical supplies
Purchased services and other
Medicaid enhancement tax
Depreciation and amortization
Interest

Total operating expenses
Operating (loss) margin

Non-operating gains (losses)

Investment income (losses), net

Other components of net periodic pension and post
retirement benefit income

Other (losses) income, net

Loss on early extinguishment of debt

Total non-operating gains (losses), net
(Deficiency) excess of revenue over expenses

Net assets without donor restrictions
Net assets released from restrictions for capital
Change in funded status of pension and other
postretirement benefits
Net assets transferred to (from) affiliates
Increase (decrease) in net assets without donor
restrictions

D-HH Health
and Other D-H and Cheshire and NLH and MAHHC and VNH and System
Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Subsidiaries APD Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

$ - 8 1,580,552 § 220254 § 60,166 $ 46,029 69,794 § 22528 § - 9% 1,999,323
5,010 109,842 355 - 5,902 - - (46,092) 75,017

21,128 188,775 3,549 4,260 3,868 10,951 540 (22,373) 210,698

3N 12,637 732 177 26 162 - - 14,105

26,509 1,891,806 224,890 64,603 55,825 80,907 23,068 (68,465) 2,299,143

- 868,311 107,706 30,549 27,319 40,731 11,511 (23,576) 1,062,551

- 217,623 25,993 5434 7,319 7,218 2,701 (3,476) 262,812

- 354,201 34,331 6,298 3,035 8,639 1,371 - 407,875

11,366 246,101 35,396 13,390 14,371 18,172 7437 (22,798) 323,435

- 54,954 8,005 2,264 1,776 3,062 - - 70,061

14 69,343 8,125 3,920 2478 4,194 340 - 88,414

20,678 21,585 1,054 1,119 228 1,637 63 (20,850) 25514
32,058 1,832,118 220,610 62,974 56,526 83,653 23,423 (70,700) 2,240,662
(5,549) 59,688 4,280 1,629 (701) (2,746) (355) 2,235 58,481

3,929 33,310 129 785 645 469 983 (198) 40,052

- 9,277 1,758 - 186 - - - 11,221
(3,784) 1,586 (171) (240) 288 31 765 (2,037) (3,562)
- - s s . (87) 5 B (87)

145 44173 1,716 545 1,119 413 1,748 (2,235) 47,624

(5,404) 103,861 5,996 2174 418 (2,333) 1,393 - 106,105

- 484 565 402 318 - 1,769
- (65,005) (7,720) - 682 - - - (72,043)

10,477 (16,360) 1,963 128 118 3,629 45 . .

$ 5073 § 22980 § 804 § 2704 § 1,536 1,296 $ 1438 § - § 35,831
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Note to Supplemental Consolidating Information
June 30, 2020 and 2019

1. Basis of Presentation

The accompanying supplemental consolidating information includes the consolidating balance
sheet and the consolidating statement of operations and changes in net assets without donor
restrictions of D-HH and its subsidiaries. All intercompany accounts and transactions between D-
HH and its subsidiaries have been eliminated. The consolidating information presented is prepared
on the accrual basis of accounting in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America consistent with the consolidated financial statements. The
consolidating information is presented for purposes of additional analysis of the consolidated
financial statements and is not required as part of the basic financial statements.
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DARTMOUTH-HITCHCOCK (D-H)
DARTMOUTH-HITCHCOCK HEALTH (D-HH)

BOARDS OF TRUSTEES AND OFFICERS
(22 D-H Trustees; 13 D-HH Trustees)

Effective: January 1, 2022

Geraldine “Polly” Bednash, PhD, RN, FAAN
(Thomas)

MHMH/DHC/D-HH Trustee

Adjunct Professor, Australian Catholic University

Mark W. Begor, MBA (Kristen)
MHMH/DHC/D-HH Trustee
Chief Executive Officer, Equifax

Duane A. Compton, PhD
MHMH/DHC/D-HH Trustee
Ex-Officio: Dean, Geisel School of Medicine at Dartmouth

Joanne M. Conroy, MD

MHMH/DHC/D-HH Trustee

Ex-Officio: CEO & President, D-H/D-HH

One Medical Center Drive, Lebanon, NH 03756

Paul P. Danos, PhD (Mary Ellen)

MHMH/DHC/D-HH Trustee

Dean Emeritus; Laurence F. Whittenore Professor of Business Administration, Tuck School of Business al
Dartmouth

Nancy M. Dunbar, MD (Geoff)
MHMH/DHC Trustee

Medical Director, Blood Bank

Department of Pathology and Laboratory Medicine

Carl “Trey” Dobson, MD (Amy)

MHMH/DHC Trustee

Chief Medical Officer, Southwestern Vermont Medical Center & Medical Director for the D-H Practice,
Bennington, Vermont

Elof Eriksson, MD, PhD (Gudrun)

MHMH/DHC Trustee

Professor Emeritus, Harvard Medical School and

Chief Medical Officer, Applied Tissues Technologies, LLC

Elof Eriksson, MD, PhD (Gudrun)
MHMH/DHC Trustee
Professor Emeritus, Harvard Medical School and
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Chief Medical Officer, Applied Tissues Technologies, LLC

Gary L. Freed, MD, PharmD (Meghan Freed, MD)

MHMH/DHC Trustee

Medical Director of the Comprehensive Wound Clinic at D-H & Assistant Professor of Surgery, Geisel School of
Medicine at Dartmouth

Thomas P. Glynn, PhD (Marylou Batt)
MHMH/DHC Trustee
Adjust Lecturer, Harvard Kennedy School of Government

Jarvis A. Green (Julien Blanchet)
MHMH/DHC Trustee
Founder & Producing Artistic Director, JAG Productions

Roberta L. Hines, MD (Jerome Liebrand)
MHMH/DHC Boards” Chair | D-HH Trustee
Nicholas M. Greene Professor and Chair, Dept. of Anesthesiology, Yale School of Medicine

David S. Jevsevar, MD, MBA (Kori)

MHMH/DHC Trustee

Chair of the Department of Orthopaedics at the Geisel School of Medicine at Dartmouth and Vice President of the
Orthopaedic Service Line for Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health

Aaron J. Mancuso, MD (Allison)
MHMH/DHC (Lebanon Physician) Trustee
Division Director of Thoracic Anesthesia and Assistant Professor of Anesthesiology and Medicine at Geisel

Jennifer L. Moyer, MBA (David Bartlett)
MHMH/DHC/D-HH Trustee
Managing Director & CAO, White Mountains Insurance Group, Ltd

Sherri C. Oberg, MBA (Curt)
MHMH/DHC Trustee
CEO and Co-Founder of Particles for Humanity, PBC

David P. Paul, MBA (Jill)
MHMH/DHC Board Secretary | D-HH Trustee
President & COQ, |JBG SMITH

Charles G. Plimpton, MBA (Barbara Nyholm)
MHMH/DHC/D-HH Trustee

MHMH/DHC Boards” Treasurer

D-HH Board Treasurer & Secretary

Retired Investment Banker

Thomas Raffio, MBA, FLMI (Ellen)
MHMH/DHC Trustee
President & CEQ, Northeast Delta Dental
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Edward Howe Stansfield, I1I, MA (Amy)

MHMH/DHC Trustee

D-HH Trustee & Board Chair

Senior VP, Resident Director for the Hanover, NH Bank of America/Merrill Lynch Office

Pamela Austin Thompson, MS, RN, CENP, FAAN
(Robert)
MHMH/DHC/D-HH Trustee
Chief executive officer emeritus of the American Organization of Nurse Executives (AONE)

Marc B. Wolpow, JD, MBA (Robin)

MHMH/DHC/D-HH Trustee
Co-Chief Executive Officer of Audax Group

Member of D-HH, not a member of D-H:

Richard J. Powell, MD (Roshini Pinto-Powell, MD)
D-HH Trustee
Section Chief, Vascular Surgery; Professor of Surgery and Radiology
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CURRICULUM VITAE

NAME: Grant G. Moncrief, PsyD

ADDRESS (office):

Date Prepared: December 12, 2021

I. EDUCATION

DATES
2015-2019

2013-2015
2004-2008

INSTITUTION

Pacific University, Portland, OR

Pacific University, Portland, OR
Portland State University, Portland, OR

PRE-DOCTORAL TRAINING

Dates
2018-2019
2017-2018
2016-2017
2016-2017
2015-2016

2014-2016

INSTITUTION
VA Portland Healthcare System,

Portland, OR

Samaritan Neuropsychology, Portland,

OR
Native American Rehabilitation
Association, Portland, OR

Markee and Moore Psychologists, Inc.,

Vancouver, WA

Oregon Health & Science University,

Portland, OR

Pacific University Comprehensive Health

Clinic, Portland, OR

Il. POSTDOCTORAL TRAINING

DATES
2019-2021

INSTITUTION

Department of Psychiatry, Geisel School
of Medicine Dartmouth College,

Hanover, NH

DEGREE

PsyD, Clinical Psychology;
Neuropsychology Track

MS, Clinical Psychology

BS, Psychology, with honors;
Biology Minor

SPECIALTY

Clinical Psychology Intern
(major rotation in
neuropsychology
Practicum Student

Intern
Practicum Student
Practicum Student

Practicum Student

SPECIALTY

Postdoctoral Fellowship in
Clinical Neuropsychology and
Brain Imaging Research
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Ill. ACADEMIC APPOINTMENTS

DATES INSTITUTION
9/2021- Geisel School of Medicine at Dartmouth,
Hanover, NH

IV. INSTITUTIONAL LEADERSHIP ROLES:

DATE
2021-

INSTITUTION
New Hampshire Hospital, Concord, NH

V. LICENSURE AND CERTIFICATION (IF APPLICABLE):

DATES
8/2021-

LICENSURE/CERTIFICATION

Name: Grant G. Moncrief

ACADEMIC TITLE
Assistant Professor of
Psychiatry

TITLE
Director of Neuropsychology

Licensed Psychologist, New Hampshire (# 1542)

VI. HOSPITAL OR HEATH SYSTEM APPOINTMENTS (IF APPLICABLE):

DATES INSTITUTION

9/2021- Department of Psychiatry, DHMC/Geisel
School of Medicine, Hanover, NH

9/2021- New Hampshire Hospital, Concord, NH

VIl. OTHER PROFESSIONAL POSITIONS:

DATES INSTITUTION

2015-2018 School of Graduate Psychology,
Pacific University, Hillsboro, OR

2013-2014 VA Portland Healthcare System
Epilepsy Center of Excellence,
Portland, OR

2010-2013 VA Portland Healthcare System
Neuropsychology Service, Portland,
OR

2012 Department of Psychology, Portland
State University, Portland, OR

2008-2010 Department of Psychology, Portland
State University, Portland, OR

2009 VA Portland Healthcare System Mental
Health Clinic, Portland, OR

2016 Department of Psychology, Portland

State University, Portland, OR

Vill. PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT ACTIVITIES
DATES INSTITUTION

POSITION/TITLE
Clinical Neuropsychologist

Director of Neuropsychology

POSITION/TITLE

Graduate Teaching Assistant,
Neuropsychological Assessment
Research Assistant

Research Assistant

Teaching Assistant, Behavioral
Neuroscience

Research Assistant

Research Assistant

Teaching Assistant

POSITION/TITLE
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Name: Grant G. Moncrief

IX. TEACHING ACTIVITIES:

A. UNDERGRADUATE (COLLEGE) EDUCATION

DATES INSTITUTION COURSE TITLE ROLE HOURS/YR
2012 Portland State Behavioral Teaching 40 hrs/yr
University Neuroscience Assistant
2006 Portland State Medical Psychology Teaching 40 hrs/yr
University Assistant
B. GRADUATE EDUCATION
DATES INSTITUTION COURSE TITLE ROLE HOURS/YR
2018 Pacific University Neuropsychological Instructor 80 hrs/yr
Assessment Lab
2017-2018 Pacific University Neuropsychological Teaching 50 hrs/yr
Assessment Assistant
2015-2017 Pacific University Brain & Behavior Teaching 50 hrs/yr
Assistant

C. UNDERGRADUATE MEDICAL EDUCATION:
i. CLASSROOM TEACHING:

ii. CLERKSHIP OR OTHER CLINICAL UME TEACHING

D. GRADUATE MEDICAL EDUCATION

DATES INSTITUTION COURSE TITLE ROLE HOURS/YR

10/1/2021 DHMC Applying for postdoc, Presenter 1 hr
licensing, & EPPP

9/2021- DHMC Cultural, Diversity, & Organizer 12 hrs/yr
Neuropsychology Seminar
Series

9/2021- DHMC Supervisor of clinical Supervisor 600 hrfyr
neuropsychology evaluation

12/11/2020 DHMC Late Life Psychosis Presenter 1 hr
(Neurology Grand Rounds)

1/4/2020 DHMC Neuropsychological Presenter 1 hr
Assessment of Epilepsy

3/6/2020 DHMC Advanced Age and Presenter 1 hr

Cognitive Function in
Schizophrenia: Implications
for Clinical Practice

8/2016- Oregon Health  Nervous System & Function  Student 320 hrlyr
10/2016 & Science
University

E. OTHER CLINICAL EDUCATION

Clinical Training of Predoctoral Interns (Neuropsychology track) and Practicum Students
in Neuropsychology:
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Name: Grant G. Moncrief

DATES Student’s Name Program Name Degree

9/2021- Hannah Darwazah  Ferkauf Graduate School of Psychology PhD
(internship)

9/2021- Murphy Harrell University of South Alabama (internship) PhD

Clinical Training of Postdoctoral Fellows in Neuropsychology:

Dates Student’s Name Specialty

9/2021- Christi Trask, PhD Clinical Neuropsychology
9/2021- Stephen Aita, PhD Clinical Neuropsychology
9/2021- Bryce Jacobson, PsyD Clinical Neuropsychology
9/2021- Jennifer Lee, PhD Clinical Neuropsychology

X. PRIMARY RESEARCH ADVISING
A. UNDERGRADUATE STUDENTS
B. GRADUATE STUDENTS

C. NON-DEGREE PROGRAM STUDENTS (e.g., certificate programs, post-baccalaureate
programs)

D. MEDICAL STUDENTS
Not applicable

E. RESIDENTS/FELLOWS

DATES MENTEE’S NAME SPECIALTY
9/2021- Bryce Jacobson, PsyD Clinical Neuropsychology
F. FACULTY

G. Additional Information
XI. ADVISING/MENTORING
A. UNDERGRADUATE STUDENTS

B. GRADUATE STUDENTS

C. NON-DEGREE PROGRAM STUDENTS
D. MEDICAL STUDENTS

E. RESIDENTS/FELLOWS

DATES MENTEE’S NAME SPECIALTY
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Name: Grant G. Moncrief

F. FACULTY

DATES MENTEE’S NAME SPECIALTY

XIl. ENGAGEMENT, COMMUNITY SERVICE/EDUCATION:
Not applicable

Xlll. RESEARCH ACTIVITIES:
A. SPONSORED ACTIVITY

1UG3NS112826-01 (Blumenfeld) 9/15/2019 — 8/31/2022

NIH $2,275,519

“Thalamic Stimulation to Prevent Impaired Consciousness in Epilepsy (START)"

To investigate the feasibility and safety of thalamic CL stimulation in restoring consciousness for
temporal lobe epilepsy patients when focal impaired awareness seizures cannot be stopped by
medications, surgical or laser ablation, or by neurostimulation.

Role: Co-investigator (Neuropsychologist)

G150255 (Sperling, Gross) 12/1/2016 - 5/1/2022

Medtronic

“Stereotactic Laser Ablation for Temporal Lobe Epilepsy (SLATE)"

To evaluate the safety and efficacy of the Visualase System for necrotization or coagulation of
epileptogenic foci in patients with intractable mesial temporal lobe epilepsy (MTLE)

Role: Study personnel (Neuropsychologist)

B. PENDING SUBMISSIONS

C. UNFUNDED

XIV. PROGRAM DEVELOPMENT

Educational

Neuropsychology, Culture, and Diversity Seminar: Developed monthly seminar series for
neuropsychology staff and trainees in order to discuss culture, diversity, equity, and inclusion in
the practice of clinical neuropsychology as well as research and neuroscience more broadly.
Seminar topics are broad and include guest speakers, journal club, case presentations, group
discussion/reflection on current events, and learning of practical clinical skills, etc. The primary
objective is to facilitate greater cultural awareness and skills for ethically working with diverse
populations,

XV. ENTREPRENEURIAL ACTIVITIES

XVI. MAJOR COMMITTEE ASSIGNMENTS:

National/lnternational:
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Name: Grant G. Moncrief

Regional
Institutional
DATES ORGANIZATION/COMMITTEE ROLE INSTITUTION
2020- Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion Member DHMC
Committee
Department of Psychiatry
2018-2019  Multicultural Diversity Committee Member VA Portland Healthcare System
2015 Graduate Admissions Committee Member  Pacific University

XVIl. MEMBERSHIPS, OFFICE AND COMMITTEE ASSIGNMENTS IN PROFESSIONAL
SOCIETIES:

Memberships:

DATES SOCIETY ROLE

2021-Present Hispanic Neuropsychological Society Member
2018-Present National Academy of Neuropsychology Member
2016-Present Society of Indian Psychologists Member
2011-Present International Neuropsychological Society Member
2011-Present APA Division 40: Clinical Neuropsychology Member

XVIII. INSTITUTIONAL CENTER OR PROGRAM AFFILIATIONS

DATES ORGANIZATION ROLE
2020- HOBSCOTCH Institute Team Member

XIX. EDITORIAL BOARDS:

DATES SOCIETY/JOURNAL ROLE

XX. JOURNAL REFEREE ACTIVITY:

DATES JOURNAL NAME ANNUAL FREQUENCY OF REVIEW

XXI. AWARDS AND HONORS:

DATE AWARD NAME

2019 Professional Student Senate Research Development Fund Award

2013-2018 Graduate Assistantship Award, Pacific University School of Graduate
Psychology

2016 Student Senate Research Grant, Pacific University

2015 Student Senate Research Grant, Pacific University

National/international committees:
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Name: Grant G. Moncrief

Regional Committees:

Institutional Committees:

XXIL. INVITED PRESENTATIONS:

A. International:

B. National:

C. Regional/Local:

Date TOPIC ORGANIZATION LOCATION
12/11/2020 Late Life Psychosis Department of Neurology  Lebanon, NH
Grand Rounds, DHMC
1/4/2020 Neuropsychological Department of Neurology, Lebanon, NH
Assessment of DHMC
Epilepsy
XXIll. BIBLIOGRAPHY:

A. Peer-reviewed publications in print or other media
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this Contract this Contract

Gran Moncrief Neuropsychologist 140,000 50% 70,000




